QUANTIFYING IMPACTS OF ANTHROPOGENIC DISTURBANCES ON WILDLIFE

By

Tutilo Mudumba

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Fisheries and Wildlife – Doctor of Philosophy

ABSTRACT

QUANTIFYING IMPACTS OF ANTHROPOGENIC DISTURBANCES ON WILDLIFE

By

Tutilo Mudumba

In this dissertation I examined the interconnectedness of human population growth, energy development, human-wildlife coexistence, and wildlife population ecology. In Chapter One, I reviewed literature and categorized the of effects of oil extraction on wildlife. Broadly, the effects included: i) increased poaching, ii) curtailed space-use, iii) increased harassment, iv) risk of introduction of invasive species, v) contamination, and vi) heightened severity of impacts due to synergistic effects. Overall, I found that efforts to evaluate the consequences of oil extraction, particularly in peer-reviewed form, were limited. Research should be conducted pre-, during, and post-oil extraction to increase knowledge of effects of oil extraction on wildlife to enable more effective policy decisions.

In Chapter Two, I studied human-wildlife co-existence and found that conflict was the most important factor determining local people's attitude towards poaching. Less than 20% of the local people had ever visited the park and there was limited flow of benefits for local communities from protected areas. My findings highlight the importance of providing remedies compatible with local livelihoods and could be used to improve wildlife management to address poaching.

In Chapter Three, I predicted the African lion (*Panthera leo*) carrying capacity in Murchison Falls National Park (MFNP) from existing primary prey biomass. I found that the extant African lion density was four times less than what the prey biomass inside the park could support. I compared the African lion density estimated from prey biomass to that estimated from direct counts and found that estimating lion density from indirect methods such as prey biomass can result in overestimation of existent populations.

In Chapter Four, I described an approach for estimating the density, configuration and lethality of poacher-set snares and discussed their effects on wildlife inside MFNP. Murchison Falls National Park had the highest known density of wire snares in the world. I provide a litany of anthropogenic and environmental configurations that made snares more likely to catch an animal. The ability of snares to trap an animal were significantly predicted by snare thickness, noose width, vertical drop, wire circumference, grass height, and anchor tree diameter at breast height. Regulating the disposal of dis-used vehicle tires which provided the material for the wire snares was likely to reduce snare poaching inside the park. Additionally, providing alternative livelihoods to people involved in snare poaching would discourage the recruitment of locals in snare poaching. My method of surveying snares provides the opportunity to standardize temporal and spatial measurements of snare density and configuration as a first step to refine mitigation techniques.

I conclude my dissertation with a summary of my key findings and recommendations for future research. The results of my research are applicable to biodiverse-rich portions of the world that are at risk of human development. My methods could also be used to quantify the severity of subsistence poaching. This is relevant because subsistence poaching remains a significant conservation challenge in the 21st century. For

Sylvester Negaga Muhwana Musimami and Florence Hamba Musimami

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This dissertation would not be if it were not for people, belief, and organizations that mentored, inspired, and funded me. I would like to thank Dr. Robert Montgomery, an exceptional mentor who has cared for both my professional development and personal wellbeing. Dr. Montgomery has been adaptable, responsive, and genuinely engaged with my research. I am equally grateful to my graduate committee, including Drs. Shawn Riley, Matt Hayward, and Kevin Elliot for their timely, consistent and invaluable guidance throughout the course of my studies.

My research was funded by several organizations and individuals. I would like to thank Dr. Josh Millspaugh for providing funds that first brought me to Michigan State University. I have benefitted numerously from the funding opportunities that exist within the College of Agriculture and Natural Resources and I am grateful for that support. I would like to thank the following organizations that awarded me grants and fellowships: iModules Scholarship Program, Wildlife Conservation Network Pat J. Miller Graduate Research Fellowship, World Wildlife Fund Russel E-Train Education for Nature Current & Aspiring Faculty Fellowship Research Fellowship, African Wildlife Foundation Lady Charlotte Conservation Fellowship, Rufford Small Grants for Nature Conservation, National Geographic Early Career Grant, and Michigan State University Venture Fellowship.

I am extremely grateful to the following Michigan State University faculty and staff that I relied upon for counsel on many personal and professional matters during the course of my studies including Jill Spear, Jamie Lake, Dave Ellis, Dawn Caron Ellis, and Drs. Gary Roloff, Kelly Millenbah, John Kanene, Daniel Kramer, Georgina Montgomery, Eric Tans, Isaac Kalumbu, Damaris Choti, John Bonnell, and John Metzler.

v

I was permitted and supported by the Uganda Wildlife Authority and I thank the entire Murchison Falls staff and rangers who participated in my research. I would like in a special way thank my team of research assistants and support staff based in Uganda including Sophia Jingo, Peter Luhonda, Nulu Nangobi, and Patience Ariyo. Thank you to past and current RECaP family and other friends who comprised my social circle that include Dr. Steve Gray, Dr. Remington Moll, Jackie Beck, Herbert Kasozi, Claire Hoffman, Symon Masiaine, Waldemar Ortiz-Calo, David Heit, Dr. Leandro Abade, Arthur Muneza, Clara Lepard, Jeremiah Eaton, Aalayna Greene, Jaime Raupp, Caroline Blommel, Shelby McWilliams, Storm Miller, Claire Firn, Azana Cochran, Talesha Dokes, Roselyn Kaihula, Sean Sultaire, Abby Pinter, Charlie Booher, Kiera Quigley, Lauren Ashley Thielman, Janet Hsiao, Chris Henderson, Ashley Kimmel, and Grace Mansour. I was privileged to have a vibrate community of African students and I am indebted to you all for your sustenance and team spirit.

Finally, everything started with the help of my immediate family who gave me life and have supported my career to date. My parents Florence Hamba Florence and Sylvester N. M. Musimami and Veronica Kitongo Musimami did everything possible to get me to the best schools within their means. My wife Caroline Aliamo, Children; Vanjie Antonina Nagudi, Thiento N. Musimami, and Buenos Bigambo put aside their rights for close companionship and granted me my wish to complete this degree. I am thankful to my siblings Polycarp Mwima Musimami, Sarah Nemwa, Julian Negaga, Prisca Baluka for cheering me onwards whenever I needed to be encouraged. My spiritual life was enriched by the community of St. John Church under St Thomas Aquinas Parish of East Lansing.

"Gloria in excelsis Deo"

vi

PREFACE

The four main chapters of this dissertation have been submitted to peer-reviewed journals with co-authors. The citations for these chapters are below.

Chapter 1: Mudumba, T., S. Jingo, D. B. Kramer, K. Elliott, S. Riley, E. Tans, M. W. Hayward,

D. W. Macdonald, C. Astaras, and R. A. Montgomery. The quest for oil and subsequent implications for wildlife conservation. *Conservation Science and Practice*. In review.

Chapter 2: Mudumba, T., R. J. Moll, S. Jingo, S. Riley, D. W. Macdonald, C. Astaras, and R. A. Montgomery. Acceptability of wildlife poaching is predicated upon specific socio-economic characteristics. *Biological Conservation*. In review.

Chapter 3: Mudumba, T., M. W. Hayward, S. Jingo, H. Kasozi, C. Astaras, and R. A.

Montgomery. Prey biomass is a poor predictor of African lion population size in the dynamic

21st century. Ecological Applications. In review.

Chapter 4: Mudumba, T., S. Jingo, D. Heit, and R. A. Montgomery. The landscape configuration and lethality of snare poaching. *African Journal of Ecology*. In review.

Despite the fact that I am recorded as the sole author and use the pronoun I inside this dissertation, every chapter involved several individuals and all manuscripts under peer-review produced out of this work include co-authors.

vii

LIST OF TABLES	X
LIST OF FIGURES	xii
INTRODUCTION	1
REFERENCES	5
CHAPTER 1: THE QUEST FOR OIL AND SUBSEQUENT IMPLICATIONS FOR V	WILDLIFE
CONSERVATION	9
1.1 Abstract	9
1.2 Introduction	9
1.3 Methods	11
1.4 Results	13
1.4.1 Characterization of paper	13
1.4.2 Typology of effects	21
1.5 Discussion	23
Acknowledgements	26
REFERENCES	27
CHAPTER 2: ACCEPTABILITY OF WILDLIFE POACHING IS PREDICATED UP	YON
SPECIFIC SOCIO-ECONOMIC CHARACTERISTICS	32
2.1 Abstract	
2.2 Introduction	
2.3 Methods	
2.3.1 Study area	
2.3.2 Data collection	
2.3.3 Data analysis	40
2.4 Results	43
2.4.1 Demographic and socio-economic characteristics	43
2.4.2 Park and wildlife related responses	44
2.4.3 Attitudes towards use of poaching tools	45
2.5 Discussion	46
2.6 Acknowledgements	50
APPENDIX	51
REFERENCES	66
CHAPTER 3: PREY BIOMASS IS A POOR PREDICTOR OF AFRICAN LION	
POPULATION SIZE IN THE DYNAMIC 21ST CENTURY	77
3.1 Abstract	77
3.2 Introduction	78
3.3 Methods	80
3.3.1 Study area	80

TABLE OF CONTENTS

3.3.2 Data collection	83
3.3.3 Data analysis	
3.4 Results	
3.5 Discussion	
3.6 Acknowledgements	94
APPENDIX	
REFERENCES	97
CHAPTER 4: THE LANDSCAPE CONFIGURATION AND LETHALITY OF SNARE	l
POACHING	103
4.1 Abstract	103
4.2 Introduction	104
4.3 Methods	106
4.3.1 Study area	106
4.3.2 Data collection	108
4.3.3 Data analysis	112
4. 4 Results	113
4. 5 Discussion	
4.6 Acknowledgements	127
CONCLUSION	
APPENDIX	131
REFERENCES	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1. List of source references with elements and major findings of peer reviewed studieson wildlife and oil extraction conducted during the oil exploration phase between 1970 and2019
Table 1.2. List of source references with elements and major findings of peer reviewed studies on wildlife and oil extraction conducted during the oil development phase between 1970 and 2019
Table 1.3. List of source references with elements and major findings of peer reviewed papers on wildlife and oil extraction conducted during the oil production phase between 1970 and 2019
Table 1.4. List of source references with elements and major findings of peer reviewed papers onwildlife and oil extraction conducted during the oil abandonment phase between 1970 and2019
Table 1.5. The list of IUCN taxonomic ranks for species found inside Murchison Falls NationalPark, Uganda, in 2014 (Wildlife Conservation Society 2016)
Table 2.1. Names, descriptions, and value summaries of explanatory variables used in models predicting poaching acceptability in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. These data were collected via 691 face-to-face interviews with local people inhabiting villages adjacent to the park in July and August of 2017
Table 2.2. The experiences that the respondents had with wildlife since they moved into their village. % spp is the ratio of experience such as observed the species over the total number of experiences for that species given by the respondent. % all spp is the ratio of the species experience over the total for that experience over all other species
Table 2.3. Model parameter estimates, standard errors, and statistical significance from a hurdle model predicting poaching acceptability. The model was fit to data from 290 surveys administered in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda in July and August 2017. See Table A.1 for variable descriptions
Table 3.1. The abundance and density of the preferred and accessible prey species on the north bank of Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. Acronyms used in this table include $NB =$ North bank; $SA =$ Surveyed area; $SE =$ standard error. The * identifies species for which the estimates are not considered reliable given very low detections
Table 3.2. Estimates of African lion (<i>Panthera leo</i>) density in the study area in the north bank of

Table 3.2. Estimates of African lion (*Panthera leo*) density in the study area in the north bank of Murchison Falls National Park (MFNP), Uganda. I calculated the abundance and density of lions on the north bank of MFNP via three models: 1) preferred prey (species included; buffalo,

Table 4.2. Snare densities in the three zones calculated from 162 km² for each zone in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. I calculated snare type per proportion of habitat sampled in open savanna grassland (210. 24 km²), bushland (203. 86 km²), and closed woodland (72.90 km²)..117

Table 4.3. The minimum, median mean, and maximum measurements of parameters associated with all the snares encountered and removed from Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. I present these measurements in centimeter (cm), meter (m), and meters above sea level (m.asl)
Table 4.4. The density of snares per square kilometer in the surveyed zone and habitat type inMurchison Falls National Park, Uganda
Table 4.5. Percentage of wildlife kind captured and escaped out of poacher-set snares inMurchison Falls National Park, Uganda. The numbers are percentages of the category. Therewere 180 identifiable animals from the survey.118
Table 4.6. Logistic regression model output of significant predictors of the lethality of wiresnares on sympatric guilds of carnivores and ungulates in Murchison Falls National Park,Uganda

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Map of Uganda showing Murchison Falls National Park with the locations of major oil exploration wells
Figure 1.2. Peer-reviewed papers published between 1970 and 2019 returned from a literature search evaluating the impact of oil extraction on wildlife. The dotted line shows the number of all papers returned while the bars reflect the number of papers returned for each activity of oil extraction
Figure 1.3. The spatial configuration of research on the impacts of oil extraction on wildlife among peer-reviewed papers published between 1970 and 201915
Figure 2.1. The study area for my research examining acceptability of subsistence poaching tools in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. The surrounding parishes in which this research was situated are also featured
Figure 2.2. The nature of interactions that respondents had with nine common species of wildlife since they moved into their village adjacent to Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. The height of the bar (Frequency) is the number of times each species was reported by respondents of the study
Figure 2.3. Spline correlogram showing spatial autocorrelation among model residuals as a function of distance in kilometers. My research examining acceptability of using poaching tools in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda was clustered around villages and so I checked for spatial autocorrelation in model residuals. The 95% confidence envelope consistently overlaps zero, indicating a lack of spatial autocorrelation among model residuals
Figure 2.4. Questionnaire used to interview respondents during the research examining acceptability of using poaching tools in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda
Figure 3.1. Map of the study area in the north bank of Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda where I assessed African lion (<i>Panthera leo</i>) population ecology. Survey plots are represented as rectangular boxes with the width determined by the mean maximum distance of sighted oribi (Ourebia ourebi) within each vegetation type (grassland, bushland, and woodland)
Figure 3.2. Cumulative count curve of lion encounters on the north bank of Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. I conducted total count surveys of lions between June 2016 and August 2017 in which 116 lions > one-year-old were recorded96
Figure 4.1. Study area showing the three predominate habitat types (open savanna grassland, bushland, and closed woodland) inside Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. Each of the dotted squares indicates the randomly selected grid cells that were surveyed to quantify snare

density in the snare areas, no-snare areas, random area. The area of each dotted square is 36 km2......107

Figure 4.2. Sampling protocol used for determining snare detection probability in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. The grey arrow indicates one observer searching for snares in a transect of 100 m wide by 3 km long. The black arrows show two observers repeating the search by halving the transect size to 50 m wide by 3 km long......109

Figure 4.3. All effects graphs of individual logistic regression models for lethality including; elevation above sea level (panel a), distance to river (panel b), distance to road (panel c), and distance to village (panel d). The data were collected during snare surveys conducted in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda between June and September 2018......116

INTRODUCTION

The global human population is presently estimated at 7.2 billion people and is projected to exceed 10 billion by 2100 (Gerland et al., 2014). Given this rapid growth, previously uninhabited areas are being developed and sparsely populated areas are experiencing rapid urbanization. Consequently, the footprint of the world's cities is expanding rapidly (Burdett, Sudjic, & Cavusoglu, 2011). Concurrently, the global economy continues to be dependent upon finite natural resources (Stern, Common, & Barbier, 1996). Non-renewable fossil fuels still provide the primary energy sources and every year, several million acres of wildlands are converted into farmland which has put enormous pressure on natural systems (Abas, Kalair, & Khan, 2015). The negative impacts of human population growth and the associated unsustainable use of natural resources are well studied and include global warming (Adger & Brown, 1994), accelerated habitat degradation (Tilman et al., 2001), and environmental contamination (Carlson & Adriano, 1993) among others. These challenges either individually or synergistically not only have consequences for human livelihood but also for wildlife population viability (Brook, Sodhi, & Bradshaw, 2008). The people and wildlife located in the global south are particularly vulnerable to these negative effects. For instance, due to poverty, higher dependence on natural resources, and rapid human population growth, the global south is at a higher risk of facing an energy crisis than the rest of the world (Thomas & Twyman, 2005; Bilgen, 2014).

Efforts to locate new oil reserves around the globe have intensified (Abas et al., 2015; Nyambuu & Semmler, 2014). Keen financial investors and novel technologies have enabled previously known but hard-to-reach deposits to now be economically viable to pursue (Chen & Jia, 2000; Frassy et al., 2015; Tang et al., 2012). Yet, due to their remoteness, these formerly inaccessible oil deposits tend to occur in areas with comparatively higher species richness and diversity (Finer, Jenkins, Pimm, Keane, & Ross, 2008; Ramirez & Mosley, 2015; Sovacool, 2007). In the global south, some of the areas under consideration for oil extraction overlay key biodiversity hot spots and include national parks (Butt et al., 2013; Watkins, 2010). Therefore, one of the growing concerns for wildlife conservation is the renewed interest to expand oil extraction to new sites including areas overlaying critical wildlife habitats (Butt et al., 2013). The effects of oil extraction on people (Jobin, 2003; Obi, 2010; Ogwang, Vanclay, & van den Assem, 2018) and on the environment have been widely investigated (Dowhaniuk, Hartter, Ryan, Palace, & Congalton, 2018; Esterhuyse, Redelinghuys, & Kemp, 2016). Comparatively little research has investigated the impacts on wildlife. Therefore, decisions to extract oil in biodiverse-rich regions are likely to be undermined by the lack of knowledge of the effects on wildlife.

Another anthropogenic disturbance of importance to wildlife conservation is the unsustainable utilization of wildlife in form of poaching. There are three distinct types of poaching that include trophy poaching, trafficking poaching, and subsistence poaching (Montgomery in review). However, subsistence poaching is the most widespread version and involves the illegal harvest of wildlife for the purpose of consumption (Neumann & Machlis, 1989). Subsistence poaching is strongly linked with higher levels of poverty and lack of alternative livelihoods (Roe, 2008). Subsistence poaching can bear serious consequences for local wildlife populations (Knapp, Peace, & Bechtel, 2017). For instance, in West Africa, subsistence poaching led to a decline in the local population of the African lion (*Panthera leo*) and giraffe (*Giraffa camelopardalis rothschildi*) to a level that necessitated a separate classification of these species (Henschel et al., 2010; Winter, Fennessy, & Janke, 2018).

The effects of anthropogenic perturbations on wildlife and their coping mechanisms remains a serious challenge in the 21st century. Given human population growth, there will be an increase in the number of people living in proximity with wildlife which could increase the potential for human-wildlife conflict. Human-wildlife conflict can directly lead to wildlife persecution or indirectly harm wildlife via prey depletion and loss of preferred habitat (McKee, Sciulli, Fooce, & Waite, 2004). Currently, the world is amidst what is being called the 6th mass extinction of wildlife and the first to be driven by humans (Pievani, 2014). Therefore, plans must continue to refine and broaden our knowledge of the consequences of anthropogenic disturbances on wildlife in order to devise reliable solutions that foster human-wildlife co-existence.

In my research, I have examined the current literature on impacts of oil extraction on wildlife, studied the socioeconomic conditions that give rise to subsistence poaching, researched the relationship between African lions and their prey, and defined the landscape configuration and lethality of snare poaching. In Chapter One, I conducted a literature review to identify papers assessing impacts of oil extraction on terrestrial wildlife and applied the resultant topology to a case study of Murchison Falls National Park (MFNP), Uganda. In Chapter Two, I completed household interviews in villages surrounding MFNP to gain knowledge of drivers of poaching and demographic profiles of poachers. I assessed the acceptability of tools used to poach wildlife, and the respondents' perceptions toward wildlife and park authorities. In Chapter Three, I predicted the African lion carrying capacity from prey biomass and compared it with the extant population. Then, in Chapter Four, I developed and tested a new approach to understanding the configuration and density of poacher -set snares. I conclude my dissertation with a summary of my key findings and recommendations for future research. At the end of each chapter, I discuss

the implications of my research for wildlife conservation and human livelihood improvement. Thus, each chapter concludes with a set of applied management and conservation actions that are informed by my research examining the interconnectedness of human population growth, energy development, human-wildlife coexistence, and wildlife population ecology. REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- Abas, N., Kalair, A., & Khan, N. (2015). Review of fossil fuels and future energy technologies. *Futures*, *69*, 31–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2015.03.003
- Adger, W. N., & Brown, K. (1994). *Land use and the causes of global warming*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Bilgen, S. (2014). Structure and environmental impact of global energy consumption. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *38*, 890–902.
- Brook, B. W., Sodhi, N. S., & Bradshaw, C. J. A. (2008). Synergies among extinction drivers under global change. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 23(8), 453–460.
- Burdett, R., Sudjic, D., & Cavusoglu, O. (2011). Living in the endless city. Phaidon.
- Butt, N., Beyer, H. L., Bennett, J. R., Biggs, D., Maggini, R., Mills, M., ... Possingham, H. P. (2013). Biodiversity risks from fossil fuel extraction. *Science*, *342*(6157), 425–426.
- Carlson, C. L., & Adriano, D. C. (1993). Environmental impacts of coal combustion residues. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 22(2), 227–247.
- Chen, Y. R., & Jia, G. X. (2000). Research and application of new methods to oil-gas geochemical exploration. *Acta Geologica Sinica-English Edition*, 74(3), 692–696.
- Dowhaniuk, N., Hartter, J., Ryan, S. J., Palace, M. W., & Congalton, R. G. (2018). The impact of industrial oil development on a protected area landscape: demographic and social change at Murchison Falls Conservation Area, Uganda. *Population and Environment*, 39(3), 197–218. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11111-017-0287-x
- Esterhuyse, S., Redelinghuys, N., & Kemp, M. (2016). Unconventional oil and gas extraction in South Africa: water linkages within the population–environment–development nexus and its policy implications. *Water International*, *41*(3), 409–425.
- Finer, M., Jenkins, C. N., Pimm, S. L., Keane, B., & Ross, C. (2008). Oil and gas projects in the western Amazon: threats to wilderness, biodiversity, and indigenous peoples. *Plos One*, 3(8), e2932.
- Frassy, F., Malanti, P., Marchesi, A., Nodari, F. R., Dalla Via, G., De Paulis, R., ... Gianinetto, M. (2015). Satellite remote sensing for hydrocarbon exploration in new venture areas. 2015 *Ieee International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium (Igarss)*, 2884–2887.
- Gerland, P., Raftery, A. E., Ševčíková, H., Li, N., Gu, D., Spoorenberg, T., ... Lalic, N. (2014). World population stabilization unlikely this century. *Science*, *346*(6206), 234–237.

- Henschel, P., Azani, D., Burton, C., Malanda, G. U. Y., Saidu, Y., Sam, M., & Hunter, L. (2010). Lion status updates from five range countries in West and Central Africa. *CATnews*, 52, 34–39.
- Jobin, W. (2003). Health and equity impacts of a large oil project in Africa. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 81(6), 420–426.
- Knapp, E., Peace, N., & Bechtel, L. (2017). Poachers and poverty: Assessing objective and subjective measures of poverty among illegal hunters outside Ruaha National Park, Tanzania. *Conservation and Society*, 15(1), 24–32. https://doi.org/10.4103/0972-4923.201393
- McKee, J. K., Sciulli, P. W., Fooce, C. D., & Waite, T. A. (2004). Forecasting global biodiversity threats associated with human population growth. *Biological Conservation*, *115*(1), 161–164.
- Neumann, R. P., & Machlis, G. E. (1989). Land-use and threats to parks in the neotropics. *Environmental Conservation*, *16*(1), 13–18.
- Nyambuu, U., & Semmler, W. (2014). Trends in the extraction of non-renewable resources: The case of fossil energy. *Economic Modelling*, *37*, 271–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econmod.2013.11.020
- Obi, C. I. (2010). Oil extraction, dispossession, resistance, and conflict in Nigeria's oil-rich Niger Delta. *Canadian Journal of Development Studies/Revue Canadienne d'études Du Dévelopment*, 30(1–2), 219–236.
- Ogwang, T., Vanclay, F., & van den Assem, A. (2018). Impacts of the oil boom on the lives of people living in the Albertine Graben region of Uganda. *The Extractive Industries and Society*, *5*(1), 98–103.
- Pievani, T. (2014). The sixth mass extinction: Anthropocene and the human impact on biodiversity. *Rendiconti Lincei-Scienze Fisiche E Naturali*, 25(1), 85–93. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12210-013-0258-9
- Ramirez, P., & Mosley, S. B. (2015). Oil and gas wells and pipelines on US wildlife refuges: Challenges for managers. *Plos One*, *10*(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0124085
- Roe, D. (2008). The origins and evolution of the conservation-poverty debate: a review of key literature, events and policy processes. *Oryx*, *42*(4), 491–503.
- Sovacool, B. K. (2007). Environmental damage, abandoned treaties, and fossil-fuel dependence: The coming costs of oil-and-gas exploration in the "1002 area" of the Arctic national wildlife refuge. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, 9(2), 187–201. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-005-9013-4

- Stern, D. I., Common, M. S., & Barbier, E. B. (1996). Economic growth and environmental degradation: the environmental Kuznets curve and sustainable development. *World Development*, 24(7), 1151–1160.
- Tang, X. G., Su, Z. L., Hu, W. B., Yan, L. J., Zhu, H. X., & Wang, L. J. (2012). Electromagnetic methods for shale gas exploration in southern China. *Advances in Metallurgical and Mining Engineering*, 402, 771–774. https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMR.402.771
- Thomas, D. S. G., & Twyman, C. (2005). Equity and justice in climate change adaptation amongst natural-resource-dependent societies. *Global Environmental Change*, *15*(2), 115–124.
- Tilman, D., Fargione, J., Wolff, B., D'antonio, C., Dobson, A., Howarth, R., ... Swackhamer, D. (2001). Forecasting agriculturally driven global environmental change. *Science*, 292(5515), 281–284.
- Watkins, E. (2010). Tullow eyeing higher oil production target in Uganda. *Oil & Gas Journal*, *108*(9), 30.
- Winter, S., Fennessy, J., & Janke, A. (2018). Limited introgression supports division of giraffe into four species. *Ecology and Evolution*, 8(20), 10156–10165.

CHAPTER 1: THE QUEST FOR OIL AND SUBSEQUENT IMPLICATIONS FOR WILDLIFE CONSERVATION

1.1 Abstract

Global dependence upon fossil oil persists in the 21st century. Consequently, vast deposits of oil are being exploited in highly biodiverse regions. The breadth of effects of oil extraction, however, on wildlife remain unclear. I reviewed literature on the effects of oil extraction on terrestrial wildlife to develop a typology of the effects documented. Among the 34 relevant papers that I identified, three (9%) demonstrated wildlife adaptation to certain aspects of the oil extraction process. All other papers (91%) documented negative effects. Broadly, these effects included: i) increased poaching, ii) curtailed space-use, iii) increased harassment, iv) risk of introduction of invasive species, v) contamination, and vi) heightened severity of impacts due to synergistic effects. I applied this typology of effects to Murchison Falls National Park (MFNP), Uganda, where oil extraction is ongoing. I illustrate that MFNP's immediate concern should be indirect oil effects including the potential increase in poaching and human-wildlife conflict. Clearly, extracting oil in the vicinity of wildlife biodiverse regions presents a number of threats to conservation. I provide recommendations for additional research, which if conducted pre-, during, and post-oil extraction will increase knowledge and understanding of effects on wildlife and enable more effective policy decisions.

1.2 Introduction

With <15% of global energy generated from alternative renewable sources, the world's human population continues to be dependent upon fossil fuels (Lund 2007; Arbuthnott & Dolter 2013). Crude oil remains the most sought after energy source and is predicted to remain so into the

foreseeable future (Krichene 2006; Mirchi et al. 2012; Abas et al. 2015). Current predictions suggest that known oil reserves could be exhausted within the next century (Mirchi et al. 2012; Hook & Tang 2013). Consequently, efforts to locate new oil reserves around the globe have intensified (Nyambuu & Semmler 2014; Abas et al. 2015). Keen financial investors and novel technologies enabled previously known but hard-to-reach deposits to now be economically viable to pursue (Chen & Jia 2000; Tang et al. 2012; Frassy et al. 2015). Yet, due to their remoteness, these formerly inaccessible oil deposits tend to occur in areas with comparatively higher species richness and diversity (Sovacool 2007; Finer et al. 2008; Ramirez & Mosley 2015).

Given that the world is in the midst of the sixth mass extinction event and the first that is primarily driven by human actions, competing priorities relating to energy and wildlife conservation are predicted to intensify (Casetta et al. 2015; Newbold et al. 2016). The potential for conflict is particularly apparent in Africa given large oil deposits directly beneath wildlife protected areas and the lack of a prior knowledge of the effects of oil extraction on wildlife (Butt et al. 2013). Effects of oil extraction on people are generally well known (Jobin 2003; Obi 2010; Ogwang et al. 2018) and on the environment (Esterhuyse et al. 2016; Dowhaniuk et al. 2018), but not specifically on wildlife. Hence, highlighting the potential effects of oil extraction on wildlife is of critical importance to conservation practice and policy formation.

I conducted a review of peer-reviewed literature to determine the various ways in which wildlife are affected by oil extraction. In doing so, I developed a typology of effects that I applied to a case study in Murchison Falls National Park (MFNP), Uganda, the only national park in the world where active oil drilling is ongoing within its border. This national park sits in the Greater Albertine Rift Valley of East Africa, which is one of the most biodiverse areas on

Earth and also a region with vast oil deposits (Dou et al. 2004; Uganda 2008). Given the competing motivations of oil extraction and wildlife conservation, succinctly stating the possible effects of oil extraction on wildlife is a critical first step to a satisfactory solution. I discuss the implications of this research for the Greater Albertine Rift Valley and beyond and provide recommendations on how to lessen negative impacts created by oil extraction on wildlife.

1.3 Methods

I conducted a literature review (completed in June 2019) to identify papers assessing impacts of oil extraction on terrestrial wildlife. I searched the bibliographic databases of the Web of Science Core Collection, Wildlife and Ecology Studies Worldwide, and Engineering Village. I used "oil extraction" AND "wildlife" as search terms and restricted my assessment to peer-reviewed literature. Ecological Impact Assessment reports were excluded from my analysis given that they are neither peer-reviewed nor required to be published as grey literature. As my interest was to apply the resultant topology to a case study of MFNP and develop a generalized framework for terrestrial settings, I did not consider papers on marine wildlife. I also eliminated papers that were either purely lab tests or those conducted in non-biodiverse areas (e.g., oil sand mines). I recorded study area, habitat type, year of publication, and wildlife species studied in each paper. Then I categorized the effects of oil extraction on wildlife from: oil exploration, development, production, and abandonment (Davidsen et al. 1990). Here, I use abandonment to refer to the period either between exploration and production or after production when there is no detectable oil extraction activity. Categorization among these four broad categories enabled us to develop a typology of effects.

I applied the typology of effects to MFNP. Located in the northern end of the Albertine Rift Valley in Uganda (02°15′N 31°48′E; Fig. 1.1), MFNP was gazetted in 1952, more than 50 years before oil was discovered in the area.



Figure 1.1. Map of Uganda showing Murchison Falls National Park with the locations of major oil exploration wells.

Three and a half billion barrels of recoverable oil in and around MFNP was confirmed in 2006 (Van Alstine et al. 2014; Polus & Tycholiz 2016). Preliminary research conducted on large

mammals and birds during 2D and 3D seismic tests identified that oil extraction activities affected wildlife (Ayebare 2011; Mudumba et al. 2012; Plumptre et al. 2015). I used the *Uganda National Red list* to evaluate the number and diversity of species of conservation importance in MFNP (Wildlife Conservation Society 2016). I restricted the analysis to six taxa including birds, mammals, butterflies, dragonflies, amphibians, and reptiles.

1.4 Results

1.4.1 Characterization of paper

My search returned 106 papers, 34 (32%) of which met the criteria for consideration (Tables 1.1 to 1.4). The number of papers returned from my literature review demonstrated an increase in research on oil extraction and wildlife over the last twenty years (Fig. 1.2).



Figure 1.2. Peer-reviewed papers published between 1970 and 2019 returned from a literature search evaluating the impact of oil extraction on wildlife. The dotted line shows the number of all papers returned while the bars reflect the number of papers returned for each activity of oil extraction.

Most (91%) of the research of the returned papers was carried out in the Americas with research in just three papers (9%) conducted on the African continent (Fig. 1.3).



Figure 1.3. The spatial configuration of research on the impacts of oil extraction on wildlife among peer-reviewed papers published between 1970 and 2019.

Most of these papers (49%, Table 1.1) evaluated wildlife effects during oil development. Another 20% and 26% of the reviewed papers studied wildlife during the extraction phase (Table 1.2) and production (Table 1.3) respectively.

Table 1.1. List of source references with elements and major findings of peer reviewed studies on wildlife and oil extraction conducted during the oil exploration phase between 1970 and 2019.

Elements	Main findings from the study	Name / kind	Taxon	Reference
Roads	Population declined due to increased	Guanaco	Lama	Radovani et
	poaching due to access provided by		guanicoe	al.,2014
	road network.			

Table 1.1 (cont'd)

Seismic	Increased variation in inter-patch	Grizzly Bear	Ursus	Linke et al.,
survey	distances in bear habitat.		arctos	2005
	No detectable impact on activity and	Ocelot	Leopardus	Kolowski &
	population. No change in activity		pardalis	Alonso, 2010
	patterns due to oil extraction.			
	Avoided seismic activity areas	African	Loxondata	Rabanal et al.,
		elephant	africana	2010
	Avoided seismic activity areas on	Chimpanzee	Pan	Rabanal et al.,
	small and intermediate scales.		troglodytes	2010
	Affected predator-prey relationships	Black Bears	Ursus	Tigner et al.,
	(black bear and caribou)		americanus	2014
	Potentially altered black bear ability			
	to locate and capture ungulate prey			
Hydraulic	Avoided areas near energy	River Otters	Lontra	Godwin et al.,
fracturing	development		canadensis	2015
Various	Displaced from suitable habitat,	Large		Klein, 1984
extraction	Interfered with free movement	Mammals		
perturbations	s Increased harassment			
	Attracted carnivores and scavengers			
	to food waste areas and increased			
	conflict			

Table 1.2. List of source references with elements and major findings of peer reviewed studies on wildlife and oil extraction conducted during the oil development phase between 1970 and 2019.

Elements	Main findings from the study	Name / kind	Taxon	Reference
Roads	Depleted local populations	Howler Monkey	Ateles	Franzen
		Spider Monkey	belzebuth,	2006
			Alouatta	
			seniculus	
	Doubled extraction of bushmeat	Various	Various	Espinosa
	Increase in spatial extent of hunting area.			et al.,
				2014
	No significant impact on density or	Ocelot	Leopardus	Salvador
	activity		pardalis	&
				Espinosa,
				2016
	No evidence of avoidance	Caribou	Rangifer	Noel et
			tarandus	al., 2004
	Increased the impacts of hunting	White-lipped	Tayassu	Suarez et
	Reduced species richness and density	peccary,	pecari,	al., 2009
		paca,	Cuniculus	
		woolly monkey	pac,	
			Lagothrix	
			poeppigii	

Table 1.2 (cont'd)

Infrastructure	Reduced range	Caribou	Rangifer	Joly et al.,
and roads	Shifted the calving ground		tarandus	2006
	No detectable change in space use	Northern	Colinus	Dunkin et
		Bobwhite	virgianus	al., 2009
	Shifted calving and seasonal ranges	Woodland	Rangifer	Dyer et
	Potentially lost suitable habitat	Caribou	tarandus	al., 2001
			caribou	
	Used up high value habitat	Pronghorn	Antilocapra	Christie
	Avoided roads		americana	et al.,
				2017
	Minimal response to oil development,	Black Bears	Ursus	Tietje and
	but increased development would lead to		americanus	Ruff,
	lasting negative effects			1983
	Increased likelihood of disturbance of	Polar Bear	Ursus	Amstrup
	denning polar bears		maritimus	et al,
				1993
	Destroyed the habitat	Wildlife		Olive,
	Polluted by oil and noise			2018
	Encouraged invasive species			

Table 1.3. List of source references with elements and major findings of peer reviewed papers on wildlife and oil extraction conducted during the oil production phase between 1970 and 2019.

Elements	Main findings from the study	Name /	Taxon	Reference
		kind		
Roads	Facilitated hunting, agriculture and	Wildlife		Vanthomme
	urbanization			et al., 2013
	Increased speed in response to roads	and	Gulo gulo	Scrafford et
	Increased movement in response to high		luscus	al., 2018
	traffic volume.			
	Roads reduced the quality of the habitat			
Infrastructure	Caused synergistic effects such as	Pronghorn	Antilocapra	Christie et
and roads	decreased abundance		americana	al., 2015
	Increased the risk of nest failure	Killdeer	Charadrius	Atuo et al.,
	(ecological traps)		vociferus	2016
	Higher nest success rate because of lack	Prairie	Tympanuchus	Burr et al.,
	of predator interaction in more developed	Chickens	phasianellus	2017
	areas but increased predation in adjacent			
	areas			
	Lower nest sites re-use of near high	Ferruginou	s Buteo regalis	Wiggins et
	energy extraction sites thus long-term	Hawk		al., 2017
	population declines could be expected			

Table 1.3 (cont'd)

Contamination	Wildlife and indigenous communities	Wildlife		Rosell-Mele
	were exposed to oil polluted soils and			et al. 2017
	river sediments			
	Reduced amphibian abundance in	Amphibians	5	Hossack et
	wetlands reflecting multi-decadal			al., 2018
	ecological effects.			
	Exposure to oil polluted soils and leaks at	Tapir,	Tapirus	Orta-
	oil wells	Paca,	Terrestris,	Martinez et
		Red-	Cuniculus	al.,2018
		Brocket	paca,	
		Deer,	Mazama	
		Collared	americana,	
		Peccary	Peccary	
			Тајаси	

Finally, 5% of the studies were carried out during the abandonment phase (Table 1.4). I found two papers (5%) that assessed wildlife during habitat restoration and one paper (2%) that was conducted in relation to hydraulic fracturing. There were no papers that simultaneously evaluated the effects of any element (i.e., roads, oil pads etc.) across all the four oil extraction phases. The impact of roads was the most (33%) investigated element, tied in second place was seismic surveys and various oil extraction perturbations (13%), effect of oil pads and contamination on wildlife each had 3 papers (8%).

Table 1.4. List of source references with elements and major findings of peer reviewed papers on wildlife and oil extraction conducted during the oil abandonment phase between 1970 and 2019.

Elements	Main findings from the study	Name / kind	Taxon	Reference
Restoration	Increased herbivore abundance at restored	Wildlife		Fuda et al.,
	sites			2018
	Less vulnerable to site specific	Dolly Varden	Salvelinus	Underwood
	disturbances. Some migratory routes made	Trout	malma	et al., 1996
	the fish vulnerable			

The vast majority of these papers (70%) examined the impact of oil extraction on mammals, 9% assessed impacts on birds, and just 3% of the papers looked at impacts on freshwater fish. In 18% of the papers, the impacts of oil extraction were measured across all wildlife with no distinction on species.

1.4.2 Typology of effects

Oil extraction was reported to increase consumption and displacement, inhibited natural movements and space use, and concentrated human pressure on wildlife (Table 1.1 and 1.2). I found four species that were deemed to be adaptable to seismic tests, hydraulic fracturing, and oil pads (Table 1.2). Among the negative effects, secondary impacts included population decline, increased harassment, higher incidences of invasive speciation, poor waste disposal, and wildlife exposure to contamination (Table 1.2 and 1.3). In combination with other factors like climate change, oil extraction worsened synergistic effects on wildlife (Table 1.3). The positive impacts of oil extraction upon wildlife were higher nest success rates near oil pads (although adjacent areas took the hit) and increased herbivore species richness at a restored site (Table 1.4).

Out of 2,291 red list species reported for Uganda, MFNP had 172 species, 46 of which are species of conservation concern (see Table 1.5 for common and species names). Only two of these species were evaluated in the papers I reviewed. African elephants were found to avoid seismic areas at all scales, while chimpanzees avoided seismic activities at small and intermediate scales. All other species in MFNP went un-evaluated among the papers in this review.

Table 1.5. The list of IUCN taxonomic ranks for species found inside Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda, in 2014 (Wildlife Conservation Society 2016).

	Mammals	Birds	Reptiles	Amphibians	Fish	Total
Threatened						46
Critically						
endangered	3	4	1	0	1	9
Endangered	2	6	0	0	4	12
Vulnerable	3	18	1	1	2	25
Other categories						126
Data deficient	5	3	7	4	0	19
Near						
threatened	3	6	5	1	0	15
Least concern	38	7	29	16	0	90
Not applicable	0	0	1	1	0	2

1.5 Discussion

Human priorities relating to energy and wildlife conservation have, and could, conflict when deciding whether to extract oil within wildlife protected areas. The stakes are high because of the enormous economic returns from oil contrast with threatened species of wildlife deemed vulnerable to the oil extraction process (Butt et al. 2013; Northrup & Wittemyer 2013). Take, for example, the proposed oil extraction in the Arctic National Wildlife Refuge (ANWR). In ANWR, oil extraction has been predicted to affect large mammals (Cameron et al. 1992; Pelley 2001). The Deepwater Horizon oil leak and the 1989 Exxon Valdez oil spill leaked millions of liters of oil that harmed wildlife and continues to affect human health (Gill et al. 2012; Drescher et al. 2014). Therefore, extracting oil in the vicinity of wildlife biodiverse regions presents a complex challenge of how to balance conservation and economic values.

Although there is spatial variation in oil reserves and wildlife biodiversity across the world, efforts to evaluate the consequences of oil extraction, particularly in peer-reviewed form, are limited. This was evident from the small number of papers returned from my review. Furthermore, when examining the case study in MFNP, just two species of conservation concern (elephants and chimpanzees) were subjects of two papers. I acknowledge that assessments may have been done prior to oil extraction for other species both in MFNP and elsewhere that remained unpublished or inaccessible to the public. I emphasize here the need for accessible peer-reviewed evidence to provide vital information on these ecological assessments to policymakers and the public. I believe that these results speak to the research-implementation gap that may be made wider due to the lack of peer-reviewed evidence (Arts et al. 2006; Gray et al. 2019). Nonetheless, the increase in the number of search results starting in 2001 indicates a growing academic interest on this issue.
I found that the onset of oil exploration and extraction led to an increase in the number of access roads to an area (Tables 1-3). In some cases, the roads protected wildlife when they enabled antipoaching work (Linke et al. 2005; Kolowski & Alonso 2012). Nonetheless, new roads were also found to foster widespread poaching in previously inaccessible areas (Kotze 2002). Similarly, access roads often went through villages which made it easier to move hunting tools and poached game in and among the local human communities (Suárez et al. 2013; Espinosa et al. 2014). These dynamics are likely to be influential in MFNP, which experiences some of the highest rates of wildlife poaching in the world (Mudumba et al. n.d.). The impacts of roads on the conservation of biodiversity is relevant more broadly also (Kleinschroth et al. 2017). The ways in which these poaching rates connect with the oil industry have yet to be mechanistically evaluated.

Oil extraction has the potential to initiate or worsen negative human-wildlife interactions such as human-elephant conflict (Munshi-South et al. 2008; Kolowski et al. 2010). African elephants are highly sensitive to ground tremors, sounds, and chemical signals (Munshi-South et al. 2008; Lindsey et al. 2018). When subjected to stress-inducing cues in the environment, elephants have been found to increase movement rates (Jachowski et al. 2013). This can lead them through community lands with potentially negative interactions with local people (O'Connell-Rodwell et al. 2006). Additionally, although African elephants are listed as *vulnerable* internationally and *critically endangered* in Uganda, their population in MFNP is expanding (Chase et al. 2016). The oil exploration phase inside MFNP changed the movement patterns of African elephants (Plumptre et al. 2014, 2015). Given this background, I recommend that MFNP quantifies and curbs the anticipated human-elephant conflict by minimizing other human disturbances (see Munshi-South et al. 2008; Kolowski et al. 2010).

Based on my findings, I propose recommendations to mitigate the impacts of oil extraction on wildlife. Maintaining a low density of roads and oil lines constructed away from key wildlife habitats is expected to reduce poaching and negative behavioral effects of human encroachment such as habituation and food conditioning. Increased law enforcement in the form of traffic control gates and ranger posts in areas accessible by new roads may have some deterrence for poaching and wildlife trafficking. Providing environmental education training to staff and communities in the vicinity of parks may help raise awareness of conservation issues created by oil extraction. In addition, developing options for alternative livelihoods in the local communities may mitigate the economic incentive for poaching and trafficking. I suggest key wildlife ecological features and offset sites be mapped and protected for key species as insurance against oil extraction. I strongly recommend surveying wildlife species and habitats in areas affected by oil extraction to enable reintroduction and restoration once extraction is complete to quantitatively assess effects of extraction. Policies inhibiting wildlife harassment and to regulate human-wildlife interactions are likely to reduce negative behaviors of wildlife that lead to increased mortality. An active program to reduce the risk of invasive species and contamination/pollution through policy, law enforcement, and civic awareness campaigns will promote awareness of the importance of habitat conservation in maintaining native fauna. To ensure conservation of wildlife populations, high disturbance activities should be conducted with minimal intensity, frequency, and outside key wildlife ecological cycles such as breeding, calving, and migration. It will be important to establish communication pathways and training for all stakeholders to detect and appropriately respond to mishaps related to oil extraction at various levels of engagement, while also creating specialized rapid-response, environmental protection teams. Finally, I suggest that peer reviewed, scientific studies should be conducted to

understand the local ecosystem functioning and connectivity. The result of these studies will determine the potential triggers of synergistic effects and make recommendations.

Acknowledgements

This review was supported by funds from: WCN, WWF, AWF and National Geographic Society.

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- Abas, N., Kalair, A. & Khan, N. (2015). Review of fossil fuels and future energy technologies. Futures, 69, 31–49.
- Van Alstine, J., Manyindo, J., Smith, L., Dixon, J. & AmanigaRuhanga, I. (2014). Resource governance dynamics: The challenge of "new oil" in Uganda. Resour. Policy, 40, 48–58.
- Arbuthnott, K.D. & Dolter, B. (2013). Escalation of commitment to fossil fuels. Ecol. Econ., 89, 7–13.
- Arts, B., Leroy, P. & Van Tatenhove, J. (2006). Political modernisation and policy arrangements: a framework for understanding environmental policy change. Public Organ. Rev., 6, 93– 106.
- Ayebare, S. (2011). Influence of industrial activities on the spatial distribution of wildlife in Murchison Falls National Park , Uganda.
- Butt, N., Beyer, H.L., Bennett, J.R., Biggs, D., Maggini, R., Mills, M., Renwick, A.R., Seabrook, L.M. & Possingham, H.P. (2013). Biodiversity risks from fossil fuel extraction. Science (80-.)., 342, 425–426.
- Cameron, R.D., Reed, D.J., Dau, J.R. & Smith, W.T. (1992). Redistribution of calving caribou in response to oil field development on the arctic slope of Alaska. Arctic, 45, 338–342.
- Casetta, E., da Silva, J.M., Serrelli, E. & Gontier, N. (2015). Facing the big sixth: From prioritizing species to conserving biodiversity. Macroevolution Explan. Interpret. Evid., 2, 377–403.
- Chase, M.J., Schlossberg, S., Griffin, C.R., Bouche, P.J.C., Djene, S.W., Elkan, P.W., Ferreira, S., Grossman, F., Kohi, E.M., Landen, K., Omondi, P., Peltier, A., Selier, S.A.J. & Sutcliffe, R. (2016). Continent-wide survey reveals massive decline in African savannah elephants. PeerJ, 4.
- Chen, Y.R. & Jia, G.X. (2000). Research and application of new methods to oil-gas geochemical exploration. Acta Geol. Sin. Ed., 74, 692–696.
- Davidsen, P.I., Sterman, J.D. & Richardson, G.P. (1990). A petroleum life cycle model for the United States with endogenous technology, exploration, recovery, and demand. Syst. Dyn. Rev., 6, 66–93.
- Dou, L.R., Cheng, D.S., Wang, J.J., Rubondo, E.N.T., Kasande, R., Byakagaba, A. & Mugisha, F. (2004). Geochemical significance of seepage oils and bituminous sandstones in the

Albertine graben, Uganda. J. Pet. Geol., 27, 299–312.

- Dowhaniuk, N., Hartter, J., Ryan, S.J., Palace, M.W. & Congalton, R.G. (2018). The impact of industrial oil development on a protected area landscape: demographic and social change at Murchison Falls Conservation Area, Uganda. Popul. Environ., 39, 197–218.
- Drescher, C.F., Schulenberg, S.E. & Smith, C. V. (2014). The deepwater horizon oil spill and the Mississippi gulf coast: Mental health in the context of a technological disaster. Am. J. Orthopsychiatry, 84, 142–151.
- Espinosa, S., Branch, L.C. & Cueva, R. (2014). Road development and the geography of hunting by an Amazonian indigenous group: Consequences for wildlife conservation. PLoS One, 9.
- Esterhuyse, S., Redelinghuys, N. & Kemp, M. (2016). Unconventional oil and gas extraction in South Africa: water linkages within the population–environment–development nexus and its policy implications. Water Int., 41, 409–425.
- Finer, M., Jenkins, C.N., Pimm, S.L., Keane, B. & Ross, C. (2008). Oil and gas projects in the western Amazon: threats to wilderness, biodiversity, and indigenous peoples. PLoS One, 3, e2932.
- Frassy, F., Malanti, P., Marchesi, A., Nodari, F.R., Dalla Via, G., De Paulis, R., Biffi, P.G. & Gianinetto, M. (2015). Satellite remote sensing for hydrocarbon exploration in new venture areas. 2015 Ieee Int. Geosci. Remote Sens. Symp., 2884–2887.
- Gill, D.A., Picou, J.S. & Ritchie, L.A. (2012). The Exxon Valdez and BP oil spills: A comparison of initial social and psychological impacts. Am. Behav. Sci., 56, 3–23.
- Gray, S.M., Booher, C.R., Elliott, K.C., Kramer, D.B., Waller, J.C., Millspaugh, J.J., Kissui, B.M. & Montgomery, R.A. (2019). Research-implementation gap limits the actionability of human-carnivore conflict studies in East Africa. Anim. Conserv.
- Hook, M. & Tang, X. (2013). Depletion of fossil fuels and anthropogenic climate change-A review. Energy Policy, 52, 797–809.
- Jachowski, D.S., Montgomery, R.A., Slotow, R. & Millspaugh, J.J. (2013). Unravelling complex associations between physiological state and movement of A frican elephants. Funct. Ecol., 27, 1166–1175.
- Jobin, W. (2003). Health and equity impacts of a large oil project in Africa. Bull. World Health Organ., 81, 420–426.
- Kleinschroth, F., Healey, J.R., Gourlet-Fleury, S., Mortier, F. & Stoica, R.S. (2017). Effects of logging on roadless space in intact forest landscapes of the Congo Basin. Conserv. Biol., 31, 469–480.

- Kolowski, J.M. & Alonso, A. (2012). Primate Abundance in an Unhunted Region of the Northern Peruvian Amazon and the Influence of Seismic Oil Exploration. Int. J. Primatol.
- Kolowski, J.M., Blake, S., Kock, M.D., Lee, M.E., Henderson, A., Honorez, A. & Alonso, A. (2010). Movements of four forest elephants in an oil concession in Gabon, Central Africa. Afr. J. Ecol., 48, 1134–1138.
- Kotze, N.J. (2002). The Consequences of Road Development in the Golden Gate Highlands National Park, South Africa: Paradise Lost? World Leis. J., 44, 54–60.
- Krichene, M.N. (2006). World crude oil markets: Monetary policy and the recent oil shock. International Monetary Fund.
- Lindsey, P.A., Miller, J.R.B., Petracca, L.S., Coad, L., DIckman, A.J., Fitzgerald, K.H., Flyman, M. V., Funston, P.J., Henschel, P., Kasiki, S., Knights, K., Loveridge, A.J., MacDonald, D.W., Mandisodza-Chikerema, R.L., Nazerali, S., Plumptre, A.J., Stevens, R., Van Zyl, H.W. & Hunter, L.T.B. (2018). More than \$1 billion needed annually to secure Africa's protected areas with lions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A., 115, E10788–E10796.
- Linke, J., Franklin, S.E., Huettmann, F. & Stenhouse, G.B. (2005). Seismic cutlines, changing landscape metrics and grizzly bear landscape use in Alberta. Landsc. Ecol., 20, 811–826.
- Lund, H. (2007). Renewable energy strategies for sustainable development. Energy, 32, 912–919.
- Mirchi, A., Hadian, S., Madani, K., Rouhani, O.M. & Rouhani, A.M. (2012). World energy balance outlook and OPEC production capacity: Implications for global oil security. Energies, 5, 2626–2651.
- Mudumba, T., Heit, D., Jingo, S. & Montgomery, R.A. (n.d.). Configuration and lethality of wire snare poaching. Afr. J. Ecol.
- Mudumba, T., Mohammed, M. & Jingo, S. (2012). Response of elephants to seismic operations. Kampala - Uganda.
- Munshi-South, J., Tchignoumba, L., Brown, J., Abbondanza, N., Maldonado, J.E., Henderson, A. & Alonso, A. (2008). Physiological indicators of stress in African forest elephants (Loxodonta africana cyclotis) in relation to petroleum operations in Gabon, Central Africa. Divers. Distrib., 14, 995–1003.
- Newbold, T., Hudson, L.N., Arnell, A.P., Contu, S., De Palma, A., Ferrier, S., Hill, S.L.L., Hoskins, A.J., Lysenko, I., Phillips, H.R.P., Burton, V.J., Chng, C.W.T., Emerson, S., Gao, D., Pask-Hale, G., Hutton, J., Jung, M., Sanchez-Ortiz, K., Simmons, B.I., Whitmee, S., Zhang, H., Scharlemann, J.P.W. & Purvis, A. (2016). Has land use pushed terrestrial biodiversity beyond the planetary boundary? A global assessment. Science (80-.)., 353, 288 LP – 291.

- Northrup, J.M. & Wittemyer, G. (2013). Characterising the impacts of emerging energy development on wildlife, with an eye towards mitigation. Ecol. Lett., 16, 112–125.
- Nyambuu, U. & Semmler, W. (2014). Trends in the extraction of non-renewable resources: The case of fossil energy. Econ. Model., 37, 271–279.
- O'Connell-Rodwell, C.E., Wood, J.D., Rodwell, T.C., Puria, S., Partan, S.R., Keefe, R., Shriver, D., Arnason, B.T. & Hart, L.A. (2006). Wild elephant (Loxodonta africana) breeding herds respond to artificially transmitted seismic stimuli. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol., 59, 842–850.
- Obi, C.I. (2010). Oil extraction, dispossession, resistance, and conflict in Nigeria's oil-rich Niger Delta. Can. J. Dev. Stud. Can. d'études du développement, 30, 219–236.
- Ogwang, T., Vanclay, F. & van den Assem, A. (2018). Impacts of the oil boom on the lives of people living in the Albertine Graben region of Uganda. Extr. Ind. Soc., 5, 98–103.
- Pelley, J. (2001). Will drilling for oil disrupt the Arctic national wildlife refuge? Environ. Sci. Technol., 35, 240A-247A.
- Plumptre, A.J., Ayebare, S. & Mudumba, T. (2015). An assessment of impacts of oil exploration and appraisal on elephants in Murchison Falls. Kampala Uganda.
- Plumptre, A.J., Mudumba, T. & Mwedde, G. (2014). Elephants and seismic exploration in Murchison Falls National Park. Kampala - Uganda.
- Polus, A. & Tycholiz, W. (2016). Why is it taking so long? Solving the oil extraction equation in Uganda. African Asian Stud., 15, 77–97.
- Ramirez, P. & Mosley, S.B. (2015). Oil and gas wells and pipelines on US wildlife refuges: Challenges for managers. PLoS One, 10.
- Sovacool, B.K. (2007). Environmental damage, abandoned treaties, and fossil-fuel dependence: The coming costs of oil-and-gas exploration in the "1002 area" of the Arctic national wildlife refuge. Environ. Dev. Sustain., 9, 187–201.
- Suárez, E., Zapata-Ríos, G., Utreras, V., Strindberg, S. & Vargas, J. (2013). Controlling access to oil roads protects forest cover, but not wildlife communities: a case study from the rainforest of Yasuní Biosphere Reserve (Ecuador). Anim. Conserv., 16, 265–274.
- Tang, X.G., Su, Z.L., Hu, W.B., Yan, L.J., Zhu, H.X. & Wang, L.J. (2012). Electromagnetic methods for shale gas exploration in southern China. Adv. Metall. Min. Eng., 402, 771–774.
- Uganda. (2008). National oil and gas policy for Uganda. Uganda government policy. 1st edn. Republic of Uganda, Kampala.
- Wildlife Conservation Society. (2016). Nationally threatened Species for Uganda. Uganda.

CHAPTER 2: ACCEPTABILITY OF WILDLIFE POACHING IS PREDICATED UPON SPECIFIC SOCIO-ECONOMIC CHARACTERISTICS

2.1 Abstract

Subsistence poaching threatens the persistence of wildlife populations worldwide as well as the well-being of people, who participate in poaching. Despite the gravity of this issue, little is known of the local acceptability of subsistence poaching, the tools regularly used in the poaching trade, or the wildlife species targeted by poachers. I conducted interviews of 691 households in 36 villages surrounding Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda to gain knowledge of drivers of poaching and demographic profiles of poachers. I assessed the acceptability of tools (e.g., nets, wire snares, spears, wheel traps, and guns) used to poach nine species of wildlife in the national park. I also assessed respondents' perceptions toward wildlife and park authorities as well as their experience with human-wildlife conflict. Conflict with wildlife was the most important factor determining attitudes towards poaching and the tools of the trade. Fewer than 20% of the respondents living within 5 km of the park boundary indicated they ever had been inside the park for any reason. My results affirm current belief that a primary determinant for poaching acceptability among people living alongside wildlife species is the limited flow of benefits for local communities from protected areas. My results improve the capacity of local wildlife managers to address poaching and emphasizes the importance of providing remedies compatible with local livelihoods and conditions to mitigate subsistence poaching.

2.2 Introduction

Poaching is the illegal killing or maiming of wildlife in violation of governing laws and policies (Muth and Bowe, 1998; Duffy et al., 2016). Though poaching often is conflated into one macro

problem, there are at least two distinct types (Eliason, 1999). The first version of poaching involves the illegal taking of animals for various products sold into the black market (Eliason, 1999). For example, species of rhinoceros, in the family *Rhinocerotidae*, are hunted for their horn which is ground into a powder and distributed as an aphrodisiac, whereas elephant (family *Elephantidae*) ivory is sold predominantly for trinkets and sculptures (Douglas-Hamilton, 1987; Leader-Williams, 1993; Martin, 1994; Duffy and St John, 2013; Montesh, 2013). Although this type of poaching receives attention throughout the world, commercial poaching has a small user community when compared to subsistence poaching (Musgrave et al., 1993; Eliason, 1999; Robinson and Bennett, 2004; Duffy et al., 2014). Subsistence poaching involves localized noncommercial illegal take of wildlife typically for meat and cultural purposes to meet basic human needs (Hitchcock, 2000; Kahler and Gore, 2012; Lindsey et al., 2013). This form of poaching is widespread globally and increasing in frequency (Robinson and Bennett, 2002; Wilkie et al., 2005; Watson et al., 2013). Subsistence poaching occurs in every habitat around the world where people consider local wildlife species palatable (Tumusiime et al., 2010; Watson et al., 2013; Fischer et al., 2014). Whereas the main driver of commercial poaching is financial gain, subsistence poaching is predicated upon cultural norms and beliefs that condone poaching (Wake and Vredenburg, 2008; Rizzolo et al., 2017), vague national park boundaries or inadequate law enforcement (MacKenzie et al., 2012), poverty (Naughton-Treves, 2008; Kühl et al., 2009; Mancini et al., 2011; Duffy et al., 2016), poor relationships between local communities and wildlife managers, and human-wildlife conflict (Michalski et al., 2006; Burgoyne and Kelso, 2014; Radovani et al., 2014).

Traditional practices of subsistence poaching typically involve tools fashioned out of locally-available, non-synthetic materials such as wooden spears and snares made from tree bark

(Gray et al., 2018). Increased urbanization and expanding road networks however, make it possible for synthetic materials (such as wires from discarded radial car tires or motorcycle brake cables) to be re-purposed to trap wildlife (Becker et al., 2013; Watson et al., 2013). Snaring is perhaps the most common method used in subsistence poaching around the world for killing terrestrial vertebrates (Lewis and Phiri, 1998; Tumusiime et al., 2010; Watson et al., 2013). By varying the diameter of the noose and the height of the set, snares target species from small rodents to elephants (Tumusiime et al., 2010; Becker et al., 2013). In the savannah and woodland areas of Africa, the most common target however, is wildlife in the infra-order *Ungulata* (Martin et al., 2013; Gray et al., 2017). Given that snares are indiscriminate in what they catch, all comparably-sized wildlife species in a given habitats can be caught as bycatch (Becker et al., 2013). The impact of such inadvertent snaring on species of conservation concern, which typically occur in low densities, as such that it constitute subsistence poaching as a major conservation threat (Rochlitz, 2010).

The illegal nature of subsistence poaching undermines conservation efforts (Duffy and St John, 2013; Lindsey et al., 2013; Watson et al., 2013). For example, unsustainable wildlife harvest due to subsistence poaching can cause local extinction of species (Becker et al., 2013; Kimanzi et al., 2015). Subsistence poaching also exacerbates numerous conservation problems, including mammal population declines, receding wildlife habitats, and can make wildlife populations less resilient due to impacts of growing human populations and the effects of climate change (Wake and Vredenburg, 2008; Bellard et al., 2012; Fischer et al., 2014; Briggs, 2017).

Negative impacts created by subsistence poaching are not exclusive to wild animal populations. Local human communities tend to suffer as a result of subsistence poaching as well. Around the world, people caught in the act of subsistence poaching are subject to fines or jail

time (Balakrishnan and Ndhlovu, 1992; Duffy, 1999; Forsyth and Forsyth, 2012). Consequences can be particularly steep in the Global South where poaching can lead to a life sentence or even the death penalty (Yi-Ming et al., 2000; Yiming et al., 2003; Mogomotsi and Madigele, 2017). Rates of subsistence poaching tend to be high in poverty-stricken communities that lack sufficient sources of protein (Lewis and Phiri, 1998; Wato et al., 2006; Tumusiime et al., 2010; MacKenzie et al., 2012). Each wire snare can only catch one animal and thus several trap lines are needed to increase odds of successful catch (Noss, 2010). Thus, subsistence poaching can be thought of as a high risk-low yield activity, which lends credence to the belief that subsistence poaching is practiced mostly by people with limited alternative livelihoods (Knapp et al., 2017). Given that subsistence poaching is spatially variable and widespread, it is often more difficult to mitigate than commercial poaching (Wato et al., 2006; Harrison et al., 2015). Additionally, unmitigated subsistence poaching can lead to commercialized poaching when more people are drawn into wildlife consumption leading to creation or expansion of game markets (Baldus, 2002; Lindsey et al., 2013; Harrison et al., 2015).

Though subsistence poaching occurs around the world, it is most intense in the Global South and particularly influential in East Africa (Lever, 1983; Steinhart, 1994; Skonhoft and Solstad, 1996; Baldus, 2002). Uganda is a country that experiences high rates of subsistence poaching regionally (Rwetsiba et al., 2014; Harrison et al., 2015; Moreto and Lemieux, 2015). Wildlife conservation depends heavily on local perceptions of wildlife and wildlife managers (Loker et al., 1998; Decker et al., 2012). Little is known, however, of how coupled human and natural systems function with respect to subsistence poaching (Hartter et al., 2016; Kukielka et al., 2016; MacKenzie A. et al., 2017; Salerno et al., 2017). Here I assessed the context and consequences of subsistence poaching in Uganda. My research objectives were to: i) define the

social demographics of subsistence poachers, ii) determine the attitude of the local communities towards wildlife managers, iii) ascertain the acceptability of using common poaching tools to hunt or kill wildlife and level of conflict, and iv) determine the influence of socio-economic factors on poaching acceptability. Understanding the drivers and demographic profiles of communities that partake in subsistence poaching will help inform any strategies to develop alternative income generating economic activities (Zapata Rios, 2001; Engel et al., 2017). Thus, I discuss the implications of this research for improving the co-existence of humans and wildlife in the Global South.

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Study area

Murchison Falls National Park (MFNP) in northwestern Uganda (02°15'N 31°48'E; Fig. 2.1) has experienced high rates of subsistence poaching in the form of wire snaring (Oneka, 1995). First established as a game reserve in 1926 and a national park in 1952, MFNP (3,893 km²) is flanked to the east by Karuma Wildlife Reserve (820 km², gazetted in 1964) and to the south by Bugungu Wildlife Reserve (473 km, gazetted in 1964). Together, these protected areas comprise the broader Murchison Falls Conservation Area (5,308 km²). Although the exact rates of poaching are difficult to establish, it is thought that subsistence poaching occurs here at the global peak and has led to the local extinction of white rhinoceros (*Ceratotherium simum*) and the decline of numerous species of wildlife in and around MFNP (Savidge, 1961; Kato and Okumu, 2008; Mudumba and Jingo, 2015).

Between 1987 and 2006, a war in the greater MFNP landscape restricted local people to camps (Harrison et al., 2015; Dowhaniuk et al., 2017). The absence of major human activities on habitat near the park boundary led to a dramatic increase in wildlife populations (Ruddy and

Vlassenroot, 1999; Kato and Okumu, 2008; Wanyama et al., 2014). The people returned to their villages on the periphery of MFNP upon the war's conclusion in 2006 (Arieff and Ploch, 2014; Dowhaniuk et al., 2017). Upon this return, many found a lack of opportunity for gainful employment and consequently, these districts are among the poorest in Uganda.

In contrast to the war period where human activity was limited in MFNP landscape, since 2007 areas within and surrounding MFNP have been developed for oil extraction, leading to rapid increase in human activity and infrastructure in close proximity to the park (Watkins, 2010; Uganda Wildlife Authority, 2014). The extractive oil industry, with accompanying workers, equipment, and roads has been found to be a gateway for increased subsistence poaching within protected areas (Muth and Bowe, 1998). The establishment of new roads, for instance, enables people to travel further and faster in exploration of new hunting areas (Tietje and Ruff, 1983; Suárez et al., 2009; Tigner et al., 2014).

There are 76 species of mammals that inhabit MFNP (Plumptre et al., 2007) including the largest remaining population of the endangered Rothschild's giraffe (*Giraffa camelopardalis rothschildi*; Brenneman et al., 2009; Wanyama et al., 2014; Muneza et al., 2016), elephants, large populations of many species of terrestrial ungulates, and several species of large carnivores. Abundance of large carnivores in MFNP plummeted between 1999 and 2009. For example estimates of the African lion (*Panthera leo*) population indicated a >40% decline over this period (Omoya et al., 2014). Murchison Falls National Park is representative of African wildlife parks for its location in the Albertine rift which has more than 40% of the protected areas in the region, and also for the sort of human-wildlife issues that one might encounter in other places in the region and beyond. Therefore, studying subsistence poaching in MFNP will provide information

that could aid the formulation of solutions to manage or mitigate subsistence poaching wherever it occurs.



Figure 2.1. The study area for my research examining acceptability of subsistence poaching tools in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. The surrounding parishes in which this research was situated are also featured.

2.3.2 Data collection

I conducted semi-structured face-to-face interviews with residents of villages bordering MFNP between July and August 2017. I trained eight local residents fluent in all local languages (Swahili, Luganda, Acholi, Alur, Lugbara, Lugungu and Lunyoro) as research assistants, to administer these interviews. By conducting the interviews in the native language of each interviewee, I reduced potential bias in the selection of respondents, as well as in their responses due to differing educational level (Converse, 1976; Krosnick et al., 2001). Approvals for field use of the survey instrument was obtained from the Michigan State University Institutional Review Board (approval number x17-593e; see Figure 2.4). I also obtained clearance to conduct interviews from the local councils in the parishes (a territorial division composed of at least two villages) around MFNP. I piloted the survey on 30 households, prior to formal data collection, so as to improve the clarity of the questions. I excluded households that were part of the pilot from the main study. Interviews lasted on average 25 minutes.

In each parish, I restricted the interviews to those villages that bordered MFNP, Bugungu Wildlife Reserve, or Karuma Wildlife Reserve (Uganda Bureau of Statistics, 2012; Fig. 2.1). I randomly sampled households from a list of all village households generated by the local council leader. Once a household was selected, I randomly determined whether to interview the head-of-household or the spouse. Where there was no spouse, I interviewed the oldest household member. All participants were informed about the objectives of the study in advance, signed a consent form and were able to terminate the interview at any time. Such an informed and voluntary participation of interviewees, and the option to terminate the interview has been shown to improve the accuracy of responses (Ritchie et al., 2013).

The questionnaire had four sections including:

i) Wildlife-related activities and interactions. In this section I sought to identify the types of interactions that people had with wildlife in the area.

ii) Attitudes towards wildlife. In this section I asked questions that evaluated the respondent's attitude towards wildlife.

iii) Wildlife interactions in the village. Here, I evaluated the types of interactions between people and wildlife at the village-level as well as questions regarding local people's attitudes specific to nine common species of wildlife around MFNP (Ayebare, 2011; Omoya et al., 2014; Wanyama et al., 2014). and

iv) Benefits and respondent demographics. In this section I assessed respondent demographic information and inquired as to potential benefits deriving from oil and oil infrastructure on the respondent's land.

2.3.3 Data analysis

Respondents were asked to classify their interactions with nine common species either as observed, seen tracks, threatened, crops / livestock destroyed, person injured / killed or other. I counted the number of responses for each species and also report number of responses for each kind of interaction. The 691 respondents each scoring in a nine by six grid provided 6,679 responses to this question.

To assess the acceptability of tools to poach wildlife, I scored the respondents' attitudes towards five instruments (nets, wire snares, spears, wheel traps, and guns). These are the five most commonly used tools to poach nine common wildlife species in MFNP. For each species and each poaching instrument, I scored answers of *Not acceptable* as a 0 and answers of *Somewhat acceptable*, *Acceptable*, and *Very acceptable* as a 1, 2, and 3, respectively. I excluded from analysis responses of *No opinion as* indicative of either lack of knowledge or lack of willingness to answer. I then calculated an acceptability to use poaching tool index for each respondent based upon these answers. This index ranged from 0 (all poaching instruments unacceptable for all species) to 135 (all poaching instruments very acceptable for all species). Hereafter I refer to this variable as "poaching acceptability".

I examined the distribution of poaching acceptability by inspecting the central tendency, dispersion, and form to guide secondary data analysis (Vaske et al., 2006). I analyzed poaching acceptability using a hurdle model, which is specifically designed to analyze count response data that are zero-inflated (Militino, 2010). Hurdle models consist of two sub-models. The first sub-model assumes data arise from a binomial distribution and estimates the probability of a given outcome occurring (i.e., a binary response). The second sub-model assumes data arise from a count distribution and evaluates the value of an outcome, given that it occurred (i.e., a count response; Militino, 2010). Here, the binomial sub-model assessed whether a respondent expressed beliefs that poaching was unacceptable (i.e., a value of zero) or at least partly acceptable (i.e., a poaching acceptability > zero). The count sub-model assessed the degree to which a respondent reported poaching as acceptable, given that poaching was at least partly acceptable. Due to the dispersion in my data, I used a negative binomial distribution for the count sub-model (Greene, 2008).

Socio-economic dynamics (Dickman, 2010; Rizzolo et al., 2017), the presence of extractive industries such as oil (Suárez et al., 2009), and the nature of human-wildlife interaction (Loker et al., 1998; Engel et al., 2017) influence the intensity and valence of attitudes towards wildlife. Therefore, I used the hurdle model to evaluate respondents' poaching acceptability as a function of nine explanatory variables that encompassed respondent's socio-economic status, demographics, benefits from the park and oil industry, and interactions with wildlife (Table 2.1). These variables were calculated from survey responses (see Appendix 2.1 for survey questions) and are described in detail in Table 2.1. Demographic and socio-economic variables included the duration the respondent lived in a village (Duration_Village), the annual household income (Income), and whether or not the household owned livestock

(Own_Livestock). Variables related to the oil industry included whether a household member was employed by the oil company (Employed_Oil) and whether oil infrastructure existed on a household's land (Oil_Land). Wildlife and park-related variables included the degree of conflict a household member had experienced with wildlife (Conflict_Wildlife), whether any household income comes from MFNP (Benefit_Park), and the respondent's attitude towards MFNP park authority (Attitude). Conflict with wildlife primarily referred to depredation of goats by large carnivores. Many of the goats were originally donated by the Uganda Wildlife Authority (UWA; the agency in charge of wildlife in the country) to local residents as an alternative source of protein to wild game (Mertzlufft, 2014). Others were raised by locals inspired by the experience of raising those first donated goats. Anecdotal reports indicated goats around MFNP were subject to depredation by large carnivores. Consequently, the provision of these goats actually exacerbated human-wildlife conflict.

All the above variables could influence overall acceptability of poaching (i.e., unacceptable or partly acceptable, a binomial response) and the degree to which poaching was acceptable (i.e., a count response, given a respondent was at least partly accepting of poaching). Therefore, I included all variables in both sub-models of the hurdle model. Prior to modeling, I checked for collinearity among explanatory variables using variance inflation factors, which were all well below threshold levels (i.e., < 2.0; Zuur et al., 2010). My interviews were spatially clustered around villages; I checked for spatial autocorrelation in model residuals using a spline correlogram (Rhodes et al., 2009). I interpreted model results using a cutoff of P < 0.05 for statistical significance. All analyses were conducted using the R environment (Version 3.4.1) in RStudio (RStudio Team 2015; R Core Team 2017) and the packages *car* (Fox and Weisberg, 2017), and *pscl* (Jackman et al., 2017).

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Demographic and socio-economic characteristics

I completed 691 interviews (42.7% female respondents) in 36 parishes (mean = 19.4 per parish, standard deviation [SD] = 9.2, range = 2 - 38). Respondents reported having lived in their village for an average of 25.1 years (SD = 16.5) and in their current residence for an average of 10.6 years (SD = 10.3; Table 2.1). Respondents lived with an average of 3.7 other members above the age of 18 in their household and 4.4 residents below 18 years of age (Table 2.1). Nearly half of the respondents (48.1%, n = 332) reported household income greater than 936,000 Ugandan shillings, with 35.3% reporting incomes 275,000 – 936,000 shillings, and 16.6% reporting incomes <270,000 shillings (Table 2.1; in 2017, 3800 shillings \approx \$1USD). Greater than half (74.0%, n = 471) of respondents indicated they owned livestock, 87.8% which were goats $(n = 10^{10})$ 397 of all respondents who owned livestock; Table 2.1). A majority of respondents (71.3%, n =478) maintained a peasant livelihood. The second-most common occupation reported was related to business (8.7%, n = 58). Few respondents (13.0%, n = 89) were formally employed by the oil industry and even fewer (5.8%, n = 40) reported having oil infrastructure positioned on household land (Table 2.1). Direct income from MFNP was received by 8.0% (n = 54; Table 2.1) of the respondents. A small proportion of respondents' household members (11.4%, n = 659) had visited MFNP either legally or illegally (Table 2.1). For those individuals who had been inside MFNP, park visits had occurred on average 37.1 months prior to the study (SD = 83.4, range: 1 -480).

2.4.2 Park and wildlife related responses

Olive baboon (*Papio anubis*), African buffalo (*Syncerus caffer*), African elephant, and Ugandan kob (*Kobus kob thomasi*) were species most frequently reported observed by respondents from the point at which they moved into their village (Table 2.2). Slightly greater than 13% (n = 886) of interactions with wildlife were reported as threatening. Elephants were the most frequently reported threatening species (27.7%, n = 245) whereas waterbuck (*Kobus ellipsiprymnus*) were the least (1.5%, n = 13). Baboons and lions were the two species reported to most often injure or kill people. Livestock and crop destruction occurred 18.0% (n = 1200) of the time when wildlife moved onto community land. Baboons (29.1%, n = 349), elephants (22.5%, n = 270), and buffalo (19.0%, n = 227) were disproportionately mentioned as species involved in crop raiding (Fig. 2.2).



Figure 2.2 The nature of interactions that respondents had with nine common species of wildlife since they moved into their village adjacent to Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. The height of the bar (Frequency) is the number of times each species was reported by respondents of the study.

2.4.3 Attitudes towards use of poaching tools

Of the 691 interviews, 42.0% (n = 290) included complete answers for the 15 survey questions that were used to model poaching acceptability. No spatial autocorrelation was evident in the model residuals (Figure 2.3), suggesting spatial dependence was adequately captured by the model's explanatory variables. The data were zero-inflated, with 86.2% (n = 250 of 290) of respondents indicating that all poaching instruments were unacceptable (i.e., a poaching acceptability of zero). The non-zero poaching acceptability data were widely dispersed (mean = 37.6, sd = 16.8, range 6-135). In the binomial sub-model, three variables had a statistically

significant (P < 0.05) relationship with poaching acceptability (Table 2.3). The probability that a respondent condoned poaching was positively related to increased experience of wildlife conflict and duration of having lived at the village, whereas it was lower among respondents owning livestock (Table 2.3). In the count sub-model, two variables had a statistically significant association with poaching acceptability (Table 2.3). Poaching acceptability decreased as respondents' attitude toward MFNP became more positive and increased when a respondent owned livestock (Table 2.3).

2.5 Discussion

My results affirm that perceptions of human-wildlife conflict was the most statistically significant determinant of acceptability to poaching. I found that the majority (88.6%, n = 659) of the respondents had never visited nor received any direct income from the national park. More than half of respondents owned livestock, with goats being the predominant livestock type. Elephants were disproportionately reported by respondents to destroy crops, and injure or kill people, even though they accounted for just 28% (n = 179) of reported human-wildlife interaction. Survey respondents' poaching acceptability was higher when they had experienced a negative interaction with wildlife, owned livestock and had lived longer in the village. For those respondents who found poaching acceptable, the degree to which poaching was acceptable increased with negative interactions with wildlife and when they owned livestock but decreased when the respondents had a positive attitude towards national park management.

Conflict with wildlife increased acceptability of poaching around MFNP. In this way, my results are congruent with assessments of people who perceived wildlife as a threat to their wellbeing typically have negativistic attitudes towards wildlife (Treves and Naughton-Treves, 1999). I found that human-wildlife conflict around MFNP is largely provoked by elephants and

baboons, and much less by predators. Baboons are considered to be vermin in Uganda and problem animals are regularly managed by a certified Vermin Control Officer (The Republic of Uganda, 1996). On the contrary, elephants are a protected species. Murchison Falls National Park is the only national park in Uganda, and one of the few across Africa, with increasing populations of elephants and ungulates following the dramatic, continent-wide large mammal declines in the 1970s (Craigie et al., 2010; Rwetsiba and Nuwamanya, 2010; Chase et al., 2016). Therefore, human-wildlife conflict involving elephants could increase if left unmitigated.

Positive relationships between local people and park managers is considered important for the co-existence of people and wildlife (Frank et al., 2015; Samia et al., 2015). I found that when the people living around MFNP found poaching acceptable, the magnitude of acceptability declined when they reported having a good relationship with the national park management. However, local people's attitudes toward national park managers had little impact on whether one found poaching acceptable or not. This could mean the measures of national park authorities to engage with local communities are biased towards a group that is already inclined to poach. Thus, managers should not exclusively focus on working with people popularly known as "reformed poachers" at the expense of interacting with other locals who could still be recruited into poaching (Kato and Okumu, 2008).

An emergent and additional source of direct potential benefit from the park involves the oil industry. Revenues from the extractive industry are capable of minimizing the local community's dependence on the park's natural resources occurred with palm oil in southeast Asia (Koh and Wilcove, 2007). I found no relationship between the benefits from the oil industry (presence of oil infrastructure on one's land and employment in oil industry) and poaching acceptability. This disparity could arise because the oil industry had offered few opportunities for the local populace

given its infancy, and thus I could not detect its impacts in this study. I found few (13% of respondents) people were directly employed in the oil industry and even fewer (5.8%) leased land to oil companies to put infrastructure. The oil industry is a highly specialized industry with unskilled workers relegated to casual jobs (Figgis and Standen, 2005). Therefore, for citizens to benefit from proximity to industrial developments, they need to be trained in the basic requisite skills in the oil industry. At the time of my study, there was no evidence that proceeds from the oil industry were changing local people's attitudes wildlife.

Ownership of livestock is a major predictor of local people's attitude towards wildlife (Mir et al., 2015; Schieltz and Rubenstein, 2016). I found that goats were the most-commonly owned livestock type in my study. Contrary to other studies of conflict between livestock owners and wildlife, individuals who owned livestock had lower probability of accepting poaching than those who did not own livestock. My results add evidence that benefits perceived to result from wildlife influence attitudes towards wildlife (Browne-Nuñez, 2010; Nyhus, 2016). I also show that even modest benefits can be influential. I found less than ten percent of the households interviewed received direct benefits from the national park and I was able to detect the link between positive attitudes towards wildlife resulting from benefiting from the national park. The lack of direct benefits associated with living alongside wildlife has been previously thought to undermine willingness of people to tolerate wildlife (Karanth et al., 2013; Decker and Chase, 2016). For respondents who found poaching acceptable, even by a small margin, the level of poaching acceptability increased when they owned livestock. This negativity cannot be explained solely by loss of livestock to carnivores, as the depredation of goats around MFNP was estimated to be low, with less than ten cases had been confirmed by UWA in the period between 2009 -2017 (Mudumba and Jingo, 2015). The more likely reason owning livestock made the degree of

poaching acceptability higher is the perceived risk of potential losses, which is known to result in resentment for wildlife (Naughton-Treves and Treves, 2005; Nsonsi et al., 2018).

There is growing evidence that limiting the interaction of people and wildlife exacerbates human-wildlife conflict (Weladji and Tchamba, 2003; Woodroffe et al., 2005). I found that most people living in the neighborhood of MFNP had never been inside of the national park. Those respondents who had been inside the park had been there more than three years before my study, during the time of oil exploration inside the park when many casual laborers were hired for seasonal jobs (Mudumba and Jingo, 2015; Plumptre et al., 2015). Outreach to local communities can generate improved conservation practice (Steinmetz et al., 2014). Active participation of local people in conservation decision-making can foster positive attitudes for wildlife by the community (Kato and Okumu, 2008; Danielsen et al., 2009) and better working relationship with park management (Loker et al., 1998; Riley and Decker, 2000; Carter et al., 2014), but can result in improved livelihoods due to increased access to ecotourism opportunities in the area and thus reduced direct subsistence dependence on natural resources (Archabald and Naughton-treves, 2001; Romanach et al., 2007).

In conclusion, my study adds to the evidence that human-wildlife conflict is a key predictor of attitudes towards wildlife, yet perceived benefits from wildlife can improve positive attitudes towards wildlife. Effectiveness of wildlife conservation fundamentally is affected by perceived benefits and costs of living with wildlife by those people living most closely to the situation (Decker et al., 2012). The importance of providing remedies to human-wildlife conflict that are compatible with local livelihoods avoid worsening the problem. My results are representative of many situations elsewhere with similar conditions. For example, modifying the nature of interaction between humans and carnivore was found to be a good management

strategy where humans lived in close proximity with predators in central India (Treves and Karanth, 2003). I recommend providing opportunities for positive reinforcement of communities living with wildlife as well as specific interventions compatible with the cultural heritage and livelihoods of local people. Additionally, engaging local people as early as possible, based on the fact that positive beliefs for wildlife are developed through time, should lead to greater tolerance of living with wildlife (Inskip et al., 2016). These types of measures will be necessary to conserve wildlife in perpetuity.

2.6 Acknowledgements

I am grateful to P. Luhonda and W. Tumusiime who participated in data collection for this study. H. Kasozi, E. Sande, and R. Kityo provided comments on an earlier draft of this manuscript. This study was supported by Wildlife Conservation Network [Pat J. Miller Fellowship], World Wide Fund for Nature [grant number SZ42], The Rufford Foundation [grant number 23564-1] and African Wildlife Foundation [grant number AWF-001 (Mudumba)]. RJM was supported by an NSF Graduate Research Fellowship. APPENDIX

APPENDIX

Table 2.1. Names, descriptions, and value summaries of explanatory variables used in models predicting poaching acceptability in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. These data were collected via 691 face-to-face interviews with local people inhabiting villages adjacent to the park in July and August of 2017

Variable	Description	Value Type and Summary
Attitude	Respondent's attitude towards	Likert scale (3)
	MFNP park authority including how	Strongly disagree (A): $N = 284$,
	they managed wildlife and	41.1%
	responded to wildlife conflict	Agree (B) : $N = 107, 15.5\%$
		Strongly agree (C): $N = 288, 41.7\%$)
		No response (NR): $N = 12, 1.7\%$
Duration_Village	Number of years respondent has	Numerical
	lived in the current village	Mean $= 25.1$,
		SD = 16.1,
		Range = 1-86
Occupation	The income-generating activity that	Categorical
	the respondent spent the most time	Business: $N = 60, 8.7\%$
	on	Fisherman: $N = 50$, 7.2% Pastoralist:
		N = 25, 3.6%
		Peasant: $N = 493, 71.3\%$
		Other: $N = 34, 4.9\%$
_		NR ($N = 29, 4.2\%$
Income	Annual household income	Categorical
		<2/0,000*: N = 109,15.8%
		2/5,000-936,000: N = 236, 34.2%
		> 936,000: <i>N</i> = 314, 45.4%
		NR: $N = 32, 4.6\%$
Own_Livestock	Whether a respondent's household	Binary
	owned livestock	No: $N = 229, 32.1\%$
		Yes: $N = 449, 65.0\%$
	XX71 (1 1 1 1 1 1	NR: $N = 20, 2.9\%$
Benefit_Park	whether any household income	Binary
	comes from MFNP	No: $N = 612, 88.6\%$
		1 es: N = 55, 8.0%
Conflict Wildlife	Whather a household member had	INK. IV = 24, 5.5%
Connict_wildlife	whether a nousehold member had	Numerical Maan = 4.0
	livesteek or been injured or killed	Nteall = 4.0, SD = 3.7
	hy wildlife	SU = 5.7, Bongo = 0.27
	by whathe	Kange = 0-27

Table 2.1 (cont'd)

Employed_Oil	Whether the household member was	Binary						
	formally employed by the oil	No: <i>N</i> = 591, 85.5%						
	company	Yes: <i>N</i> = 90, 13.0%, NR: <i>N</i> = 10,						
		1.4%						
Oil_Land	Whether there was oil infrastructure	Binary						
	on household-owned land	No: <i>N</i> = 651, 94.2%						
		Yes: $N = 40, 5.8\%$						
		NR: $N = 0, 0\%$						
*Income in Ugandan shillings (3800 shillings \approx \$1USD)								

Table 2.2. The experiences that the respondents had with wildlife since they moved into their village. %spp is the ratio of experience such as observed the species over the total number of experiences for that species given by the respondent. %all spp is the ratio of the species experience over the total for that experience over all other species.

	Baboon		Buffalo		Elephant		Hartebeest		
	%spp	% all spp	%spp	% all spp	%spp	% all spp	%spp	% all spp	
Observed	40.9	17.7	44.2	16.0	35.3	14.88	53.2	11.0	
Seen tracks or signs	13.3	29.3	12.0	22.0	12.3	26.2	3.3	3.5	
Threatened	4.0	6.3	17.3	23.0	18.1	27.7	34.5	26.0	
Crops / livestock destroyed	24.9	29.1	19.4	19.9	19.9	22.5	7.8	4.3	
Person injured / killed	17.0	33.4	7.2	11.8	14.4	27.4	1.1	1.0	
	Hyaena		Kob		Leopard		Lion		Waterbuck
	%spp	% all spp	%spp	% all spp	%spp	% all spp	%spp	% all spp	%spp
Observed	60.5	5.5	75.1	14.8	43.3	6.0	45.5	6.3	73.2
Seen tracks or signs	4.1	1.9	7.7	7.7	3.4	2.4	5.6	3.9	6.0

Table 2.2 (cont'd)

Threatened	5.7	1.9	5.2	3.7	4.9	2.8	15.2	7.7	3.7
Crops / livestock destroyed	19.3	4.8	10.3	5.5	13.2	4.9	15.8	5.7	14.8
Person injured / killed	10.4	4.2	1.4	1.3	13.4	8.4	18.3	11.5	2.0

Table 2.3 Model parameter estimates, standard errors, and statistical significance from a hurdle model predicting poaching acceptability. The model was fit to data from 290 surveys administered in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda in July and August 2017. See Table A.1 for variable descriptions. P-values: *< 0.05 **< 0.01 ***< 0.001

<u>Binomial sub-model</u>		Count sub-	<u>model</u>	
Estimate	SE	Estimate	SE	
-3.12***	0.69	3.07***	0.39	
0.10*	0.04	0.04*	0.02	
0.03**	0.01	0.00	0.01	
1.15	0.62	0.11	0.37	
0.80	0.61	0.64	0.36	
-0.90	0.84	-0.49	0.71	
-0.98	0.62	-0.84*	0.35	
-0.27	0.39	-0.80***	0.23	
0.93	0.59	0.24	0.44	
-0.97*	0.39	0.45*	0.22	
0.54	0.65	-0.11	0.43	
-0.80	0.63	0.16	0.52	
	Binomial st Estimate -3.12*** 0.10* 0.03** 1.15 0.80 -0.90 -0.98 -0.27 0.93 -0.97* 0.54 -0.80	Binomial sub-model Estimate SE -3.12*** 0.69 0.10* 0.04 0.03** 0.01 1.15 0.62 0.80 0.61 -0.90 0.84 -0.98 0.62 -0.27 0.39 0.93 0.59 -0.97* 0.39 0.54 0.65 -0.80 0.63	Binomial sub-model Count sub- Estimate SE Estimate -3.12*** 0.69 3.07*** 0.10* 0.04 0.04* 0.03** 0.01 0.00 1.15 0.62 0.11 0.80 0.61 0.64 -0.90 0.84 -0.49 -0.98 0.62 -0.84* -0.27 0.39 -0.80*** 0.93 0.59 0.24 -0.97* 0.39 0.45* 0.54 0.65 -0.11 -0.80 0.63 0.16	

^AThe reference category for Annual_Income was Low; thus, model parameters represent the effect of Medium and High income compared to Low income (Table A.1). ^BThe reference category for Attitude_Park was Negative; thus, model parameters represent the effect of Positive and Very Positive compared to a Negative attitude (Table A.1). ^YThe reference category was No for all Yes/No variables, thus model parameters represent the effect of answering Yes compared to No

Figure 2.3. Spline correlogram showing spatial autocorrelation among model residuals as a function of distance in kilometers. My research examining acceptability of using poaching tools in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda was clustered around villages and so I checked for spatial autocorrelation in model residuals. The 95% confidence envelope consistently overlaps zero, indicating a lack of spatial autocorrelation among model residuals.



Figure 2.4. Questionnaire used to interview respondents during the research examining acceptability of using poaching tools in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda.

MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY

2017.

Sheet No. GPS Position (UTM) E...... Interviewer...... Date (D/M/Y)....../.................. Figure 2.4. (cont'd) Village..... Parish.....

WILDLIFE-RELATED ACTIVITIES AND INTERACTIONS IN YOUR VILLAGE

1. Please indicate which, if any, of the following types of interactions with wildlife you or a member of your household have experienced? (*Choose ALL that apply*)

	Yo	urself	Member of H	ousehold
Observed wildlife in the wild	[]	[]
Heard about other people being threatened or killed by wildlife	[]	[]
Know a friend or neighbour threatened or killed by wildlife	[]	[]
Hunted wildlife	[]	[]
Heard of wildlife being killed by park management	[]	[]
Heard about livestock threatened or killed by wildlif	e[]	[]
My livestock was threatened or killed by wildlife	[]	[]
Have been personally threatened by wildlife Other types of experiences:	[]]]
	Observed wildlife in the wild Heard about other people being threatened or killed by wildlife Know a friend or neighbour threatened or killed by wildlife Hunted wildlife Heard of wildlife being killed by park management Heard about livestock threatened or killed by wildlife My livestock was threatened or killed by wildlife Have been personally threatened by wildlife Other types of experiences:	YouObserved wildlife in the wild[Heard about other people being threatened or killed[by wildlife[Know a friend or neighbour threatened or killed[by wildlife[Hunted wildlife[Heard of wildlife being killed by park management[Heard about livestock threatened or killed by wildlife[My livestock was threatened or killed by wildlife[Have been personally threatened by wildlife[Other types of experiences:[YourselfObserved wildlife in the wild[Heard about other people being threatened or killed[by wildlife[Know a friend or neighbour threatened or killed[by wildlife[Hunted wildlife[Heard of wildlife being killed by park management[Heard about livestock threatened or killed by wildlife]Heard about livestock threatened or killed by wildlife]Have been personally threatened by wildlife[Other types of experiences:	YourselfMember of HObserved wildlife in the wild[][Heard about other people being threatened or killed[][by wildlife[][Know a friend or neighbour threatened or killed[][by wildlife[][Hunted wildlife[][Heard of wildlife being killed by park management[][Heard about livestock threatened or killed by wildlife[][Have been personally threatened by wildlife[][Other types of experiences:

2. Since you moved into the village, have you experienced any of the following?

Species	Observed	Seen tracks or signs	Threatened	Crops / livestock destroyed	Person injured / killed	Other
Kob						
Hartebeest						
Waterbuck						
Baboon						
Hyena						
Buffalo						
Leopard						
Lion						
Elephant						
All wildlife in general						

GENERAL ATTITUDES TOWARDS WILDLIFE INYOUR VILLAGE

Figure 2.4. (cont'd)

3. How has the population (numbers of animals) of the following wildlife species in your village changed during the past five years?(*Choose only ONE option for each species*)

Species	Decreased greatly	Decreased somewhat	Remained about the same	Increased somewhat	Increased greatly	Don't know
Buffalo						
Giraffe						
Kob						
Hyena						
Lion						
Elephant						
Leopard						
Hartebeest						
Waterbuck						
All wildlife in general						

4. What is your first reaction when the following wild animals' species attacks or threatens <u>your</u> <u>livestock</u>?

Species responsible	Nothing		Report to local leader		Report to park / police authorities		Mobilize locals to chase it away		Mobilize locals to kill animal	
	Threaten	Attack	Threaten	Attack	Threaten	Attack	Threaten	Attack	Threaten	Attack
Kob										
Hartebeest										
Waterbuck										
Giraffe										
Baboon										
Hyena										
Buffalo										
Leopard										
Lion										
Elephant										
All wildlife										
in general										

5. What is your first reaction when the following wild animals' attack or threaten people?
| Species
responsible | Species Nothing
responsible | | Report (
local lea | to
der | Report (
police
authorit | to park /
ies | Mobilize
to chase
away | e locals
it | Mobiliz
to kill a | e locals
nimal |
|------------------------|--------------------------------|--------|-----------------------|-----------|--------------------------------|------------------|------------------------------|----------------|----------------------|-------------------|
| | Threaten | Attack | Threaten | Attack | Threaten | Attack | Threaten | Attack | Threaten | Attack |
| Kob | | | | | | | | | | |
| Hartebeest | | | | | | | | | | |
| Waterbuck | | | | | | | | | | |
| Giraffe | | | | | | | | | | |
| Baboon | | | | | | | | | | |
| Hyena | | | | | | | | | | |
| Buffalo | | | | | | | | | | |
| Leopard | | | | | | | | | | |
| Lion | | | | | | | | | | |
| Elephant | | | | | | | | | | |
| All wildlife | | | | | | | | | | |
| in general | | | | | | | | | | |

- 6. There are epizootic diseases as a result of wildlife in my village that can be transmitted to human and livestock. (*Tick all that Apply except* 5(a) and 5(f) that are stand-alone)
 - 5(a) [] No, I do not agree
 - 5(b) [] I have heard about wildlife diseases in my village
 - 5(c) [] I have lost livestock to wildlife diseases
 - 5(d) [] People have fallen sick due to wildlife diseases in my village
 - 5(e) [] People have been killed by wildlife diseases
 - 5(f) [] No Opinion

RELATED INTERACTIONS IN YOUR VILLAGE

Reponses are coded as (-2) strongly disagree, (-1) disagree, (0) Neither Agree or Disagree, (+1) agree, and (+2) strongly agree for analysis.

7. Interactions between wildlife and people is something new and novel in my village? *Strongly disagree* Neither Agree or Disagree Strongly agree

-2 1 0 +1 +2

8. Member(s) of my household are at risk from wildlife in the villages that I live, work, or recreate? *Strongly disagree Neither Agree or Disagree Strongly agree*

-2 1 0 +1 +2

9. All the risks associated with living with wildlife are well understood by the wildlife managers and experts?

	Strongly disagree		Neither Agree or Disagree		Strongly agree		
	-2	1	0	+1	+2		
10.	10. My community can live with crop or livestock damage associated with wildlife over Strongly disagree Neither Agree or Disagree Strongly disagree						
	-2	1	0	+1	+2		
11.	My community can li time?	ve witł	n the risk of being <u>threatened</u>	l or in	jured associated with wildlife or	ver	
	Strongly disagree		Neither Agree or Disagree		Strongly agree		
	-2	1	0	+1	+2		
12.	My community can li Strongly disagree	ve with	n the risk to <u>health or death</u> a Neither Agree or Disagree	associa	ted with wildlife with over time Strongly agree	e?	
	-2	1	0	+1	+2		
13.	My community has go Strongly disagree	ot a goo	od working relationship with Neither Agree or Disagree	n the p	ark authorities? Strongly agree		
	-2	1	0	+1	+2		
14.	14. The people who benefit from wildlife in the park are the same people who are exposed to the potential risks of living with wildlife?Strongly disagree Neither Agree or Disagree Strongly agree						
	-2	1	0	+1	+2		

15. We would like to know whether you want the following wildlife populations in your village to increase, decrease or remain at its current level over the next five years. (*please choose ONLY ONE option for each species*)

Species	Decrease greatly	Decrease somewhat	Remain at its current level	Increase somewhat	Increase greatly	No Opinion
Kob						
Hartebeest						
Waterbuck						

Giraffe			
Baboon			
Hyena			
Buffalo			
Leopard			
Lion			
Elephant			
All wildlife			
in general			

- **16.** How important is it to you personally that the wildlife population trend match your response to the question 17 above?
 - 16(a) [] Very <u>Un</u>important
 - 16(b) [] Somewhat <u>Un</u>important
 - 16(c) [] Neither Important nor Unimportant
 - 16(d) [] Somewhat Important
 - 16(e) [] Very Important
 - 16(f) [] No Opinion
- **17.** What tools/methods are used for hunting animals in the village? *Please tick all those that you know*

Species	Nets	Wire snare	Spear	Wheel traps	Guns	Other
Kob						
Hartebeest						
Waterbuck						
Baboon						
Hyena						
Buffalo						
Leopard						
Lion						
Elephant						
All wildlife in general						

18. What is your attitude towards the use of the following tools or methods for hunting the species below?

Fill up all gaps in this table. For each species and tool, answer can be: (NA) Not acceptable, (SA) Some-what acceptable, (NO) No opinion, (A) Acceptable, (VA) Very acceptable.

Species	Nets	Wire snare	Spear	Wheel traps	Guns	Other
Kob						
Hartebeest						
Waterbuck						
Baboon						
Hyena						
Buffalo						
Leopard						
Lion						
Elephant						
All wildlife						
in general						

OIL EXTRACTION IN YOUR VILLAGE

19.	Is there oil infrastruct	ure on	your land?				
	Yes [] No []						
20.	How far is the nearest	oil in	frastructure from your house	?	metres		
21.	Are you/have you or a	ny me	ember of your household bee	en emp	loyed by the oil companies?		
	Yes [] No []						
	21(a). If Yes, what wa	s the	duration of the employment?	?	Months		
	21(b). What was the a	verage	e monthly salary or wage?		/=		
22.	What are the major co	ncern	s, if any, you have about oil	explora	ation and extraction in your		
	village?				-		
	22(a). How might the	conce	rns above (Qn. 22) be addres	ssed?			
23.	The oil exploration an	d extr	action in my village will inc	rease tl	ne frequency of human-wildlife		
	interaction?				1 5		
	Strongly disagree		Neither Agree or Disagree		Strongly agree		
	2	1	0	. 1			
24	-2	1	U 	+1			
24.	The effects of oil expl	oratio	n and extraction in my villag	ge to w	indiffe largely have been positive?		
	Strongly disagree		Neither Agree or Disagree		Strongly agree		
	-2	1	0	+1	+2		
25.	Oil exploration and ex	tractio	on in my village has improve	ed the l	Stress by respectively village?		
	sirongiy alsagree		weimer Agree or Disagree		Strongly agree		
	-2	1	0	+1	+2		

26.

27. The oil exploration and extraction in my village will have a positive effect on the current human-wildlife interaction in the future?

	Strongly disagree	Ne	ither Agree or Dis	sagree	Strongly agree	
	-2	1	0	+1	+2	
28.	Overall, the long-tervillage will be bener	rm impacts of ficial?	f oil exploration a	nd extraction	to the human populati	on in my
	Strongly disagree	Nei	ther Agree or Dis	agree	Strongly agree	
	-2	1	0	+1	+2	
DE	MOGRAPHICS					
29.	Gender of responder Female Male No answer	nt?				
30.	In what year where	you born? 19	P			
31.	How many people c	urrently live	in your household	1?		
	Adults (Over18yrs)					
	Children (Under18y	rrs)				
32.	Do you currently ov	vn any livest	ock? Yes () N	No ()		
	31(a) if Yes, Predor	ninant type .		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
33.	Have you ever owned \Box	ed livestock	in this village? Ye	s() No()		
34.	Literacy: $< P6 \sqcup P$	$/ - S4 \sqcup Otl$	ner		 X7	
35. 26	How many years ha	ve you lived	in this village?	9	Years	
30. 27	How many years na	ve you lived	at current residen	ce ?	Y ears	
37. 38.	Have you or a mem No ()	ber of your h Yes ()	 ousehold ever bee	en inside the na	ational park?	
	40(a). How long ag	o?	months			
39.	Do you own the land Yes () 38 (a). Rent () 38(b). No () 38(c).	d on which y What is the e What is the e Neither of the	your house is built estimated value stimate annual ren e options above	? /= .tal fees	= /=,	
40.	Do you use more la	nd in additio	n to your own?			
	Yes ()	No ()				
	39(a). If YES, for w	hat purpose?	?			
	39(b). What is the e	stimated size	e? Acres			
	39(c). What is the e	stimated ann	ual rental fees		/=	

- **41.** What proportion of your house hold income is gotten directly or indirectly from the park? a) None ()
 - b) Little () c) Half () d) Most of it ()

 - e) All of it ()
- **42.** How much non-monetary income does your house-hold? Annual crop or fish / farm harvest (List):

Item	Quantity	Estimated market price

43. What is your approximate household annual income?

a) < 270,000/= () **b**) 275,000/= to 936,000/= () **c**) > 936,000/= ()

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- Archabald, K., Naughton-treves, L., 2001. Tourism revenue-sharing around national parks in Western Uganda : Early efforts to identify and reward local communities. Environ. Conserv. 28, 135–149.
- Arieff, A., Ploch, L., 2014. The Lord's resistance army: The U.S response. Curr. Polit. Econ. Africa 7.
- Ayebare, S., 2011. Influence of industrial activities on the spatial distribution of wildlife in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. University of Rhode Island.
- Balakrishnan, M., Ndhlovu, D.E., 1992. Wildlife utilization and local people: a case-study in Upper Lupande Game Management Area, Zambia. Environ. Conserv. 19, 135–144.
- Baldus, R.D., 2002. Bushmeat: Some experiences from Tanzania (No. 17.5.02), Bushmeat training development workshop. Mweka, Tanzania.
- Becker, M., McRobb, R., Watson, F., Droge, E., Kanyembo, B., Murdoch, J., Kakumbi, C., 2013. Evaluating wire-snare poaching trends and the impacts of by-catch on elephants and large carnivores. Biol. Conserv. 158, 26–36. doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2012.08.017
- Bellard, C., Bertelsmeier, C., Leadley, P., Thuiller, W., Courchamp, F., 2012. Impacts of climate change on the future of biodiversity. Ecol. Lett. 15, 365–377. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01736.x
- Brenneman, R.A., Bagine, R.K., Brown, D.M., Ndetei, R., Louis, E.E., 2009. Implications of closed ecosystem conservation management: The decline of Rothschild's giraffe (Giraffa camelopardalis rothschildi) in Lake Nakuru National Park, Kenya. Afr. J. Ecol. 47, 711– 719. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2028.2008.01029.x
- Briggs, J.C., 2017. Emergence of a sixth mass extinction? Biol. J. Linn. Soc. 122, 243–248. doi:10.1093/biolinnean/blx063
- Browne-Nuñez, C.M., 2010. Tolerance of wildlife outside protected areas: Predicting intention to allow elephants in Maasai group ranches around Amboseli National Park, Kenya. University of Florida.
- Burgoyne, C.N., Kelso, C.J., 2014. 'The Mkuze River it has crossed the fence' communities on the boundary of the Mkuze protected area. Bull. Geogr. 26, 51–66. doi:10.2478/bog-2014-0044
- Carter, N.H., Riley, S.J., Shortridge, A., Shrestha, B.K., Liu, J., 2014. Spatial assessment of attitudes toward tigers in Nepal. Ambio 43, 125–137.

- Chase, M.J., Schlossberg, S., Griffin, C.R., Bouche, P.J.C., Djene, S.W., Elkan, P.W., Ferreira, S., Grossman, F., Kohi, E.M., Landen, K., Omondi, P., Peltier, A., Selier, S.A.J., Sutcliffe, R., 2016. Continent-wide survey reveals massive decline in African savannah elephants. PeerJ 4. doi:10.7717/peerj.2354
- Converse, J.M., 1976. Predicting No Opinion in the Polls. Public Opin. Q. 40, 515–530. doi:10.1093/poq/nfq073
- Craigie, I.D., Baillie, J.E.M., Balmford, A., Carbone, C., Collen, B., Green, R.E., Hutton, J.M., 2010. Large mammal population declines in Africa's protected areas. Biol. Conserv. 143, 2221–2228. doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2010.06.007
- Danielsen, F., Burgess, N.D., Balmford, A., Donald, P.F., Funder, M., Jones, J.P.G., Alviola, P., Balete, D.S., Blomley, T., Brashares, J., Child, B., Enghoff, M., Fjeldså, J., Holt, S., Hübertz, H., Jensen, A.E., Jensen, P.M., Massao, J., Mendoza, M.M., Ngaga, Y., Poulsen, M.K., Rueda, R., Sam, M., Skielboe, T., Stuart-Hill, G., Topp-Jørgensen, E., Yonten, D., 2009. Local participation in natural resource monitoring: A characterization of approaches. Conserv. Biol. 23, 31–42. doi:10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.01063.x
- Decker, D.J., Chase, L.C., 2016. Human dimensions of living with wildlife a management challenge for the 21st century. Wildl. Soc. Bull. 25, 788–795.
- Decker, D.J., Riley, S.J., Siemer, W.F., 2012. Human Dimensions of Wildlife Management, 2nd ed. The John Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, Maryland, USA. doi:10.1080/10871200701555857
- Dickman, A.J., 2010. Complexities of conflict: The importance of considering social factors for effectively resolving human-wildlife conflict. Anim. Conserv. 13, 458–466. doi:10.1111/j.1469-1795.2010.00368.x
- Douglas-Hamilton, I., 1987. African elephants: population trends and their causes. Oryx 21, 11–24.
- Dowhaniuk, N., Hartter, J., Ryan, S.J., Palace, M.W., Congalton, R.G., 2017. The impact of industrial oil development on a protected area landscape: demographic and social change at Murchison Falls Conservation Area, Uganda. Popul. Environ. 1–22. doi:10.1007/s11111-017-0287-x
- Duffy, R., 1999. The role and limitations of state coercion: Anti-poaching policies in Zimbabwe. J. Contemp. African Stud. 17, 97–121.
- Duffy, R., St John, F., 2013. Poverty, poaching and trafficking: What are the links?, Evidence on demand. St John. doi:10.12774/eod_hd059.jun2013.duffy
- Duffy, R., St John, F.A.V., Büscher, B., Brockington, D., 2016. Toward a new understanding of the links between poverty and illegal wildlife hunting. Conserv. Biol. 30, 14–22.

doi:10.1111/cobi.12622

- Duffy, R., St John, F.A. V, Büscher, B., Brockington, D., 2014. The militarization of antipoaching: Undermining long term goals? Environ. Conserv. 42, 345–348. doi:10.1017/S0376892915000119
- Eliason, S.L., 1999. The illegal taking of wildlife: Toward a theoretical understanding of poaching. Hum. Dimens. Wildl. 4, 27–39. doi:10.1080/10871209909359149
- Engel, M.T., Vaske, J.J., Bath, A.J., Marchini, S., 2017. Attitudes toward jaguars and pumas and the acceptability of killing big cats in the Brazilian Atlantic Forest: An application of the Potential for Conflict Index2. Ambio 46, 604–612. doi:10.1007/s13280-017-0898-6
- Figgis, J., Standen, A., 2005. Training skilled workers: Lessons from the oil and gas industry. National Centre for Vocational Education Research.
- Fischer, A., Naiman, L.C., Lowassa, A., Randall, D., Rentsch, D., 2014. Explanatory factors for household involvement in illegal bushmeat hunting around Serengeti, Tanzania. J. Nat. Conserv. 22, 491–496. doi:10.1016/j.jnc.2014.08.002
- Forsyth, C.J., Forsyth, Y.A., 2012. Examining the responses of game wardens to types of poachers. Kentucky J. Anthropol. Sociol. 2, 27–36.
- Fox, J., Weisberg, S., 2017. Package "car."
- Frank, J., Johansson, M., Flykt, A., 2015. Public attitude towards the implementation of management actions aimed at reducing human fear of brown bears and wolves. Wildlife Biol. 21, 122–130. doi:10.2981/wlb.13116
- Gray, T.N.E., Hughes, A.C., Laurance, W.F., Long, B., Lynam, A.J., O'Kelly, H., Ripple, W.J., Seng, T., Scotson, L., Wilkinson, N.M., 2018. The wildlife snaring crisis: an insidious and pervasive threat to biodiversity in Southeast Asia. Biodivers. Conserv. 27, 1031–1037.
- Gray, T.N.E., Lynam, A.J., Seng, T., Laurance, W.F., Long, B., Scotson, L., Ripple, W.J., 2017. Wildlife-snaring crisis in Asian forests. Science (80-.). 355, 255–256.
- Greene, W., 2008. Functional forms for the negative binomial model for count data. Econ. Lett. 99, 585–590. doi:10.1016/j.econlet.2007.10.015
- Godwin, B. L., Albeke, S. E., Bergman, H. L., Walters, A., & Ben-David, M. (2015). Density of river otters (Lontra canadensis) in relation to energy development in the Green River Basin, Wyoming. *Science of the Total Environment*, 532, 780–790. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.06.058
- Harrison, M., Roe, D., Baker, J., Travers, H., Plumptre, A., Rwetsiba, A., 2015. Wildlife crime: a review of the evidence on drivers and impacts in Uganda.

- Hartter, J., Dowhaniuk, N., MacKenzie, C.A., Ryan, S.J., Diem, J.E., Palace, M.W., Chapman, C.A., 2016. Perceptions of risk in communities near parks in an African biodiversity hotspot. Ambio 45, 692–705. doi:10.1007/s13280-016-0775-8
- Hitchcock, R.K., 2000. Traditional African wildlife utilization: subsistence hunting, poaching, and sustainable use, in: Wildlife Conservation by Sustainable Use. Springer, pp. 389–415.
- Inskip, C., Carter, N., Riley, S., Roberts, T., MacMillan, D., 2016. Toward human-carnivore coexistence: Understanding tolerance for tigers in Bangladesh. PLoS One 11, 1–20. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0145913
- Jackman, S., Tahk, A., Zeileis, A., Maimone, C., Fearon, J., Maintainer, Z.M., 2017. Political science computational laboratory.
- Kahler, J.S., Gore, M.L., 2012. Beyond the cooking pot and pocket book: Factors influencing noncompliance with wildlife poaching rules. Int. J. Comp. Appl. Crim. Justice 36, 103–120. doi:10.1080/01924036.2012.669913
- Karanth, K.K., Naughton-Treves, L., Defries, R., Gopalaswamy, A.M., 2013. Living with wildlife and mitigating conflicts around three indian protected areas. Environ. Manage. 52, 1320–1332. doi:10.1007/s00267-013-0162-1
- Kato, S., Okumu, J., 2008. Making bush meat poachers willingly surrender using integrated poachers awareness programme: a case of Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda, Proceedings of the 12th Biennial Conference of the International Association for the Study of Commons. Gulu, Uganda.
- Kimanzi, J.K., Sanderson, R.A., Rushton, S.P., Mugo, M.J., 2015. Spatial distribution of snares in Ruma National Park, Kenya, with implications for management of the roan antelope Hippotragus equinus langheldi and other wildlife. Oryx 49, 295–302. doi:10.1017/S0030605313000689
- Knapp, E., Peace, N., Bechtel, L., 2017. Poachers and poverty: Assessing objective and subjective measures of poverty among illegal hunters outside Ruaha National Park, Tanzania. Conserv. Soc. 15, 24–32. doi:10.4103/0972-4923.201393
- Koh, L.P., Wilcove, D.S., 2007. Cashing in palm oil for conservation. Nature 448, 993.
- Krosnick, J.A., Holbrook, A.L., Berent, M.K., Carson, R.T., Hanemann, W.M., Kopp, R.J., Mitchell, R.C., Presser, S., Ruud, P.A., Smith, V.K., Moody, W.R., Green, M.C., Conaway, M., 2001. The Impact of "No Opinion" Response Options on Data Quality. Public Opin. Q. 66, 371–403. doi:10.1086/341394
- Kühl, A., Balinova, N., Bykova, E., Arylov, Y.N., Esipov, A., Lushchekina, A.A., Milner-Gulland, E.J., 2009. The role of saiga poaching in rural communities: Linkages between attitudes, socio-economic circumstances and behaviour. Biol. Conserv. 142, 1442–1449.

doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2009.02.009

Kukielka, E.A., Jori, F., Martínez-López, B., Chenais, E., Masembe, C., Chavernac, D., Ståhl, K., 2016. Wild and domestic pig interactions at the wildlife–livestock interface of Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda, and the potential association with African swine fever outbreaks. Front. Vet. Sci. 3. doi:10.3389/fvets.2016.00031

Leader-Williams, N., 1993. The cost of conserving elephants. Pachyderm 17, 30-34.

Lever, C., 1983. Wildlife conservation in the southern Sudan. Oryx 17, 190–193.

- Lewis, D.M., Phiri, A., 1998. Wildlife snaring an indicator of community response to a community-based conservation project. Oryx 32, 111–121. doi:10.1017/S0030605300029859
- Lindsey, P.A., Balme, G., Becker, M., Begg, C., Bento, C., Bocchino, C., Dickman, A., Diggle, R.W., Eves, H., Henschel, P., Lewis, D., Marnewick, K., Mattheus, J., Weldon McNutt, J., McRobb, R., Midlane, N., Milanzi, J., Morley, R., Murphree, M., Opyene, V., Phadima, J., Purchase, G., Rentsch, D., Roche, C., Shaw, J., Westhuizen, H. van der, Vliet, N. Van, Zisadza-Gandiwa, P., 2013. The bushmeat trade in African savannas: Impacts, drivers, and possible solutions. Biol. Conserv. 160, 80–96. doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2012.12.020
- Loker, C.A., Decker, D.J., Tachker, Y., 1998. Changes in human activity and the "not-in-mybackyard" wildlife syndrome: Suburban residents' perspectives on wildlife. Gibier Fane Sauvag. - Game Wildl. 15, 725–734.
- MacKenzie A., C., Fuda K., R., Ryan J., S., Hartter, J., 2017. Drilling through conservation policy: Oil exploration in Murchison Falls Protected Area, Uganda. Conserv. Soc. 15, 280–291. doi:10.4103/cs.cs
- MacKenzie, C.A., Chapman, C.A., Sengupta, R., 2012. Spatial patterns of illegal resource extraction in Kibale National Park, Uganda. Environ. Conserv. 39, 38–50. doi:10.1017/S0376892911000282
- Mancini, A., Senko, J., Borquez-Reyes, R., Póo, J.G., Seminoff, J.A., Koch, V., 2011. To poach or not to poach an endangered species: Elucidating the economic and social drivers behind illegal sea turtle hunting in Baja California Sur, Mexico. Hum. Ecol. 39, 743–756. doi:10.1007/s10745-011-9425-8
- Martin, A., Caro, T., Kiffner, C., 2013. Prey preferences of bushmeat hunters in an East African savannah ecosystem. Eur. J. Wildl. Res. 59, 137–145. doi:10.1007/s10344-012-0657-8
- Martin, E.B., 1994. Rhino poaching in Namibia from 1980 to 1990 and the illegal trade in the horn. Pachyderm 18, 39–51.

Mertzlufft, T., 2014. Consequences of the goat support for vulnerable people in Karamoja,

Uganda. University of Vienna.

- Michalski, F., Boulhosa, R.L.P., Faria, A., Peres, C.A., 2006. Human-wildlife conflicts in a fragmented Amazonian forest landscape: Determinants of large felid depredation on livestock. Anim. Conserv. 9, 179–188. doi:10.1111/j.1469-1795.2006.00025.x
- Militino, A.F., 2010. Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with R. J. R. Stat. Soc. Ser. A (Statistics Soc. 173, 938–939.
- Mir, Z.R., Noor, A., Habib, B., Veeraswami, G.G., 2015. Attitudes of local people toward wildlife conservation: A case study from the Kashmir valley. Mt. Res. Dev. 35, 392–400. doi:10.1659/MRD-JOURNAL-D-15-00030.1
- Mogomotsi, G.E.J., Madigele, P.K., 2017. Live by the gun, die by the gun: Botswana's 'shoot-to-kill' policy as an anti-poaching strategy. South African Crime Q. 60, 51–59.
- Montesh, M., 2013. Rhino poaching: A new form of organised crime. vol 27, 1–23.
- Moreto, W.D., Lemieux, A.M., 2015. Poaching in Uganda: perspectives of law enforcement rangers. Deviant Behav. 36, 853–873.
- Mudumba, T., Jingo, S., 2015. Murchison Falls National Park lions; population structure, ranging and key threats to their survival. New York, USA.
- Muneza, A.B., Montgomery, R.A., Fennessy, J.T., Dickman, A.J., Roloff, G.J., Macdonald, D.W., 2016. Regional variation of the manifestation, prevalence, and severity of giraffe skin disease: A review of an emerging disease in wild and captive giraffe populations. Biol. Conserv. 198, 145–156.
- Musgrave, R.S., Parker, S., Wolok, M., 1993. The status of poaching in the United States are we protecting our wildlife? Natl. Resour. J. 33, 977–1014.
- Muth, R.M., Bowe, J.F., 1998. Illegal harvest of renewable natural resources in North America: Toward a typology of the motivations for poaching. Soc. Nat. Resour. 11, 9–24. doi:10.1080/08941929809381058
- Naughton-Treves, L., 2008. Predicting patterns of crop damage by wildlife around Kibale National Park, Uganda. Conserv. Biol. 12, 156–168. doi:10.1111/j.1523-1739.1998.96346.x
- Naughton-Treves, L., Treves, A., 2005. Socio-ecological factors shaping local support for wildlife: crop-raiding by elephants and other wildlife in Africa. Conserv. Biol. Ser. 9, 252.
- Noss, A.J., 2010. The Impacts of Cable Snare Hunting on Wildlife Populations in the Forests of the Central African Republic. Conserv. Biol. 12, 390–398. doi:10.1111/j.1523-1739.1998.96027.x

- Nsonsi, F., Heymans, J.C., Diamouangana, J., Mavinga, F.B., Breuer, T., 2018. Perceived human–elephant conflict and its impact for elephant conservation in northern Congo. Afr. J. Ecol. 56, 208–215. doi:10.1111/aje.12435
- Nyhus, P.J., 2016. Human–Wildlife conflict and coexistence, Ssrn. doi:10.1146/annurevenviron-110615-085634
- Omoya, E.O.O., Mudumba, T., Buckland, S.T.T., Mulondo, P., Plumptre, A.J., 2014. Estimating population sizes of lions Panthera leo and spotted hyaenas Crocuta crocuta in Uganda's savannah parks, using lure count methods. Oryx 48, 394–401. doi:10.1017/S0030605313000112

Oneka, M., 1995. On Park Design. Wageningen Agricultural University, The Netherlands.

- Plumptre, A.J., Ayebare, S., Mudumba, T., 2015. An assessment of impacts of oil exploration and appraisal on elephants in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. Wildlife Conservation Society, Kampala - Uganda.
- Plumptre, A.J., Davenport, T.R.B., Behanyana, M., Kityo, R., Eilu, G., Ssegawa, P., Ewango, C., Meirte, D., Kahindo, C., Herremans, M., Peterhans, J.K., Pilgrim, J.D., Wilson, M., Languy, M., Moyer, D., 2007. The biodiversity of the Albertine Rift. Biol. Conserv. 134, 178–194. doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2006.08.021

R Core Team, 2017. R: A language and environment for statistical computing.

- Radovani, N.I., Funes, M.C., Walker, R.S., Gader, R., Novaro, A.J., 2014. Guanaco lama guanicoe numbers plummet in an area subject to poaching from oil-exploration trails in Patagonia. ORYX 754. doi:10.1017/s0030605312001226
- Rhodes, J.R., McAlpine, C.A., Zuur, A.F., Smith, G.M., Ieno, E.N., 2009. GLMM Applied on the spatial distribution of koalas in a fragmented landscape, in: Mixed Effects Models and Extensions in Ecology with R. Statistics for Biology and Health. Springer, New York, USA, pp. 469–492. doi:10.1007/978-0-387-87458-6_21
- Riley, S.J., Decker, D.J., 2000. Risk perception as a factor in wildlife stakeholder acceptance capacity for cougars in montana. Hum. Dimens. Wildl. 5, 50–62. doi:10.1080/10871200009359187
- Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., Nicholls, C.M., Ormston, R., 2013. Qualitative research practice: A guide for social science students and researchers. sage.
- Rizzolo, J.B., Gore, M.L., Ratsimbazafy, J.H., Rajaonson, A., 2017. Cultural influences on attitudes about the causes and consequences of wildlife poaching. Crime Law Soc Chang. 67, 415–437. doi:10.1007/s10611-016-9665-z

Robinson, J.G., Bennett, E.L., 2004. Having your wildlife and eating it too: an analysis of

hunting sustainability across tropical ecosystems, in: Animal Conservation Forum. Cambridge University Press, pp. 397–408.

- Robinson, J.G., Bennett, E.L., 2002. Will alleviating poverty solve the bushmeat crisis? Oryx 36, 332. doi:10.1017/s0030605302000662
- Rochlitz, I., 2010. The impact of snares on animal welfare. Cambridge.
- Romanach, S.S., Lindsey, P.A., Woodroffe, R., 2007. Determinants of attitudes towards predators in central Kenya and suggestions for increasing tolerance in livestock dominated landscapes. Oryx 41, 185–195. doi:10.1017/s0030605307001779

RStudio Team, 2015. RSudio: Integrated development for R.

- Ruddy, D., Vlassenroot, K., 1999. Kony's message: A new Koine? The Lord's Resistance Army in northern Uganda. Afr. Aff. (Lond). 98, 5–36.
- Rwetsiba, A., Lemieux, A.M., Moreto, W.D., 2014. Law enforcement monitoring in Uganda: the utility of offi cial data and time/distance-based ranger effi ciency measures, in: Situational Prevention of Poaching. Routledge, pp. 106–125.
- Rwetsiba, A., Nuwamanya, E., 2010. Aerial surveys of Murchison Falls Protected Area, Uganda. Pachyderm 118–123.
- Salerno, J., Ross, N., Ghai, R., Mahero, M., Travis, D.A., Gillespie, T.R., Hartter, J., 2017. Human–Wildlife interactions predict febrile illness in park landscapes of western Uganda. Ecohealth 14, 1–16. doi:10.1007/s10393-017-1286-1
- Samia, D.S.M., Nakagawa, S., Nomura, F., Rangel, T.F., Blumstein, D.T., 2015. Increased tolerance to humans among disturbed wildlife. Nat. Commun. 6, 1–8. doi:10.1038/ncomms9877
- Savidge, J., 1961. The introduction of white rhinoceros into the Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. Oryx 6, 184–189. doi:10.1017/S0030605300001447
- Schieltz, J.M., Rubenstein, D.I., 2016. Evidence based review: Positive versus negative effects of livestock grazing on wildlife. What do we really know? Environ. Res. Lett. Environ. Res. Lett 11, 1–18. doi:10.1088/1748-9326/11/11/113003
- Skonhoft, A., Solstad, J.T., 1996. Wildlife management, illegal hunting and conflicts. A bioeconomic analysis. Environ. Dev. Econ. 1, 165–181.
- Steinhart, E., 1994. National parks and anti-poaching in Kenya, 1947-1957. Int. J. Afr. Hist. Stud. 27, 59–76.

Steinmetz, R., Srirattanaporn, S., Mor-Tip, J., Seuaturien, N., 2014. Can community outreach

alleviate poaching pressure and recover wildlife in South-East Asian protected areas? J. Appl. Ecol. 51, 1469–1478. doi:10.1111/1365-2664.12239

Suárez, E., Morales, M., Cueva, R., Bucheli, V.U., Zapata-Ríos, G., Toral, E., Torres, J., Prado, W., Olalla, J.V., 2009. Oil industry, wild meat trade and roads: indirect effects of oil extraction activities in a protected area in north-eastern Ecuador. Anim. Conserv. 12, 364– 373. doi:10.1111/j.1469-1795.2009.00262.x

The Republic of Uganda, 1996. Uganda wildlife statute. Government Printer, Uganda.

- Tietje, W.D., Ruff, R.L., 1983. Responses of black bears to oil development in Alberta (Ursus americanus, Cold Lake). Wildl. Soc. Bull. 11, 99–112.
- Tigner, J., Bayne, E.M., Boutin, S., 2014. Black Bear Use of Seismic Lines in Northern Canada. J. Wildl. Manage. 78, 282–292. doi:10.1002/jwmg.664
- Treves, A., Karanth, K.U., 2003. Human-carnivore conflict and perspectives on carnivore management worldwide. Conserv. Biol. 17, 1491–1499. doi:10.1111/j.1523-1739.2003.00059.x
- Treves, A., Naughton-Treves, L., 1999. Risk and opportunity for humans coexisting with large carnivores. J. Hum. Evol. 36, 275–282. doi:10.1006/jhev.1998.0268
- Tumusiime, D.M., Eilu, G., Tweheyo, M., Babweteera, F., 2010. Wildlife snaring in Budongo forest reserve, Uganda. Hum. Dimens. Wildl. 15, 129–144. doi:10.1080/10871200903493899
- Uganda Bureau of Statistics, 2012. Subcounty development programme implementation of the Community Information System (CIS). Nebbi, Uganda.
- Uganda Wildlife Authority, 2014. Operational guidlines for oil and gas exploration and production in wildlife protected areas. Uganda.
- Vaske, J.J., Needham, M.D., Newman, P., Manfredo, M.J., Petchenik, J., 2006. Potential for Conflict Index: Hunters' responses to chronic wasting disease. Wildl. Soc. Bull. 34, 44–50. doi:10.2193/0091-7648(2006)34[44:PFCIHR]2.0.CO;2
- Wake, D.B., Vredenburg, V.T., 2008. Are we in the midst of the sixth mass extinction? A view from the world of amphibians, in: PNAS. Univ Calif Berkeley, USA, pp. 11466–11473. doi:10.1073/pnas.0801921105
- Wanyama, F., Balole, E., Elkan, P., Mendiguetti, S., Ayebare, S., Kisame, F., Shamavu, P., Kato, R., Okiring, D., Loware, S., Wathaut, J., Tumonakiese, B., Mashagiro, D., Barendse, T., Plumptre, A.J., 2014. Aerial surveys of the Greater Virunga Landscape. Kampala, Uganda.

Watkins, E., 2010. Tullow eyeing higher oil production target in Uganda. Oil Gas J. 108, 30.

- Wato, Y.A., Wahungu, G.M., Okello, M.M., 2006. Correlates of wildlife snaring patterns in Tsavo West National Park, Kenya. Biol. Conserv. 132, 500–509. doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2006.05.010
- Watson, F., Becker, M.S., McRobb, R., Kanyembo, B., 2013. Spatial patterns of wire-snare poaching: Implications for community conservation in buffer zones around national parks. Biol. Conserv. 168, 1–9. doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2013.09.003
- Weladji, R.B., Tchamba, M.N., 2003. Conflict between people and protected areas within the Benoue Wildlife Conservation Area, North Cameroon. Oryx 37, 72–79. doi:10.1017/s0030605303000140
- Wilkie, D.S., Starkey, M., Abernethy, K., Effa, E.N., Telfer, P., Godoy, R., 2005. Role of prices and wealth in consumer demand for bushmeat in Gabon, central Africa. Conserv. Biol. 19, 268–274. doi:10.1111/j.1523-1739.2005.00372.x
- Woodroffe, R., Thirgood, S.J., Rabinowitz, A., 2005. People and wildlife: Conflict or coexistence?, 9th ed. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Yi-Ming, L., Zenxiang, G., Xinhai, L., Sung, W., Niemelä, J., 2000. Illegal wildlife trade in the Himalayan region of China. Biodivers. Conserv. 9, 901–918.
- Yiming, L., Zhongwei, G., Qisen, Y., Yushan, W., Niemelä, J., 2003. The implications of poaching for giant panda conservation. Biol. Conserv. 111, 125–136.
- Zapata Rios, G., 2001. Sustainability of subsistence hunting: the case of four Quichua communities in the northeastern Ecuadorian Amazon. Mastozool. Neotrop. 8, 59–66.
- Zuur, A.F., Ieno, E.N., Elphick, C.S., 2010. A protocol for data exploration to avoid common statistical problems. Methods Ecol. Evol. 1, 3–14. doi:10.1111/j.2041-210X.2009.00001.x

CHAPTER 3: PREY BIOMASS IS A POOR PREDICTOR OF AFRICAN LION POPULATION SIZE IN THE DYNAMIC 21ST CENTURY

3.1 Abstract

The majority of remaining African lion (Panthera leo) populations are distributed among comparatively small and isolated protected areas. The exact number of lions within these populations, however, is coarsely estimated with large confidence limits on the estimates. Beyond having accurate population estimates, knowing the number of lions that can be supported by such protected areas is critical for guiding lion population management to reduce population isolation and inbreeding depression. Preferred prey biomass is a key determinant of lion population size. Murchison Falls National Park (MFNP) is the largest protected area supporting lions in Uganda. Although lion surveys have been conducted in MFNP, there have been no attempts to determine the population size of lions that can be supported by prevailing prey biomass. Between June 2016 and August 2017, using vehicle-based surveys and photogrammetry techniques I obtained a total count of all lions > one-year-old in my study area in MFNP. Concurrently, I estimated common ungulate prey densities using transect surveys. I compared lion density estimates from an indirect (i.e. prey biomass regression model) and direct (i.e. total counts) method. The lion density estimates calculated from the prey biomass data was approximately four times higher than the total count. Considering that there has been no recent disease epidemic afflicting lions in MFNP and that populations of sympatric and competitive carnivores (i.e., hyaena Crocuta crocuta and leopard Panthera pardus) are comparatively low, incidental snaring by subsistence poachers remains the most likely factor restricting the park's lion population from reaching these potential population levels. While indirect methods, such as prey biomass, may overestimate potential lion populations, the inherent rarity of apex carnivores

means that any population decline must be urgently remedied in isolated populations before too much genetic diversity is lost. Methods that enable managers to monitor the impact of poaching pressure on large carnivores are critical tools for conservation management of this important ecological guild. My study adds credence to the hypothesis that estimating lion density from indirect methods such as prey biomass can result in overestimation of existent populations in the dynamic 21st century.

3.2 Introduction

The persistence of large carnivores in the dynamic 21st century is dependent upon developing an improved understanding of the factors that cause their populations to decline. Addressing the key threats faced by isolated carnivore populations is especially urgent, if apex carnivores are to persist in the long run. A key determinant of a healthy carnivore habitat is high prey abundance (Shackell, Frank, Fisher, Petrie, & Leggett, 2009; Lindsey et al., 2013; Simcharoen et al., 2014), as prey availability dictates to a large extent the number of carnivores that the area can support without undermining environmental integrity of the area (Orsdol, Hanby, & Bygott, 1985; Karanth, Nichols, Kumar, Link, & Hines, 2004; Hayward, O'Brien, & Kerley, 2007). Therefore, accurate monitoring of preferred prey biomass is important for assessing the conservation status of carnivores by comparing observed population trends against potential population that available prey can support (Sergio, Newton, & Marchesi, 2005; Hayward et al., 2007). Indeed, this has become accepted as the primary management tool in South Africa (Ferreira & Hofmeyr, 2014).

Where there are few natural prey available, carnivores may switch to hunting domesticated livestock (K. K. Karanth, Naughton-Treves, Defries, & Gopalaswamy, 2013; Michalski, Boulhosa, Faria, & Peres, 2006; Treves et al., 2004). This action can have negative

impacts on large carnivore survival when affected livestock-owners retaliate in discriminant or indiscriminate ways (Bencin, Kioko, & Kiffner, 2016; Rosenblatt et al., 2014; Tufa, Girma, & Mengesha, 2018). Therefore, monitoring the population size of large carnivores that is supported by prevailing prey biomass can also help anticipate the urgency of human-carnivore conflict mitigation strategies (Riley et al., 2002).

There are less than 25,000 African lions (*Panthera leo*) left in the wild, with the majority found in East Africa (Riggio et al., 2013). The International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) lists the species as vulnerable - Appendix II (Bauer, Nowell, Sillero-Zubiri, & Macdonald, 2018). A significant portion of the remaining lion populations are located in isolated protected areas with limited or no natural dispersal opportunities (Riggio et al., 2013). Small and fragmented habitats typically support a lower population size of lions because of low prey biomass relative to their size due to high edge effects exhibited as reduced suitable habitat for individual species (Woodroffe & Ginsberg, 2008). Which means that even in protected areas, because of source-sink dynamics, large carnivore populations are still jeopardized by human action. In such instances, the impact of prey biomass on carnivore populations is more magnified than relatively larger areas (Mills & Shenk, 1992; Hayward et al., 2007; Owen-Smith & Mills, 2008). This is partly due to the fact that small fragmented wildlife populations have equally lower numbers of natural prey, which makes them susceptible to local extinction especially in absence of human interventions (Lawton, 1994; Turner, 1996; Fahrig, 2001).

Murchison Falls National Park (MFNP) in northwestern Uganda provides the largest contiguous habitat for lions and other large mammals in the country. Consequently, the park supports large ungulate populations and contains one of the largest population of lions in Uganda (Rwetsiba & Nuwamanya, 2010; Omoya, Mudumba, Buckland, Mulondo, & Plumptre, 2014;

Mudumba & Jingo, 2015). However, there has been little research on lion population estimates in the park. Theory would suggest that large carnivore populations can be predicted as a function of vital rates and preferred prey abundance (Hayward et al., 2007). So, the test here is whether that is the case in a dynamic 21st century where environmental change and human action might decrease potential population size (Bouley, Poulos, Branco, & Carter, 2018; Cushman, Elliot, Macdonald, & Loveridge, 2016). While that is likely the case, the interest is to determine how much lower lion populations are in comparison to their prediction. Here, I predict the population size of lions that can be supported by prevailing prey biomass from an indirect (prey-biomass regression model) and compare this to total counts of known groups of lions in MFNP. My study provides baseline information on lions and their prey at a time when MFNP is threatened with oil mining on the north bank of the River Nile, inside the park. Understanding the number of lions that can be supported by the current prey populations is critical for the continued conservation of lions in Uganda and the broader region. My findings may be expanded to areas where prey-based estimates of top carnivores are used to estimate lion populations in Africa. A secondary benefit of the study is to inform the debate about lion conservation efforts amidst competing interests inside MFNP.

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Study area

Murchison Falls National Park is subdivided into a north and south bank by the Victoria Nile river. I positioned the study area in the north bank where most of the lion population in MFNP occurs and is bordered to the north by community land and to the south and west by the Victoria Nile and Albertine Nile Rivers (Driciru, 2005; Omoya et al., 2014; Mudumba & Jingo, 2015). This is a 1,096 km² study area featuring grassland, bushland, and mixed woodland habitat types

(Fig 3.1). To the east of MFNP is Karuma Wildlife Reserve and to the south is Bugungu Wildlife Reserve. The national park and surrounding reserves are located within the greater Albertine rift which is the most biodiverse region in the world (Plumptre et al., 2007). Although physically possible, there is no evidence of lion or prey movement between the north and south bank of the River Nile and so it is likely MFNP supports at least two distinct and isolated lion populations (Mudumba & Jingo, 2015).



Figure 3.1. Map of the study area in the north bank of Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda where I assessed African lion (*Panthera leo*) population ecology. Survey plots are represented as rectangular boxes with the width determined by the mean maximum distance of sighted oribi (Ourebia ourebi) within each vegetation type (grassland, bushland, and woodland)

There is ongoing oil mining within MFNP's north bank sector, centered on the area with the highest lion density (Kityo, 2011; Uganda Wildlife Authority, 2014; Mudumba & Jingo, 2015). There are three main habitat types in MFNP. These include open grasslands (55.2%), bushland (40.0%), and woodland (4.8%). The MFNP has a rainy season from April to June and a dry season from December to February. Temperatures in the MFNP region can reach up to 40°C and average 31°C with annual rainfall between 1,000 and 1,250 mm. There is limited anthropogenic use permitted inside the wildlife reserves adjacent to MFNP, such as firewood and thatch collection, while no harvest is permitted inside the park (The Republic of Uganda, 1996). Furthermore, lion hunting is prohibited in MFNP. While a permit may technically be purchased to hunt a lion in the reserves or community land surrounding the national park, no such lion hunt has ever taken place.

Of the 76 mammal species occurring in MFNP, Cape buffalo (*Syncerus caffer caffer*), waterbuck (*Kobus ellipsiprymnus*), and Rothschild's giraffe (*Giraffa camelopardalis rothschildi*) are lion preferred prey (Hayward & Kerley, 2005). The accessible prey species include: Ugandan kob (*Kobus kob thomasi*), warthog (*Phacochoerus africanus*), Lelwel hartebeest (*Alcelaphus buselaphus lelwel*), oribi (*Ourebia ourebi*), and Bohor reedbuck (*Redunca redunca;* Mudumba & Jingo, 2015). This population of Rothschild's giraffe on the north bank is the largest of the endangered species in the world (Rwetsiba & Nuwamanya, 2010). Beyond lions, the carnivore community consists of an unknown number of leopards (*Panthera pardus*), a small population of spotted hyenas (*Crocuta crocuta;* last estimated in 2008 to be ~30), as well as meso-carnivores such as servals (*Leptailurus serval*), black-backed jackals (*Canis mesomelas*) and side-striped jackals (*Canis adustus;* Plumptre et al., 2007). In 2010, the lion population in Uganda had declined by >40% in a period of 10 years and was fragmented in three populations of about 100 individuals each (Omoya et al., 2014). Murchison Falls National Park, the largest protected area in Uganda, had the largest lion population decline in this period, from >300 to <130 (Omoya et al., 2014). This troubling lion population trend is thought to have been driven by high levels of lion mortality due to subsistence poaching and primarily as by-catch in wire snares set to catch antelope (Mudumba, unpublished data). In addition to the importance for lions, the Uganda Wildlife Authority lists MFNP as an irreplaceable conservation area for the high number of locally and internationally threatened species (Wildlife Conservation Society, 2016; Plumptre et al., 2017).

3.3.2 Data collection

I conducted a total count of lions on the north bank of MFNP. The prides have been a subject of long-term studies and therefore I was able to count all individuals (Mudumba & Jingo, 2015). To do this, I identified individuals either directly from the whisker spot and other lion features or from photographs of the right side of their faces as per (*sensu* Bertram, 1975). I estimated lion prey densities using line transect sampling technique as per Buckland & Turnock (1992), and calculated the study area's population size of lions that can be supported by prevailing prey abundance from biomass of preferred and accessible prey (Hayward et al., 2007). I then compared the lion estimates calculated from available prey biomass to the actual lion total count. My survey techniques have previously resulted in reliable estimates for large mammal including lions (Caro, 1999; Wilson & Delahay, 2001).

Prey abundance

To estimate lion prey abundance, I conducted vehicle-based surveys between June and August 2017. I developed a network of transects plotted randomly and positioned in a north-south direction in each vegetation type in the study area (Buckland & Turnock, 1992). Elevation change throughout the study area (mean 800 m) is moderate and so I was not concerned about positioning transects perpendicular to the contours. I conducted a pilot survey in each vegetation type to estimate survey effort required to give reliable abundance estimates for all key lion prey species (Marques et al., 2001; Thomas et al., 2010).

To account for the variation in detection, I tested the sighting distance in each vegetation type by estimating the mean of ten randomly distributed locations in each vegetation type. I navigated to each location with the aid of a hand-held GPS receiver and using a rangefinder measured the distance to the farthest away oribi. I used the oribi as my detection species for two reasons: 1) oribi were common and present at each of my randomly sampled locations of all habitat types, and 2) oribi is the smallest lion prey species I considered in my study and it occurs in MFNP mostly as solitary individuals or small herds , which permitted us to assume that the sighting distance of larger prey species would be at least as high as that for oribi (Mudumba & Jingo, 2015). I used the mean maximum distance of sighted oribis for each vegetation type as the radial viewshed for the transects in these habitats. This way, I had sufficient empirical knowledge to estimate the effective strip width for each vegetation type without having to use a detection function (Marshall, Lovett, & White, 2008).

I then developed a network of grid cells at a resolution calculated via this radial distance, given that I positioned observers on either side of the vehicle. Each observer was responsible for detecting and counting kob, oribi, buffalo, hartebeest, warthog, giraffe, waterbuck, bushbuck,

and reedbuck looking out their side of the vehicle. For example, if the radial sighting distance was 100 m, then the resultant grid cell would be 200 m by 200 m.

I surveyed multiple grid cells along a transect with each grid cell being an individual part of the whole transect. I randomly selected the transect end from which to start the counts and then used a compass to determine the direction in which the observers drove. I drove as straight routes as practical along the predetermined transect line counting the individuals of each lion prey species detected within that grid cell. Each observer kept detailed notes on the counts of prey observed on their side of the vehicle. At the end of each grid cell survey, the observers compared counts and tallied the total count for the grid cell. I assumed that during the repeat counts of lion prey surveys along a given transect, the prey distribution was constant and not affected by my presence and that all individuals where counted just once during each survey effort.

Lion density

To determine the density of lions, I used the total count of all lions I encountered during a systematic search conducted over a one-year period between June 2016 and August 2017. To do so, I searched the north bank of MFNP looking for lions and their signs between 5 am and 7 pm. To extend my reach, I relied on environmental cues such as vulture parties, Uganda Wildlife Authority rangers who notified us whenever they found lions on the north bank and prey behavior such as alarm calls and forward vigilance (Creel, Schuette, & Christianson, 2014). When lions were found, individuals in the group had the right hand side of their face photographed and identified from whisker spot patterns and other body marks (Bertram, 1975). I grouped lions by age as inferred from known life history parameters (i.e., when my long term records identified date of birth) or from inspection of their body condition (Bertram, 1975), body

size (Smuts, Robinson, & Whyte, 1980) and nose color (Whitman, Starfield, Quadling, & Packer, 2007). I compiled a cumulative list of known lions (Appendix Fig 3.2). I continued with the search until no more new lions were added to the list. To measure my effort during the lion survey, I recorded the GPS track log of every field day spent looking for lions.

Concurrently, I opportunistically recorded locations of all carcasses I found either near lions or could identify to have been killed by lions with the lion survey. For every carcass I found, I recorded the species, estimated age of the carcasses, and sex of species killed. Every carcass was recorded once and ignored on subsequent trips.

3.3.3 Data analysis

Estimating prey abundance

To estimate lion prey biomass in my study area, I first calculated the mean number of individuals recorded for each species per transect visit. Then, I summed the average transect count for each species to obtain an overall estimate of the number of animals in my surveyed area and extrapolated my finding for the entire north bank sector of MFNP. I calculated the vegetation type density estimates by extrapolating from the density of the surveyed area. Therefore, the density of each species for the north bank was given as the sum of that species' counts for the north bank divided by the area of north bank.

I calculated the available lion prey biomass by multiplying the weight of each species (³/₄ female body weight; see Schaller 1972) by the total population of the species in the study area. Following Hayward et al (2007) and Clements et al (2014), I calculated three different available lion prey biomasses indices: a) of the lion's preferred prey, b) of prey within preferred weight range and c) of accessible prey, i.e. other prey species determined from lion kill sites.

Calculating lion density

Lion density was calculated based on the direct count of lions > one-year-old in August 2018. I plotted the cumulative count of lions on the north bank against the survey effort (km) and assumed the horizontal asymptote marked the total number of individuals on the north bank (as per Caughley, 1977). To get an indirect estimate of lion density on the north bank of MFNP, I used regression equations of the relationship between prey biomass and lion density for: preferred prey given as lion density = -2.158 + 0.377 [log preferred prey] and preferred prey weight given as lion density = -1.363 + 0.152 [log preferred prey weight range] (Hayward et al., 2007). Additionally, using the same equation but limited to count data of only prey species whose carcasses had been observed at lion kill sites, I calculated biomass of preferred prey and preferred prey weight range which I then used to estimate the lion density. I used paired t-test to test for significant difference among the lion density estimates of the three different methods.

3.4 Results

I surveyed 120 transects (40 per vegetation type - bushland, woodland and grassland) covering 3.5% of the total area of the north bank of MFNP. I repeated surveys on average 2.7 times (Range = 1 to 5) per transect. The most abundant species in the surveyed area was the Ugandan kob with a density of 245.9 km⁻² (Table 3.1). Because of the low encounter rates during the survey, I could not get a reliable biomass density estimate for bushbucks and reedbucks.

Table 3.1. The abundance and density of the preferred and accessible prey species on the north bank of Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. Acronyms used in this table include NB = North bank; SA = Surveyed area; SE = standard error. The * identifies species for which the estimates are not considered reliable given very low detections.

Common	Abunda	Abundance SA	Grassland	Bushland	Woodland	Density SA
name	nce NB	(±SE)	(±SE)	(±SE)	(±SE)	(km ⁻²)
	94,890		7,524			245.9
Kob		9,426 (±17)	(±40)	3 (±0)	1,899 (±6)	
Oribi	13,665	1,357 (±2)	1,172 (±3)	149 (±4)	36 (±0)	35.4
Buffalo	12,013	1,193 (±2)	923 (±4)	108 (±6)	162 (±1)	31.1
Hartebeest	12,067	1,199 (±1)	794 (±2)	326 (±6)	79 (±1)	31.3
Warthog	7,766	3,749 (±1)	591 (±2)	105 (±2)	76 (±0)	97.8
Giraffe	3,652	363 (±1)	203 (±1)	20 (±1)	140 (±1)	9.5
Waterbuc	3,312					8.6
k		329 (±1)	159 (±1)	129 (±4)	42 (±0)	
Bushbuck	128					0.3
*		13 (±0)	11 (±0)	2 (±0)	0 (±0)	
Reedbuck	147					0.4
*		15 (±0)	13 (±0)	2 (±0)	0 (±0)	

Buffalo and giraffe were the only species inside MFNP that meet Hayward and Kerley, 2005 definition of lion preferred prey and together had a combined biomass density of 6,568 kg km⁻². Most (86%; 4,735 kg km⁻²) of this biomass consisted of preferred prey-buffalo. Buffalo, giraffe,

and waterbuck were the species on the north bank of MFNP that had a weight within the lion preferred prey weight range, and these had a combined biomass density of 7,135 kg km². I detected 179 lion-killed carcasses of kob, oribi, buffalo, hartebeest, warthog, waterbuck, bushbuck, and reedbuck. However, my detections of bushbuck and reedbuck were too few to estimate their abundance. Therefore, I calculated the biomass from prey counts of six prey species. The estimated biomass density from count data of just these species was 10,844 kg / km⁻².

During the lion survey, I covered more than 7,500 km on the north bank and recorded 116 unique lions > one–year-old (0.02 lion km⁻¹; Fig. 3.2). Applying the Hayward et al (2007) equations on all the available biomass of species within the preferred prey weight of lions, the lion population on MFNP's north bank was estimated at 709 individuals (>1-year-old) – a density of 0.65 lions km⁻² (Table 3.2). The estimate decreases to 652 if only the biomass of preferred prey is used instead and increases to 1,199 lions if I use the biomass of all species of which carcasses were observed at lion kill sites in MFNP. Since no carcasses of giraffes were observed at the kill sites, I reran the same equations but excluded the giraffe biomass, leading to a potential population estimate of 182 lions from either technique (a reduction of 25.7% and 27.9% respectively; Table 3.2). I compared whether the difference of preferred prey/preferred prey weight changed with and without giraffes. Excluding giraffe from prey species used to calculate prey biomass estimate did not significantly alter the lion density estimate either from preferred prey or preferred prey weight range (t-value = 0.37, p = 0.36).

Table 3.2. Estimates of African lion (Panthera leo) density in the study area in the north bank of Murchison Falls National Park (MFNP), Uganda. I calculated the abundance and density of lions on the north bank of MFNP via three models: 1) preferred prey (species included; buffalo, giraffe) from techniques adapted from Hayward (2007), 2) preferred prey weight range (species included; buffalo, giraffe and waterbuck), and 3) kill site data (species included; kob, oribi, buffalo, hartebeest, warthog, and waterbuck). The total counts represent cumulative counts of all lions > one-year-old detected between June 2016 and August 2017. The lower and upper confidence intervals of each estimate are featured in the parentheses.

	Preferred prey		Preferred prey weight range		
	Abundance	Density / km ²	Abundance	Density	
Hayward		0.595 (0.594-	709 (707-	0.647 (0.645-	
(2007)	652 (650-654)	0.596)	710)	0.648	
With no		0.428 (0.428-	527 (526-	0.481 (0.480-	
Giraffe	470 (470-471)	0.429)	528)	0.482)	
	1,199 (1,198-	1.094 (1.093-			
Prey carcasses	1,199)	1.094)			
Total counts	116	0.11			

3.5 Discussion

For MFNP, this is the first comparison of the indirect/direct estimates and hence a comparison of actual population and potential population of lions based on prey biomass. The lion density of the north bank of MFNP from the total count was lower than what was predicted from indirect

methods, but is in line with the population records of 2010 and 2015 (Omoya et al., 2014; Mudumba & Jingo, 2015). My study has found a remarkable difference between observed and potential lion population in my study area across all prey biomass availability models considered. Even the most conservative biomass availability model suggests that the north bank of MFNP could support four times the current population of lions. Thus, prevailing prey biomass does not seem to be the limiting factor explaining the flat population growth of lions in the area for the past 20 years.

Lion population growth can be limited by competition from hyaenas and leopards (Hayward & Kerley, 2008). The population of hyaenas in MFNP exists at comparatively low levels with only about 40 animals estimated in 2010 across the entire park (Omoya et al., 2014). During the study, I observed two incidents of lions killing hyaenas. The first involved a hyaena cub at a den and the other an adult male hyaena killed at a carcass site. This suggests that lions may be competitively excluding hyaenas in MFNP, rather than the other way around. I do not have information on leopard numbers in the park, but they are estimated to be low (Wildlife Conservation Society, 2016). Furthermore, although lions in MFNP do suffer from disease, including canine distemper, examination of a small sample of 14 lions in 2005 concluded that disease had only minor impairment on individuals with no population level effects (Driciru, 2005). The only known lion population in Uganda to suffer significant population decline due to disease is at the Kidepo Valley National Park where lions are reported to have TB like symptoms (S. Ludwig, pers. communication). A recent survey found MFNP to be a hotspot for giraffe skin disease (Muneza et al., 2016). However, there has been no evidence suggesting that this disease can be transmitted to large carnivores nor is it clear whether the disease is lethal. Moreover, neither this nor previous studies or ranger reports have reported MFNP lions preving on giraffes

(Driciru, 2005; Mudumba & Jingo, 2015). Given the above, giraffe skin disease is not a likely factor limiting the population of lions in MFNP.

My estimate of the density of Ugandan kob on the north bank of MFNP is one of the highest in the world. Although kob are not among lion preferred prey or preferred prey weight range species (Hayward & Kerley, 2005), lions routinely prey on kob in MFNP but not in proportion to their availability (Mudumba & Jingo, 2015). To a large extent, it is this Ugandan kob biomass present – but not fully utilized by lions –that accounts for the significantly higher lion population (1,199) estimate based on the biomass of all species whose carcasses were observed at lion kill sites. I warn that the use of all species identified as lion prey from carcasses is likely to overestimate lion densities in similar studies, compared to estimates based on preferred species or preferred range weight species. However, diets of large carnivores including lions have been observed to change as large prey are selectively removed from prey populations (Bouley et al., 2018; Creel et al., 2018). Uganda, as a satellite – rather than stronghold – population might provide a good example of this premise. In this regard, Uganda kob could be a significant lion prey species determining the population of lions in MFNP.

The key anthropogenic pressures on the lions of MFNP include oil mining inside the national park and subsistence poaching primarily in the form of wire snaring (Mudumba & Jingo, 2015). A recent study examining the impact of subsistence poaching on MFNP's wildlife showed that wire snares are the leading cause of lion mortality inside the park, with about 40% of adult lions displaying snare injuries (Mudumba, unpublished data). Kiffner et al. (2009) suggested that where there is anthropogenic killing of lions – especially inside national parks, prey-biomass regression models over-estimate lion densities. I suggest that wire snaring is the

primary cause of the observed difference between actual and potential lion population size in the MFNP.

I am confident in my findings because; (a) my survey techniques have previously resulted in reliable estimates for large mammal including lions (Caro, 1999; Wilson & Delahay, 2001), (b) I surveyed only during daylight under good visibility aided by the fact that most of the north bank was burnt, and (c) my study area meets the assumption of a closed habitat/lion population. For instance, the north bank has got very hard ecological boundaries that include a fast-flowing river to the south and to the west as well as community settlements close to the northern border. There was no evidence that lions disperse and survive outside of MFNP. In August 2016, one adult male was reported on community land to the north east of the north bank and was subsequently immobilized by a Uganda Wildlife Authority veterinarian and released back in the park.

My overall conclusion is that the lion density on the MFNP's north bank is likely below what the prey biomass could support. Given that the north bank has historically had most of MFNP lions, the lion population of MFNP could be below what the prey biomass could support. This low number of lions given the existent prey population is likely due to undocumented subsistence poaching. The prey biomass inside MFNP has been increasing making MFNP potentially the largest lion habitat in Uganda if subsistence poaching is controlled. However, I would like to acknowledge that only an exhaustive study of key threats to lion survival inside MFNP could authoritatively determine the most prominent external factors affecting lion population trends in the area. Specifically, there is need to expand the lion prey and lion survey to the south bank of MFNP and include an assessment of impacts of anthropogenic disturbances that include subsistence poaching and oil mining on lion survival (Green, Johnson-Ulrich,

Couraud, & Holekamp, 2018). My study also adds credence to the hypothesis that estimating lion density from indirect methods such as prey biomass can result into overestimation of existent populations (Kiffner et al., 2009). I highlight the value of prey biomass regression models as a tool for determining the population size of lions that can be supported by prevailing prey biomass. While estimating lion density from indirect methods, such as prey biomass, may overestimate the potential population size, the inherent rarity of apex carnivores means any reduction in potential population size must be remedied urgently in isolated populations before too much genetic diversity is lost. Methods to identify unseen poaching pressure (i.e., when populations are existing below those that can be supported by prevailing prey biomass) are critical tools for conservation management of large carnivores.

3.6 Acknowledgements

This study was funded by a Lady Charlotte conservation research grant from the African Wildlife Foundation, the Wildlife Conservation Network Pat J. Miller Scholarship, the National Geographic Society early career grant, the Rufford small grants for nature conservation, and World Wildlife Fund Russell E. Train for Nature Program APPENDIX
APPENDIX



Figure 3.2. Cumulative count curve of lion encounters on the north bank of Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. I conducted total count surveys of lions between June 2016 and August 2017 in which 116 lions > one-year-old were recorded

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- Bauer, H., Nowell, K., Sillero-Zubiri, C., & Macdonald, D. W. (2018). Lions in the modern arena of CITES. *Conservation Letters*, (November 2017), 1–8. doi:10.1111/conl.12444
- Bencin, H., Kioko, J., & Kiffner, C. (2016). Local people's perceptions of wildlife species in two distinct landscapes of Northern Tanzania. *Journal for Nature Conservation*, 34, 82–92. doi:10.1016/j.jnc.2016.09.004
- Bertram, B. C. R. (1975). The social system of lions. Scientific American, 232(5), 54-65.
- Bouley, P., Poulos, M., Branco, R., & Carter, N. H. (2018). Post-war recovery of the African lion in response to large-scale ecosystem restoration. *Biological Conservation*, 227(August), 233–242. doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2018.08.024
- Buckland, S. T., & Turnock, B. J. (1992). A robust line transect method. *Biometrics*, 48(3), 901–909. doi:10.2307/2532356
- Caro, T. M. (1999). Densities of mammals in partially protected areas: The Katavi ecosystem of western Tanzania. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *36*(2), 205–217. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2664.1999.00392.x
- Caughley, G. (1977). Analysis of vertebrate populations. Analysis of vertebrate populations. Wiley.
- Clements, H. S., Tambling, C. J., Hayward, M. W., & Kerley, G. I. H. (2014). An objective approach to determining the weight ranges of prey preferred by and accessible to the five large African carnivores. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(7). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0101054
- Creel, S., Matandiko, W., Schuette, P., Rosenblatt, E., Sanguinetti, C., Banda, K., Vinks, M., & Becker, M. (2018). Changes in African large carnivore diets over the past half-century reveal the loss of large prey. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 55(6), 2908–2916.
- Creel, S., Schuette, P., & Christianson, D. (2014). Effects of predation risk on group size, vigilance, and foraging behavior in an African ungulate community. *Behavioral Ecology*, 25(4), 773–784. doi:10.1093/beheco/aru050
- Cushman, S. A., Elliot, N. B., Macdonald, D. W., & Loveridge, A. J. (2016). A multi-scale assessment of population connectivity in African lions (Panthera leo) in response to landscape change. *Landscape Ecology*, *31*(6), 1337–1353. doi:10.1007/s10980-015-0292-3
- Driciru, M. (2005). Predictive population viability study of lions in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. MSc thesis. Makerere University.

- Fahrig, L. (2001). How much habitat is enough? *Biological Conservation*, 100, 65–74. doi:10.1016/S0169-2046(00)00061-X
- Ferreira, S. M., & Hofmeyr, M. (2014). Managing charismatic carnivores in small areas: large felids in South Africa. South African Journal of Wildlife Research, 44(1), 32–42. Retrieved from http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-84929660161&partnerID=40&md5=f8fdc3db89ccfb8f68b078b0e767e294
- Green, D. S., Johnson-Ulrich, L., Couraud, H. E., & Holekamp, K. E. (2018). Anthropogenic disturbance induces opposing population trends in spotted hyenas and African lions. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 27(4), 871–889.
- Hayward, M. W., & Kerley, G. I. H. (2005). Prey preferences of the lion (Panthera leo). *Journal* of Zoology, 267(3), 309–322. doi:10.1017/S0952836905007508
- Hayward, M. W., & Kerley, G. I. H. (2008). Prey preferences and dietary overlap amongst Africa's large predators. *South African Journal of Wildlife Research*, 38(2), 93–108. doi:10.3957/0379-4369-38.2.93
- Hayward, M. W., O'Brien, J., & Kerley, G. I. H. (2007). Carrying capacity of large African predators: Predictions and tests. *Biological Conservation*, *139*(1–2), 219–229. doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2007.06.018
- Karanth, K. K., Naughton-Treves, L., Defries, R., & Gopalaswamy, A. M. (2013). Living with wildlife and mitigating conflicts around three indian protected areas. *Environmental Management*, 52(6), 1320–1332. doi:10.1007/s00267-013-0162-1
- Karanth, K. U., Nichols, J. D., Kumar, N. S., Link, W. A., & Hines, J. E. (2004). Tigers and their prey: Predicting carnivore densities from prey abundance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(14), 4854–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0306210101
- Kiffner, C., Meyer, B., Mühlenberg, M., & Waltert, M. (2009). Plenty of prey, few predators: What limits lions panthera leo in katavi national park, western Tanzania? *Oryx*, 43(1), 52– 59. doi:10.1017/S0030605307002335
- Kityo, R. (2011). The effects of oil and gas exploration in the Albertine rift region on biodiversity: A case of protected areas Murchison falls national park (1st ed.). (R. Kityo, Ed.), Effects of oil and gas exploration (Vol. 1). Kampala: NatureUganda.
- Lawton, J. H. (1994). Population dynamic principles. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond*, (Rabinowitz 1986), 61–68.
- Lindsey, P. A., Havemann, C. P., Lines, R., Palazy, L., Price, A. E., Retief, T. A., Rhebergen, T., & Van der Waal, C. (2013). Determinants of persistence and tolerance of carnivores on Namibian ranches: implications for conservation on Southern African private lands. *PLoS*

One, 8(1), e52458.

- Marques, F. F. C., Buckland, S. T., Goffin, D., Dixon, C. E., Borchers, D. L., Mayle, B. A., & Peace, A. J. (2001). Estimating deer abundance from line transect surveys of dung: sika deer in southern Scotland. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 38(2), 349–363. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2664.2001.00584.x
- Marshall, A. R., Lovett, J. C., & White, P. C. L. (2008). Selection of line-transect methods for estimating the density of group-living animals: Lessons from the primates. *American Journal of Primatology*, 70(5), 452–462. doi:10.1002/ajp.20516
- Michalski, F., Boulhosa, R. L. P., Faria, A., & Peres, C. A. (2006). Human-wildlife conflicts in a fragmented Amazonian forest landscape: Determinants of large felid depredation on livestock. *Animal Conservation*, 9(2), 179–188. doi:10.1111/j.1469-1795.2006.00025.x
- Mills, M. G. L., & Shenk, T. M. (1992). Predator--prey relationships: The impact of lion predation on wildebeest and zebra populations. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 693–702.
- Mudumba, T., & Jingo, S. (2015). *Murchison Falls National Park lions; population structure, ranging and key threats to their survival.* New York, USA.
- Muneza, A. B., Montgomery, R. A., Fennessy, J. T., Dickman, A. J., Roloff, G. J., & Macdonald, D. W. (2016). Regional variation of the manifestation, prevalence, and severity of giraffe skin disease: A review of an emerging disease in wild and captive giraffe populations. *Biological Conservation*, 198, 145–156.
- Omoya, E. O. O., Mudumba, T., Buckland, S. T. T., Mulondo, P., & Plumptre, A. J. (2014). Estimating population sizes of lions Panthera leo and spotted hyaenas Crocuta crocuta in Uganda's savannah parks, using lure count methods. *Oryx*, 48(3), 394–401. doi:10.1017/S0030605313000112
- Orsdol, K. G. V., Hanby, J. P., & Bygott, J. D. (1985). Ecological correlates of lion social organization (Panthers, leo). *Journal of Zoology*, 206(1), 97–112. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7998.1985.tb05639.x
- Owen-Smith, N., & Mills, M. G. L. (2008). Predator-prey size relationships in an African largemammal food web. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 77(1), 173–183.
- Plumptre, A. J., Ayebare, S., Pomeroy, D., Tushabe, H., Nangendo, G., Mugabe, H., Kirunda, B., & Nampindo, S. (2017). *Conserving Uganda's Biodiversity: Identifying critical sites for threatened species*. Kampala.
- Plumptre, A. J., Davenport, T. R. B., Behanyana, M., Kityo, R., Eilu, G., Ssegawa, P., Ewango, C., Meirte, D., Kahindo, C., Herremans, M., Peterhans, J. K., Pilgrim, J. D., Wilson, M., Languy, M., & Moyer, D. (2007). The biodiversity of the Albertine Rift. *Biological Conservation*, 134(2), 178–194. doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2006.08.021

- Riggio, J., Jacobson, A., Dollar, L., Bauer, H., Becker, M., Dickman, A., Funston, P., Groom, R., Henschel, P., de Iongh, H., Lichtenfeld, L., & Pimm, S. (2013). The size of savannah Africa: A lion's (Panthera leo) view. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 22(1), 17–35. doi:10.1007/s10531-012-0381-4
- Riley, S. J., Decker, D. J., Carpenter, L. H., Organ, J. F., F, W., Mattfeld, G. F., Parsons, G., & Siemer, W. F. (2002). The essence of Wildlife Management. *Society*, *30*(2), 585–593.
- Rosenblatt, E., Becker, M. S., Creel, S., Droge, E., Mweetwa, T., Schuette, P. A., Watson, F., Merkle, J., & Mwape, H. (2014). Detecting declines of apex carnivores and evaluating their causes: An example with Zambian lions. *Biological Conservation*, 180, 176–186. doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2014.10.006
- Rwetsiba, A., & Nuwamanya, E. (2010). Aerial surveys of Murchison Falls Protected Area, Uganda. *Pachyderm*, (47), 118–123.
- Sergio, F., Newton, I., & Marchesi, L. (2005). Top predators and biodiversity. *Nature*, 436, 192. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/436192a
- Shackell, N. L., Frank, K. T., Fisher, J. A. D., Petrie, B., & Leggett, W. C. (2009). Decline in top predator body size and changing climate alter trophic structure in an oceanic ecosystem. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 277(1686), 1353–1360.
- Simcharoen, A., Savini, T., Gale, G. A., Simcharoen, S., Duangchantrasiri, S., Pakpien, S., & Smith, J. L. D. (2014). Female tiger Panthera tigris home range size and prey abundance: important metrics for management. *Oryx*, 48(3), 370–377.
- Smuts, G. L., Robinson, G. A., & Whyte, I. J. (1980). Comparative growth of wild male and female lions (Panthera led). *Journal of Zoology*, *190*(3), 365–373. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7998.1980.tb01433.x
- The Republic of Uganda. Uganda wildlife statute, Pub. L. No. 14, 1 (1996). Uganda: Government Printer. Retrieved from http://extwprlegs1.fao.org/docs/pdf/uga9000.pdf
- Thomas, L., Buckland, S. T., Rexstad, E. A., Laake, J. L., Strindberg, S., Hedley, S. L., Bishop, J. R. B., Marques, T. A., & Burnham, K. P. (2010). Distance software: Design and analysis of distance sampling surveys for estimating population size. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 47(1), 5–14. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2664.2009.01737.x
- Treves, A., Naughton-Treves, L., Harper, E. K., Mladenoff, D. J., Rose, R. A., Sickley, T. A., & Wydeven, A. P. (2004). Predicting human-carnivore conflict: A spatial model derived from 25 years of data on wolf predation on livestock. *Conservation Biology*, 18(1), 114–125. doi:10.1111/j.1523-1739.2004.00189.x
- Tufa, B., Girma, Z., & Mengesha, G. (2018). Human–large wild mammals conflict in Dhera-Dilfaqar Block of Arsi Mountains National Park, South Eastern Ethiopia. *Human*

Dimensions of Wildlife, 23(5), 474-481. doi:10.1080/10871209.2018.1464616

- Turner, I. M. (1996). Species loss in fragments of tropical rain forest: A review of the evidence. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 33(2), 200–209. doi:10.2307/2404743
- Uganda Wildlife Authority. Operational guidlines for oil and gas exploration and production in wildlife protected areas (2014). Uganda.
- Whitman, K. L., Starfield, A. M., Quadling, H., & Packer, C. (2007). Modeling the effects of trophy selection and environmental disturbance on a simulated population of African lions. *Conservation Biology*, *21*(3), 591–601.
- Wildlife Conservation Society. (2016). *Nationally threatened species for Uganda*. New York, USA.
- Wilson, G. J., & Delahay, R. J. (2001). A review of methods to estimate the abundance of terrestrial carnivores using field signs and observation. *Wildlife Research*, 28(2), 151–164. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1071/WR00033
- Woodroffe, R., & Ginsberg, J. R. (2008). Edge effects and the extinction of populations inside protected areas. *Science*, 280(5372), 2126–2128. doi:10.1126/science.280.5372.2126

CHAPTER 4: THE LANDSCAPE CONFIGURATION AND LETHALITY OF SNARE POACHING

4.1 Abstract

Poaching of wildlife presents one of the biggest conservation challenges in the 21st century. The most common form of poaching is subsistence-based where snaring is one of the primary means of capturing target animals. To prioritize interventions intending to reduce snaring, information on the density, configuration, and lethality of poacher-set snares is needed. Here I describe an approach for quantifying the configuration and lethality of snares. I positioned my study in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda, which experiences some of the highest rates of snaring globally. I conducted wire snare transect surveys to predict the density, distribution, and lethality of snares as a function of environmental and anthropogenic parameters using logistic regression models. All of the snares that I recovered were made of wire with the majority (81.0%, n = 546of 674) deriving from vehicle tire wire. The density of snares ranged from 0.08 to 4.58 snares /km², the highest known density in sub-Saharan Africa. I also found various snare characteristics (snare thickness, noose width, vertical drop, wire circumference, grass height, and anchor tree diameter at breast height) that significantly predicted lethality. Access to disused vehicle tires which provide material for wire snares need to be regulated in ways which provide alternative livelihood to poachers. My method illustrates the opportunity to standardize temporal and spatial measurements of snare density and configuration as a first step to refine mitigation techniques and thereby stop illegal wildlife poaching.

4.2 Introduction

Illegal subsistence hunting, commonly referred to as poaching, is a large contributor to the global decline of wildlife populations (Fitzgibbon, Mogaka, & Fanshawe, 1995; Lindsey et al., 2013; Rentsch & Damon, 2013). Overharvest of large herbivores, which are among the primary targets of poachers, is the leading cause of their population declines globally (Milner-Gulland & Bennett, 2003; van Velden, Wilson, & Biggs, 2018; Ripple et al., 2019). Over the next decade, dependence on wildlife is projected to positively correlate with increasing human populations (Jones et al., 2018). Inadequate law enforcement and policies, disenfranchisement, and local culture have rendered many regions of Global South unable to effectively control poaching (Pratt et al., 2004; Duffy et al., 2016; Knapp et al., 2017).

There are three distinct types of poaching including trophy poaching, trafficking poaching, and subsistence poaching (Montgomery in review). While the perpetrators of trophy and trafficking poaching are motivated by financial gains, subsistence poaching is predicated by individuals with important livelihood needs (Musgrave, Parker, & Wolok, 1993; Eliason, 1999; Milner-Gulland, 2018; Ripple et al., 2019). Additionally, trophy and trafficking poaching are very structured activities that require significant investments (e.g., expensive tools and knowledge of markets and middlemen) that are beyond the reach of most local people (Hariohay, Ranke, Fyumagwa, Kideghesho, & Røskaft, 2019). In contrast, subsistence poaching is carried out using locally-available materials such as spears, spiked wheel-trap, and pitfall traps. However, the tool most commonly used to poach wildlife in the Global South is the snare (Lewis & Phiri, 1998; Noss, 2008; Gray et al., 2018).

Snares can be made from sisal ropes, nylon, or wire (Becker et al., 2013; Critchlow et al., 2015; Moreto & Lemieux, 2015; Knapp et al., 2017). Though typically set to catch herbivores

such as species from the infra-order Ungulata, snares are indiscriminate and other species (including large carnivores) can be trapped and maimed or killed (Noss, 2008; Tumusiime, Eilu, Tweheyo, & Babweteera, 2010; Becker et al., 2013). Studies have shown that snares disproportionally affect populations of large carnivores compared to ungulates (Fitzgibbon et al., 1995; Becker et al., 2013). With respect to large carnivores, poaching exerts both direct and indirect effects. Directly, large carnivores can be killed as either the intended or unintended targets of poachers (Becker et al., 2013; Bouley, Poulos, Branco, & Carter, 2018; Courchamp et al., 2018). Indirectly, the unsustainable harvest of large herbivores, which are often the primary targets of poachers, can affect large carnivores via prey depletion (Wolf & Ripple, 2016). The combination of the direct and indirect effects of subsistence poaching have follow-along impacts with implications for human-carnivore co-existence and ecosystem function (Ripple et al., 2014; Wolf & Ripple, 2016; Soofi et al., 2019). Subsequent dynamics can exert negative consequences on local human communities (Gandiwa, Heitkönig, Lokhorst, Prins, & Leeuwis, 2013).

The spatial distribution of snares is difficult to quantify given that; *i*) poaching is an illegal activity and *ii*) snares are typically distributed over large areas. Consequently, interview responses from poachers are often fraught with misleading information resulting from the fear of prosecution (Knapp et al., 2017). Additionally, detecting snares via anti-poaching patrols can be challenging given variable levels of investment and support necessary for local management authorities to conduct the work (Watson, Becker, McRobb, & Kanyembo, 2013). Furthermore, wildlife snaring is difficult to prosecute given that when an animal gets caught in the snare, the poacher is typically not present, problematizing efforts to associate the illegal act with the perpetrator (Moreto & Lemieux, 2015). Concurrently, wildlife snaring has not yet been widely

studied and so the ways in which individuals might intervene to develop sustainable solutions are presently unclear.

In Uganda, snaring is the most common form of subsistence poaching (Critchlow et al., 2015; Harrison et al., 2015; Moreto & Lemieux, 2015). Snaring of wildlife is widespread in the country's protected areas and is reported to occur at a global peak (Critchlow et al., 2015; Tumusiime et al., 2010). From anecdotal reports and the number of snares recovered per year, wildlife snare poaching is particularly high in Murchison Falls National Park (MFNP) which is Uganda's largest savanna park (Critchlow et al., 2015; Mudumba & Jingo, 2015). Previous attempts to quantify wildlife snares inside MFNP have relied exclusively on ranger patrol data (Plumptre, 2019). Unfortunately, ranger patrols are unreliable for predicting the distribution of snares but also comparing estimates across time and space because the data are often spatially and temporally biased (Becker et al., 2013).

Here I describe an approach for estimating both the distribution of snares and their lethality on sympatric guilds of large carnivores and ungulates. I describe the configuration, calculate the detection probability, and estimate the density of snares inside MFNP. Additionally, I discuss the implications of this research for wildlife conservation and provide recommendations how to mitigate snare poaching.

4.3 Methods

4.3.1 Study area

I situated the study in MFNP which is located in northwestern Uganda (02°15'N 31°48'E; Fig. 4.1). The Karuma and Bugungu Wildlife Reserves border the park to the south and southeast. Together, the national park and reserves make up the 5,308 km² Murchison Falls Conservation Area.



Figure 4.1. Study area showing the three predominate habitat types (open savanna grassland, bushland, and closed woodland) inside Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. Each of the dotted squares indicates the randomly selected grid cells that were surveyed to quantify snare density in the snare areas, no-snare areas, random area. The area of each dotted square is 36 km2.

The area has a moist rain forest in the southwestern sector, bushland in the east and northwest, and undulating open savanna grassland dominated with *Acacia sieberiana* and *Borassus aethiopum* in the north and northwest. There are three predominate habitat types in my

study area including open savanna grassland, bushland, and closed woodland (Nangendo, Stein, ter Steege, & Bongers, 2005). Seventy six mammal species inhabit MFNP, including the largest remaining sub-population of the endangered Rothschild's giraffe (*Giraffa camelopardalis rothschildi*), an expanding population of African elephants (*Loxodonta africana*), large populations of many species of terrestrial ungulates, and several species of large carnivores (Brenneman et al., 2009; Muneza et al., 2016; Wildlife Conservation Society, 2016).

4.3.2 Data collection

I implemented separate surveys to assess the; *i*) detection probability, *ii*) density, and *iii*) lethality of snares in MFNP. I developed a geographic information system (GIS) database to create the experimental designs necessary to assess each of these snare metrics.

Detection probability

To quantify the detection probability of snares in MFNP, I developed a transect protocol involving three observers searching an area 100 m wide by 3 km long (Fig. 4.2). To randomize the areas over which I positioned these detection probability surveys, I first selected areas within MFNP that had contiguous habitat patches of grassland, bushland, and woodland > 10 km². With these areas, I then randomly selected eighteen patches, six for each habitat type. Then I overlaid these eighteen areas with my transect design (Fig. 4.2). Previous Uganda Wildlife Authority (UWA) ranger patrols in the area searched for snares in averagely 100 m wide by 6 km long transects and so I wanted to maintain the transect width. I positioned one experienced observer at each central point of the short end of the transect so that they were 100 m apart (Fig. 4.2). The observers walked 3 km purposely looking for a snare (Fig. 4.2; grey arrow). Once a snare was found, the observers searched all nearby trees and bushes until no other snares could be found

before continuing the survey. I recorded all snares as '*count one*.' I doubled the number of observers in each transect to reduce the search area per person to 25 m wide and 3 km long and repeated the survey on the same day (Fig. 4.2; black arrows).

Figure 4.2. Sampling protocol used for determining snare detection probability in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. The grey arrow indicates one observer searching for snares in a transect of 100 m wide by 3 km long. The black arrows show two observers repeating the search by halving the transect size to 50 m wide by 3 km long.



At the same time, I intensified the search by checking around every tree with diameter at breast height (DBH) > 10 cm. I focused on trees > 10 cm DBH because these are stout enough to hold a large mammal once it is caught in a snare. I recorded all snares collected after the second search in the transect as *'count two'*.

Density survey

To conduct my snare density surveys, I overlaid a 6 X 6 km grid (resolution = 3600 ha) across my entire study area. Thus, this resolution grid cell could be surveyed in a single day. I used UWA ranger patrol data collected between June 2017 and May 2018 and my independent fieldwork in MFNP conducted between June 2016 and May 2018 to delineate grid cells where snares had been recovered (hence forth *snare-areas*) and those where no snares (*no-snare areas*) had been recovered in the previous five months of anti-snare patrol effort.

I randomly selected five grid cells in the *snare-areas* and five in the *no-snare areas* without replacing (Fig. 1; blue and black dotted squares). I then randomly selected five of the remaining grid cells regardless of the snare data I had at hand (Fig. 1; red dotted squares). I excluded from selection grid cells which overlay areas in which I had conducted the survey to estimate habitat detection probability. This was because I removed all the snares I encountered and including these areas could affect the density estimate. For logistical purposes, I did not consider grid cells that were > 20 km from the nearest road. I refer to these three areas (i.e. *snare* area, no-snare area, random) collectively as 'zones'. Then, I subdivided each of the 6 X 6 km grid cells into ten 600 m wide and 6 km long transects with one side of the short length towards the park border (see Wato et al., 2006). This was to enable us to model the effect of distance from villages on snare density and lethality. I randomly selected and surveyed three transects equal to 10.8 km² (30.0% of grid cell area). From June 2018 until September 2018, I surveyed these transects between 7 am and 7 pm. I summed up all the snares I found per transect. The survey to estimate snare density was conducted by three groups composed of six observers each with prior experience searching for snares in the area. Every six observers in a group was assigned to a transect such that every observer searched for snares only in a 100 m wide and 6

km long strip. Each group had three data collectors who were called by whistle. Uganda Wildlife Authority rangers were called to intervene and release all the living animals I found in snares. I sampled 45 transects, 15 in each of the three *zones*.

Lethality of wire snares

Finally, I measured the lethality of snares. For every snare found, I recorded environmental and anthropogenic parameters to determine which correlated with the various animals that I found dead in the snares. The environmental parameters included average grass height, anchor tree species and DBH, the proportion of open area within 25 m radius of the snare, average diameter of thickets within 25 m radius of the snare, and elevation above sea level, and the nearest distance to ranger post, road, and village. The anthropogenic parameters recorded included UTM coordinates, thickness (number of wires bound in the snare), noose (diameter of the snare loop), and how high off the ground the snare was anchored on the tree (tree drop), vertical drop (nearest distance between snare and the ground), species captured (i.e. found in the snare) including its age and sex, and if the snare had a charm, (i.e. a talisman tied to snare that the local populace believe brings luck in capturing wildlife). I also recorded the snare as '*escaped*' whenever there were signs that the snare had been triggered but ineffectual. I identified all anchor tree species using the *Field guide to common trees and shrubs of East Africa* (Dharani, 2011).

4.3.3 Data analysis

I assumed that no additional snare (s) were set during the survey period. Likewise, every observer, given their experience finding snares in MFNP, was assumed to have equal ability to detect snares (O'Kelly, Rowcliffe, Durant, & Milner-Gulland, 2017). I calculated the nearest distance of each snare from ranger posts, villages, roads, and rivers in QGIS (version 2.12.1). I analyzed all snare encounter data in R version 2.14.0 (Team, 2013).

To estimate detection probability, I assumed that I collected all the snares in the transect during the second search. Therefore, I summed up the snares collected during the first search (*count one*) and divided by the total number of snares (*count one* + *count two*) collected in the transect to give detection probability per transect. Then, I averaged transect detection probabilities by the number of transects per habitat type to get a habitat detection probability estimate. I ran a *Kruskal-Wallis* test to analyze the variation of snare detection probability between habitat types (Kruskal & Wallis, 1952).

I estimated snare density by analyzing snare count data excluding those collected during the snare detection probability survey. To do so, I summed the number of snares per transect and divided by the average habitat snare detection probability. Then I summed the estimated number of snares per transects and divided by the total area of the transects per zone and per habitat type.

I examined the descriptive statistics of the anthropogenic and environmental parameters to describe the lethality of snares. I used *Jenks natural breaks optimization* based on two categories to pool the snare noose width data into small and large snares (Jenks, 1967). I measured the relationship between thickness (number of wires in the snare) and noose width using *Spearman rank correlation* (Gould, Ryan, & Wong, 2016). This was based upon the assumption that the wider the noose, the higher the number of wires. I conducted a *chi-square*

test to examine the relationship between snare thickness and ability to capture (i.e. either animal found in snare or signs of animal escape) (Pearson, 1894).

I used *logistic regression* models composed of anthropogenic and environmental parameters to predict the probability that a wire snare would capture an animal. To do so, I pooled all snare data into a binary response variable (hereafter termed '*lethality*') based on whether a snare had *captured* an animal (1) or not (0; i.e., if a snare had no visual signs of animal disturbance). The independent anthropogenic parameters that I used to predict *lethality* included snare thickness, vertical drop, anchor height above ground, noose width, presence of charms, and nearest distance to village and road. The independent environmental parameters included; nearest distance to river, percentage of un-thicketed area, thicket diameter, and grass height. The distribution of *lethality* was highly skewed due to do the high number of zeroes.

4.4 Results

Via the snare detection probability surveys, I recovered 488 snares (Table 4.1). There was no statistically significant difference at the $\alpha < 0.05$ level between number of snares detected in each habitat type (Kruskal-Wallis test; H = 3.34, p-value = 0.19, N = 18). The detection probability of wire snares was 0.82 for the study area.

Table 4.1. Number and types of snares found in closed woodland, bushland, and open savanna grassland and the associated detection probabilities in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. The snares were found by first searching a 0.1 km wide and 3 km long transect to get 'count 1' snares and then repeating the search by halving the size of the transect to 0.05 X 3 km to get 'count 2.

	Transect	Count	Count			
Habitat	ID	one	two	Sum	Detectio	on Probability
					Transect	Habitat type
Closed woodland	1	48	12	60	0.80	
Closed woodland	2	5	0	5	1.00	
Closed woodland	3	30	13	43	0.70	0.91
Closed woodland	4	18	2	20	0.90	0.81
Closed woodland	5	5	3	8	0.63	
Closed woodland	6	81	14	95	0.85	
Bushland	7	47	8	55	0.85	
Bushland	8	24	3	27	0.89	
Bushland	9	26	0	26	1.00	
Bushland	10	31	0	31	1.00	0.86
Bushland	11	20	14	34	0.59	
Bushland	12	8	2	10	0.80	
	13			10	0.00	0.79
Open savanna grassland		9	1	10	0.90	

Table 4.1. (cont'd)

14	37	2	39	0.95	
15	2	0	2	1.00	
16	0	0	0	0.00	
17	12	0	12	1.00	
18	10	1	11	0.91	
	14 15 16 17 18	14 37 15 2 16 0 17 12 18 10	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	14 37 2 39 0.95 15 2 0 2 1.00 16 0 0 0 0.00 17 12 0 12 1.00 18 10 1 11 0.91

During the snare density survey, I detected and removed 674 snares. A plot of change in the lethality of snares with distance showed that they were more lethal nearer villages, roads, and river (Fig. 4.3). The snares were found mostly (91.6%) in the open savanna grassland habitats, 6.8% in bushland, and 1.8% in closed woodland (Table 4.2). I recovered 90.3% of these snares from *snare-areas*, 1.7% from *no-snare areas*, and 8.0% from the *randomly* generated areas. The results of the descriptive statistics of plausible parameters are presented in the Table 4.3 in the Appendix.



Figure 4.3. All effects graphs of individual logistic regression models for lethality including; elevation above sea level (panel a), distance to river (panel b), distance to road (panel c), and distance to village (panel d). The data were collected during snare surveys conducted in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda between June and September 2018.

Most (65.3%) of the snares I recovered had no visible signs of animal disturbance, 21.5% had animal carcasses, 8.8% had caught wildlife that were still alive, and 4.4% had been visibly triggered by wildlife. There were no snares made of any material apart from wire. Most (81.0%) of the snares were made of wire harvested from vehicle tires, 16.0% from motor brake cables, 2.0% from vehicle tow cables, and 1.0% from electrical wire. I found 544 snares that had charms with a significant relationship between presence of a charm and noose width, X^2 (1, N = 4) =

199.70, p < 0.05. Small snares (noose width < 100.10 cm) were more likely than large snares (noose width > 100.10 cm) to have charms.

Table 4.2. Snare densities in the three <i>zones</i> calculated from 162 km ² for each zone in Murchison
Falls National Park, Uganda. I calculated snare type per proportion of habitat sampled in open
savanna grassland (210. 24 km ²), bushland (203. 86 km ²), and closed woodland (72.90 km ²)

	Tire wire			Motor brake cable			
Zone / habitat	Estimated	Expected	No./ km2	Estimated	Expected	No. / km2	
Snare area	612	597.42	3.79	104	118.58	0.64	
No-snare area	52	50.90	0.32	9	10.10	0.05	
Random area	1	16.69	0.01	19	3.31	0.12	
Open savanna grassland	449	424.80	2.13	60	84.20	0.28	
Bushland	55	70.11	0.27	29	13.89	0.14	
Closed woodland	162	171.09	2.22	43	33.91	1.59	

The density of snares was highest $(4.58 / \text{km}^2)$ in the *snare-area*. The open savanna grassland habitat had the highest $(4.82 / \text{km}^2)$ snare density among the habitat types (Table 4.4). Snare density by type of material was significantly different between *zones*, X^2 (1, N = 4) = 91.34, p < 0.001, and between habitat types, X^2 (1, N = 4) = 30.93, p < 0.001. Most (63.4%) of the carcasses I found in the snares were visibly decomposed from the smell or maggots and 36.4% looked fresh with no stiffening of the animal's muscle fibers. I identified 58.6% of the species that were captured or escaped.

Table 4.4. The density of snares per square kilometer in the surveyed zone and habitat type in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda.

Zone / habitat	Detection probability	Estimated number	Density/km ²
Snare area	0.82	743	4.58
No-snare area	0.82	13	0.08
Random area	0.82	66	0.41
Open savanna grassland	0.79	781	4.82
Bushland	0.86	14	0.09
Closed woodland	0.81	56	0.34

Hartebeest (*Alcelaphus buselaphus*) were the most common wildlife species to be killed or captured in snares (Table 4.5). I found that the proportion of snares that had captured or in which an animal had escaped significantly differed by thickness, X^2 (1, N = 4) = 28.90, p <0.001. The fewer the number of wires used in the snare, the more likely it was to capture wildlife.

Table 4.5. Percentage of wildlife kind captured and escaped out of poacher-set snares in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. The numbers are percentages of the category. There were 180 identifiable animals from the survey.

Common name	Species	Captured (% total)	Vulnerability	
Hartebeest	Alcelaphus buselaphus	49.86	63%	
Ugandan kob	Kobus kob thomasi	89.01	100%	

Table 4.5. (cont'd)

Lion	Panthera leo	9.27	19%
Hyena	Crocuta crocuta	7.87	21%
Giraffe	Giraffa camelopardalis rothschildi	11.81	100%
Warthog	Phacochoerus africanus	26.66	100%
African buffalo	Syncerus caffer	5.51	63%

The majority (66.4%) of the snares were anchored on Borassus aethiopum, 10.5% on Acacia sieberiana, 9.9% were tied to Crateva adansonii, 6.2% on Balanites aegyptiaca and finally, 4.3% and 2.8% tied on *Combretum binderianum* and *Albizia coriaria* trees respectively. With the exception of Albizia coriaria, lethality data were homogenous across zones ($X^2 =$ 388.41, p = 0.05). There was a significant relationship between trees species and *lethality*, X^2 (1, N = 4) = 138.85, p < 0.001. Snares anchored on four tree species significantly 'captured' or 'escaped' more wildlife than would be expected (Acacia sieberiana, $X^2 = 32.25$, p < 0.05; Crateva adansonii, $X^2 = 1.05$, p < 0.05; Balanites aegyptiaca, $X^2 = 23.31$, p < 0.05; Combretum *binderianum*, $X^2 = 16.73$, p < 0.05). Snares anchored on *Borassus aethiopum* significantly 'captured' or 'escaped' less wildlife than would be expected ($X^2 = 26.72$, p < 0.05). I found significant evidence that I observed less than expected undisturbed (i.e., lethality = 0) snares anchored on all tree species except *Borassus aethiopum* ($X^2 = 10.36$, p < 0.05). I found evidence that snares anchored on; Acacia sieberiana ($X^2 = 12.50$, p < 0.05), Crateva adansonii ($X^2 = 0.41$, p < 0.05), Balanites aegyptiaca ($X^2 = 9.04$, p < 0.05), and Combretum binderianum ($X^2 = 6.49$, p< 0.05) had significantly fewer observations of undisturbed snare traps than expected. It was

evident from my analysis that 12 parameters (8 environmental and 4 anthropogenic) were significant predictors of *lethality* (Table 4.6).

Table 4.6. Logistic regression model output of significant predictors of the lethality of wire snares on sympatric guilds of carnivores and ungulates in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda.

Parameter	F-statistic	p-value	Estimate	S.E	t value	DF
Thickness (number of wires)	19.86 on 1	< 0.01	-0.07	0.02	-4.46	672.00
Vertical drop (cm)	2.041 on 1	< 0.01	0.26	0.06	4.14	672.00
Anchor height above ground (cm)	53.99 on 1	< 0.01	0.00	0.00	7.35	672.00
Tree DBH (cm)	30.65 on 1	< 0.01	0.00	0.00	-5.54	672.00
Presence of charms	5.36 on 1	0.02	-0.12	0.05	-2.32	542.00
% Un-thicketed area	21.49 on 1	< 0.01	0.01	0.00	4.64	672.00
Thicket diameter (m)	15.33 on 1	< 0.01	0.00	0.00	-3.92	672.00
Grass height (cm)	21.18 on 1	< 0.01	0.00	0.00	4.60	672.00
Elevation (m.asl)	38.76 on 1	< 0.01	-0.01	0.00	-6.23	672.00
Distance to river (m)	27.57 on 1	< 0.01	0.00	0.00	5.25	672.00
Distance to road (m)	85.32 on 1	<2e-16	0.00	0.00	-9.24	672.00
Distance to village (m)	17.54 on 1	< 0.01	0.16	0.05	3.45	672.00

4.5 Discussion

My study highlights the configurations of snares as a hunting tool and their effect on wildlife. I present a practical method for estimating the density of snares. I discovered that MFNP has one of the highest (4.58 /km²) density of illegal snares in the world. I could find only one other study

area, the Dzanga-Ndoki National Park in Central African Republic, that had a comparable density of 4.2 snare /km² (Noss, 1995). I found that even in areas where snares had not been recovered despite consistent effort in the last five months, the density of wires was at least 0.08 /km². Among the habitat types, grassland habitat had the highest density of snares (4.82 /km²). This is expected because snares are set purposely to catch animals. In MFNP, the target species are densely populated in the open savanna grassland habitat (Rwetsiba & Nuwamanya, 2010). I found that snares set in areas which had more open spaces, or few small thickets, or with trees with smaller DBH, or with grass height of about 30 cm were most lethal. Furthermore, snares that were set further away from the riverbanks or low elevation were more successful than those set close to the riverbank or high ground for the same reason given above (Figure 3). The habitat of MFNP is such that areas near the rivers are mostly thicketed which keeps out animals compared to the rest of the park (Rwetsiba & Nuwamanya, 2010). I infer that poachers are setting the snares in areas of high wildlife concentration to increase the success rate of the snare.

I found that most (63.4%) of the animals that got caught were never recovered. This can be attributed to the risk involved in setting a snare and long lag time before it captures an animal. To reduce the risk, some poachers might go out of the national park to avoid arrest. Poachers rely on memory to find snares with a likelihood that not all are recovered. Snares that are unrecovered continue. Snares may have been unrecovered because the locations were forgotten by the poachers, or because UWA rangers or the observers got there before the poachers could. However, given that the carcasses were mostly rotten, it is probably more likely that the snares had been forgotten by the poachers. Therefore, snaring is abnormally wasteful relative to other forms of hunting such as spearing or shooting. Noss (2008) found a 27.0% loss to scavengers and decomposers from hunting with snares in the Central African Republic. Additionally, the

majority (65.0%) of snares I found during the study were undisturbed (i.e. had no sign that an animal had triggered it and were still functional) but would remain functional for at least two years (Noss, 2008). Therefore, snaring in an area is akin to a creating a 'mine field' for animals that remains a threat until they are removed.

Murchison Falls National Park has more than 200 km of a tarmacked section of Africa's great north road encircling its eastern and northern borders (Fig. 4.1). Several towns along this road are unmarked stop points for truckers who discarded their worn off tires. I found that 81% of the wire snares were comprised of metal from radial vehicle tires. Thus, it is from this constant supply of disused tires that snares are predominantly made. I also found that vehicle tire wire snares were more lethal compared to other kinds of materials making them an effective tool for trapping animals. Additionally, the community around MFNP is one of the poorest in Uganda which lends credence to the idea that the widespread snare hunting evidenced from my study is being driven by poverty and a lack of alternative livelihoods (Okidi & McKay, 2012).

Human infrastructure including roads and distance to village were related with the density of snares and significantly predicted lethality. Areas closer to villages and roads had more snares. This same pattern was observed in Zambia and is indicative of the convenience and allocation of effort needed to set up a snare (Watson et al., 2013). Wire snare poaching is an activity that occurs on foot. Closer is more convenient and less costly in terms of effort but also less risky for the poacher. Snares provide poachers the ability to minimize the risk associated with the act of killing the animal and the chances of being caught in the illegal act (Moreto & Lemieux, 2015). However, I found that snares were more lethal when they were further away from villages and closer to the roads. This could mean that animals perceived villages as risky places and were more risk averse leading to fewer captures and escapes.

During the study, I witnessed a Ugandan kob (Kobus kob thomasi) walking along a game trail in an open savanna grassland and as it approached a snare with noose vertical drop near its eye level, the Ugandan kob paused right in front of the snare then jumped over it before running off the game trail into the open field (Mudumba field notes, 2018). I made a similar observation with a hartebeest in the bushland habitat type. I found that snare thickness, noose width, vertical drop, wire circumference, grass height, and anchor tree diameter at breast height significantly predicted lethality. Snares tied higher on the anchor tree, and those with the noose higher off the ground were more successful than those set closer to the ground (i.e., lethality increased with height above the ground). It is reasonable that in areas with high snare densities, animals could be able to associate snares with danger and avoid them especially if the snare is set in a configuration that is easily noticeable. If animals actively avoided snares, then snares created a landscape of fear similar to natural predator cues and impacted target species beyond maiming and killing (see Moll et al., 2017). Evidence of trap avoidance has been observed in several species including; beavers (Castor canadensis; McNew, Nielson, Bloomquist, & McNew Jr, 2007), the little brown bat (*myotis lucifugus*; Kunz & Anthony, 1977), kinkajou (*potos flavus*; Schipper, 2007). However, because of limited empirical evidence on this phenomena specifically describing animal-snare interaction, I recommend that this possibility be examined in future studies similar to those of their natural predators (Laundré, Hernández, & Altendorf, 2001; Lone et al., 2014; Gaynor, Brown, Middleton, Power, & Brashares, 2019).

Most (66.4%) of the snares were anchored on *Borassus aethiopum* trees. There was significant evidence that snares tied to *Acacia sieberiana, Crateva adansonii, Balanites aegyptiaca, Combretum binderianum* were comparatively more successful than expected. These species either provide shade or fruit which attract animals. The *Balanites aegyptiaca* tree has

branches that form a shade but also dangle and can conceal a wire snare (Fig. 4.4). This could be the reason snares anchored under its canopy were considerably more successful than those set in other trees such as *Borassus aethiopum*.

Although poachers significantly tied charms on snares to increase the chance capturing an animal, I could detect no clear pattern in these snares being more successful. In fact, I found moderate evidence that snares with charms were less successful in catching animals than those that did not have charms. However, I did find that the fewer the number of wires used in the snare (thickness), the more lethal the snare (Table 4.6). I suspect that this has to do with how easily collapsible a snare is given its thickness. Generally, wire snares with more than two wires (thicker) take more effort to collapse and hold in place compared to those with fewer wires (thinner). This attribute can permit an animal to escape. Moreover, thinner snares could be easier to conceal as opposed to thicker snares. My evidence supports the possibility that thinner snares are more effective because they easily collapse around the animal and are more difficult for the animal to see.







Figure 4.4. A hartebeest (*Alcelaphus buselaphus*) under a *Balanites aegyptiaca* tree shade directly adjacent to a wire snare (panel a) and another hartebeest with a wire snare around its neck after having broken the wire snare from its anchor (panel b) in Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda.

Wildlife snaring can have drastic effects on several species of conservation concern. In West Africa, subsistence poaching led to a decline in the local population of the African lion and giraffe to a level that necessitated a separate classification of these species (Henschel et al., 2010; Winter, Fennessy, & Janke, 2018). I identified seven wildlife species caught in snares during my study including the African lion and giraffe. The hartebeest was the species that was captured most often (49.9%). Compared to other large bodied mammals in the area such as African buffalo (*Syncerus caffer*) or giraffe, the hartebeest, weighing 110 kg on average, should make for a relatively easy field-butcher by a few experienced poachers who can carry all the carcass away quickly. However, it remains an area of future research if there is poacher preference (through the snare configuration) or species behavior that led to more capture of hartebeest in comparison to the other locally edible species including the Ugandan kob, warthog (*Phacochoerus africanus*), giraffe and African buffalo. However, it is more likely that lion and hyaena (*Crocuta crocuta*) are by-catch. This is because African lions and hyaenas occur at a low density inside MFNP (Omoya, Mudumba, Buckland, Mulondo, & Plumptre, 2014; Mudumba et al. In review). Moreover, hyaena, like the lion and leopard have local taboo that forbid their consumption making their carcasses less desirable (Pakwach village chief, per. comm). Therefore, it would be illogical to hunt African lions, hyaena, and leopards using wire snares. However, this is also an area that needs to be addressed more conclusively in future studies.

In conclusion, my methodology might be underestimating the number of species that get caught in snares. Rather, my results are representative of species that can be anchored once caught in a snare. For instance, I observed > 20 elephants with injuries (i.e., missing portion of a trunk) but did not find any elephant captured or escaped during the survey. Therefore, species such as elephant and hippopotamus (*Hippopotamus amphibious*), that are larger than an African buffalo, may not be detected because of their ability to break free once caught in a wire snare (Oneka, 1995; Mudumba & Jingo, 2015). I also suggest that there is a need for longitudinal comparative studies of variously snared individuals to determine the energy cost of a snare injury to animals. Finally, an area of need involves the interviewing of poachers to determine other parameters I could not measure such poacher effort and harvest rates.

Murchison Falls National Park is $> 3000 \text{ km}^2$ which necessitates a high cost of law enforcement for wildlife protection and ecotourism (Moreto, 2016; Plumptre, 2019). Disused vehicle tires provide an effective free material to make wire snares to a desperate populace living in the vicinity of the park. Given the scale and disconnect between the snare and the poacher, solely engaging in confrontational law enforcement or fortress conservation in MFNP is likely to

fail as a strategy against wildlife snaring. Rather, efforts should be made to find alternative uses of the raw material so that they are not capable of being used as snares. Concurrently, I recommend that urgent efforts should be made to search and remove wires snares from protected areas so as to decrease the negative effects of snares on wildlife.

4.6 Acknowledgements

I am grateful to P. Luhonda, P. Ariho and the Uganda Wildlife Rangers of MFNP who participated in data collection. This study was supported by WCN, WWF, The Rufford Foundation, AWF, and National Geographic Society.

CONCLUSION

My research examined several topics relevant for wildlife conservation in the 21st century. Particularly, I examined the interconnectedness of human population growth, energy development, human-wildlife coexistence, and wildlife population ecology. My dissertation was motivated by the current global trends including projected human population growth and how it might impact wildlife conservation. The results of my research are applicable to biodiverse-rich portions of the world that are at risk of human development. My methods could also be used to quantify the severity of subsistence poaching in other sites. This is relevant because subsistence poaching remains a significant conservation challenge in the 21st century.

In summary of the main findings, in Chapter One, I reviewed literature and categorized the of effects of oil extraction on wildlife. Broadly, the effects included: i) increased poaching, ii) curtailed space-use, iii) increased harassment, iv) risk of introduction of invasive species, v) contamination, and vi) heightened severity of impacts due to synergistic effects. Overall, I found that efforts to evaluate the consequences of oil extraction, particularly in peer-reviewed form, were limited. Research should be conducted pre-, during, and post-oil extraction to increase knowledge of effects of oil extraction on wildlife to enable more effective policy decisions. In Chapter Two, I studied human-wildlife co-existence and found that conflict was the most important factor determining local people's attitude towards poaching. Less than 20% of the local people had ever visited the park and there was limited flow of benefits for local communities from protected areas. My findings highlight the importance of providing remedies compatible with local livelihoods and conditions and could be used to improve wildlife management to address poaching. In Chapter Three, I predicted the African lion (Panthera leo) carrying capacity in Murchison Falls National Park (MFNP) from existing primary prey biomass.

I found that the extant African lion density was four times less than what the prey biomass inside the park could support. I compared the African lion density estimated from prey biomass to that estimated from direct counts and found that estimating lion density from indirect methods such as prey biomass can result in overestimation of existent populations. In Chapter Four, I described an approach for estimating the density, configuration and lethality of poacher-set snares and discussed their effects on wildlife inside MFNP. Murchison Falls National Park had the highest known density of wire snares in the world. I provide a litany of anthropogenic and environmental configurations that made snares more likely to catch an animal. The ability of snares to trap an animal were significantly predicted by snare thickness, noose width, vertical drop, wire circumference, grass height, and anchor tree diameter at breast height. Regulating the disposal of dis-used vehicle tires which provided the material for the wire snares was likely to reduce snare poaching inside the park. Additionally, providing alternative livelihoods to people involved in snare poaching would discourage the recruitment of locals in snare poaching. My method of surveying snares provides the opportunity to standardize temporal and spatial measurements of snare density and configuration as a first step to refine mitigation techniques.

Generally, my dissertation has explored a scope of challenges faced by wildlife from both small and large anthropogenic activities. I identified research gaps on effects of oil extraction on wildlife. For instance, there is a general lack of information about how large mammals are affected by oil extraction. This is particularly important because the world will depend on fossil fuels into the foreseeable future. Therefore, many biodiverse rich areas of the world remain vulnerable to exploration. My research was situated in a coupled human and natural system and adds to the growing body of knowledge that promotes human-wildlife co-existence. This is critical because the world is getting more densely populated and urbanized bringing more people

in proximity with wildlife. My comparative study estimating African lion population from direct and indirect methods highlights the shortfall of predicting predator densities from their prey biomass. Finally, my survey design for estimating snare density can be applied to conduct longitudinal studies to assess the performance of interventionist strategies within MFNP and in other regions of sub-Saharan Africa. APPENDIX
APPENDIX

Table 4.3. The minimum, median mean, and maximum measurements of parameters associated with all the snares encountered and removed from Murchison Falls National Park, Uganda. I present these measurements in centimeter (cm), meter (m), and meters above sea level (m.asl).

Measurement	Min	Median	Mean	Max
Thickness (number of wires)	1	4	3.44	8
Noose width (cm)	40.00	100.10	102.90	150.00
Vertical drop (cm)	0.00	41.41	42.08	96.00
Wire circumference (cm)	10.00	50.00	55.67	154.00
Grass height (cm)	0.00	30.00	32.02	120.00
Tree DBH (cm)	5.00	40.00	51.13	150.00
Anchor height above ground (cm)	0.00	36.50	52.33	191.00
% Un-thicketed area	20.00	93.00	87.38	98.00
Elevation (m.asl)	191.00	657.00	661.40	717.00
Thicket diameter (m)	0.00	5.00	16.90	200.00
Distance to river (m)	4.12	1755.00	2193.23	8134.72
Distance to village (m)	478.90	2400.00	2498.12	5263.64
Distance to road (m)	0.40	1643.47	2109.24	4767.94
Distance to ranger post (m)	76.72	2958.81	3400.34	7762.46

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- Becker, M., McRobb, R., Watson, F., Droge, E., Kanyembo, B., Murdoch, J., & Kakumbi, C. (2013). Evaluating wire-snare poaching trends and the impacts of by-catch on elephants and large carnivores. *Biological Conservation*, 158, 26–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2012.08.017
- Bouley, P., Poulos, M., Branco, R., & Carter, N. H. (2018). Post-war recovery of the African lion in response to large-scale ecosystem restoration. *Biological Conservation*, 227(September), 233–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2018.08.024
- Courchamp, F., Jaric, I., Albert, C., Meinard, Y., Ripple, W. J., & Chapron, G. (2018). The paradoxical extinction of the most charismatic animals. *PLoS Biology*, *16*(4), e2003997.
- Critchlow, R., Plumptre, A. J., Driciru, M., Rwetsiba, A., Stokes, E. J., Tumwesigye, C., ... Beale, C. M. (2015). Spatiotemporal trends of illegal activities from ranger-collected data in a Uandan national park. *Conservation Biology*, 29(5), 1458–1470.
- Dharani, N. (2011). *Field guide to common trees & shrubs of East Africa*. Penguin Random House South Africa.
- Duffy, R., St John, F. A. V., Büscher, B., & Brockington, D. (2016). Toward a new understanding of the links between poverty and illegal wildlife hunting. *Conservation Biology*, *30*(1), 14–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12622
- Eliason, S. L. (1999). The illegal taking of wildlife: Toward a theoretical understanding of poaching. *Human Dimensions of Wildlife*, 4(2), 27–39. https://doi.org/10.1080/10871209909359149
- Fitzgibbon, C. D., Mogaka, H., & Fanshawe, J. H. (1995). Subsistence hunting in Arabuko-Sokoke Forest, Kenya, and its effects on mammal populations. *Conservation Biology*, 9(5), 1116–1126.
- Gandiwa, E., Heitkönig, I. M. A., Lokhorst, A. M., Prins, H. H. T., & Leeuwis, C. (2013). Illegal hunting and law enforcement during a period of economic decline in Zimbabwe: A case study of northern Gonarezhou National Park and adjacent areas. *Journal for Nature Conservation*, 21(3), 133–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnc.2012.11.009
- Gaynor, K. M., Brown, J. S., Middleton, A. D., Power, M. E., & Brashares, J. S. (2019). Landscapes of fear: spatial patterns of risk perception and response. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*.

Gould, R. N., Ryan, C. N., & Wong, R. (2016). Essential Statistics. Pearson Higher Ed.

- Gray, T. N. E., Hughes, A. C., Laurance, W. F., Long, B., Lynam, A. J., O'Kelly, H., ... Wilkinson, N. M. (2018). The wildlife snaring crisis: an insidious and pervasive threat to biodiversity in Southeast Asia. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 27(4), 1031–1037. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-017-1450-5
- Hariohay, K. M., Ranke, P. S., Fyumagwa, R. D., Kideghesho, J. R., & Røskaft, E. (2019). Drivers of conservation crimes in the Rungwa-Kizigo-Muhesi Game Reserves, Central Tanzania. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 17, e00522.
- Harrison, M., Roe, D., Baker, J., Travers, H., Plumptre, A., & Rwetsiba, A. (2015). Wildlife crime: a review of the evidence on drivers and impacts in Uganda.
- Henschel, P., Azani, D., Burton, C., Malanda, G. U. Y., Saidu, Y., Sam, M., & Hunter, L. (2010). Lion status updates from five range countries in West and Central Africa. *CATnews*, 52, 34–39.
- Jenks, G. F. (1967). The data model concept in statistical mapping. *International Yearbook of Cartography*, 7, 186–190.
- Jones, K. R., Venter, O., Fuller, R. A., Allan, J. R., Maxwell, S. L., Negret, P. J., & Watson, J. E. M. (2018). One-third of global protected land is under intense human pressure. *Science*, 360(6390), 788–791.
- Knapp, E., Peace, N., & Bechtel, L. (2017). Poachers and poverty: Assessing objective and subjective measures of poverty among illegal hunters outside Ruaha National Park, Tanzania. *Conservation and Society*, 15(1), 24–32. https://doi.org/10.4103/0972-4923.201393
- Kruskal, W. H., & Wallis, W. A. (1952). Use of ranks in one-criterion variance analysis. *Journal* of the American Statistical Association, 47(260), 583–621.
- Kunz, T. H., & Anthony, E. L. P. (1977). On the efficiency of the Tuttle bat trap. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 58(3), 309–315.
- Laundré, J. W., Hernández, L., & Altendorf, K. B. (2001). Wolves, elk, and bison: reestablishing the" landscape of fear" in Yellowstone National Park, USA. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 79(8), 1401–1409.
- Lewis, D. M., & Phiri, A. (1998). Wildlife snaring An indicator of community response to a community-based conservation project. *Oryx*, *32*(2), 111–121. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3008.1998.d01-21.x
- Lindsey, P. A., Balme, G., Becker, M., Begg, C., Bento, C., Bocchino, C., ... Zisadza-Gandiwa,
 P. (2013). The bushmeat trade in African savannas: Impacts, drivers, and possible solutions.
 Biological Conservation, 160, 80–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2012.12.020

- Lone, K., Loe, L. E., Gobakken, T., Linnell, J. D. C., Odden, J., Remmen, J., & Mysterud, A. (2014). Living and dying in a multi-predator landscape of fear: roe deer are squeezed by contrasting pattern of predation risk imposed by lynx and humans. *Oikos*, 123(6), 641–651.
- McNew, L. B., Nielson, C. K., Bloomquist, C. K., & McNew Jr, L. B. (2007). Use of snares to live-capture beavers. Wildlife Research, 1(1), 106–111. Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/hwi/125/
- Milner-Gulland, E. J. (2018). Documenting and tackling the illegal wildlife trade: change and continuity over 40 years. *Oryx*, *52*(4), 597–598.
- Milner-Gulland, E. J., & Bennett, E. L. (2003). Wild meat: the bigger picture. *Trends in Ecology* & *Evolution*, *18*(7), 351–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(03)00123-X
- Moll, R. J., Redilla, K. M., Mudumba, T., Muneza, A. B., Gray, S. M., Abade, L., ... Montgomery, R. A. (2017). The many faces of fear: a synthesis of the methodological variation in characterizing predation risk. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 86(4), 749–765.
- Moreto, W. D. (2016). Occupational stress among law enforcement rangers: Insights from Uganda. *Oryx*, *50*(4), 646–654. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0030605315000356
- Moreto, W. D., & Lemieux, A. M. (2015). Poaching in Uganda: Perspectives of law enforcement rangers. *Deviant Behavior*, *36*(11), 853–873.
- Mudumba, T., Hayward, M. W., Jingo, S., Kasozi, H., Astaras, C., & Montgomery, R. A. (n.d.). Prey biomass is a poor predictor of African lion population size in the dynamic 21st century. *Ecological Applications*.
- Mudumba, T., & Jingo, S. (2015). *Murchison Falls National Park lions; population structure, ranging and key threats to their survival.* New York, USA.
- Musgrave, R. S., Parker, S., & Wolok, M. (1993). The status of poaching in the United States-are we protecting our wildlife? *Natural Resources Journal*, *33*(4), 977–1014.
- Nangendo, G., Stein, A., ter Steege, H., & Bongers, F. (2005). Changes in woody plant composition of three vegetation types exposed to a similar fire regime for over 46 years. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 217(2–3), 351–364.
- Noss, A. J. (1995). Duikers, cables, and nets: a cultural ecology of hunting in a central African forest. University of Florida Gainesville, Florida.
- Noss, A. J. (2008). The Impacts of Cable Snare Hunting on Wildlife Populations in the Forests of the Central African Republic. *Conservation Biology*, *12*(2), 390–398. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.1998.96027.x

O'Kelly, H. J., Rowcliffe, J. M., Durant, S., & Milner-Gulland, E. J. (2017). Experimental

estimation of snare detectability for robust threat monitoring. *Ecology and Evolution*, 8(3), 1778–1785. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.3655

- Okidi, J., & McKay, A. (2012). Poverty Dynamics in Uganda: 1992 to 2000. SSRN Electronic Journal, (27). https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1754443
- Omoya, E. O. O., Mudumba, T., Buckland, S. T. T., Mulondo, P., & Plumptre, A. J. (2014). Estimating population sizes of lions Panthera leo and spotted hyaenas Crocuta crocuta in Uganda's savannah parks, using lure count methods. *Oryx*, *48*(3), 394–401. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0030605313000112
- Oneka, M. (1995). *On Park Design*. Retrieved from https://library.wur.nl/WebQuery/wurpubs/fulltext/210496
- Pearson, K. (1894). Contributions to the mathematical theory of evolution. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. A*, *185*, 71–110.
- Plumptre, A. J. (2019). Law enforcement for wildlife conservation. *Artificial Intelligence and Conservation*, 17.
- Pratt, D. G., Macmillan, D. C., & Gordon, I. J. (2004). Local community attitudes to wildlife utilisation in the changing economic and social context of Mongolia. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, *13*(3), 591–613. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:BIOC.0000009492.56373.cc
- Rentsch, D., & Damon, A. (2013). Prices, poaching, and protein alternatives: An analysis of bushmeat consumption around Serengeti National Park, Tanzania. *Ecological Economics*, 91, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2013.03.021
- Ripple, W. J., Estes, J. A., Beschta, R. L., Wilmers, C. C., Ritchie, E. G., Hebblewhite, M., ... Nelson, M. P. (2014). Status and ecological effects of the world's largest carnivores. *Science*, 343(6167), 1241484.
- Ripple, W. J., Wolf, C., Newsome, T. M., Betts, M. G., Ceballos, G., Courchamp, F., ... Worm, B. (2019). Are we eating the world's megafauna to extinction? *Conservation Letters*, e12627.
- Rwetsiba, A., & Nuwamanya, E. (2010). Aerial surveys of Murchison Falls Protected Area, Uganda, March 2010. *Pachyderm*, 47(1), 118–123.
- Schipper, J. (2007). Camera-trap avoidance by Kinkajous Potos flavus: rethinking the "non-invasive" paradigm. *Small Carnivore Conservation*, *36*, 38–41.
- Soofi, M., Ghoddousi, A., Zeppenfeld, T., Shokri, S., Soufi, M., Egli, L., ... Ghadirian, T. (2019). Assessing the relationship between illegal hunting of ungulates, wild prey occurrence and livestock depredation rate by large carnivores. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 56(2), 365–374.

Team, R. C. (2013). R: A language and environment for statistical computing.

- Tumusiime, D. M., Eilu, G., Tweheyo, M., & Babweteera, F. (2010). Wildlife snaring in budongo forest reserve, Uganda. *Human Dimensions of Wildlife*, 15(2), 129–144. https://doi.org/10.1080/10871200903493899
- van Velden, J., Wilson, K., & Biggs, D. (2018). The evidence for the bushmeat crisis in African savannas: a systematic quantitative literature review. *Biological Conservation*, 221, 345–356.
- Wato, Y. A., Wahungu, G. M., & Okello, M. M. (2006). Correlates of wildlife snaring patterns in Tsavo West National Park, Kenya. *Biological Conservation*, 132(4), 500–509. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2006.05.010
- Watson, F., Becker, M. S., McRobb, R., & Kanyembo, B. (2013). Spatial patterns of wire-snare poaching: Implications for community conservation in buffer zones around National Parks. *Biological Conservation*, 168, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2013.09.003
- Wildlife Conservation Society. (2016). *Nationally threatened Species for Uganda*. Kampala, Uganda.
- Winter, S., Fennessy, J., & Janke, A. (2018). Limited introgression supports division of giraffe into four species. *Ecology and Evolution*, 8(20), 10156–10165.
- Wolf, C., & Ripple, W. J. (2016). Prey depletion as a threat to the world's large carnivores. *Royal Society Open Science*, *3*(8), 160252.